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COUR'T OF GENERAL SESSIONS OP THE 'PEACE 
Uty and County of New York, Part VI. 

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK Befove 

-against.- : HON.HOSEPE F.MULQUEEN,. 

D'AVID BLECHERMA N. Judge. 

New York, December -3 1917. 

The defendant is -indicted for criminally receiving 

stolen property. 

Indictment filed April 24, 1917. • 

APPEARANCES: 

For the People: ASSISTANT DISTRIpt AT'GRNEY EDER, ESQ. 

For defendant: ABRAHAM LEVY, B8Q. 

MR. LEVY: May I place upon the record my objection 

to proceeding with this trial at this time -upon 111, 

statement to the Court, which I am Willing to verify 

under oath, that I am informed Of the absence pf a wit,-

ness by the name of Frank Ritchie whose presence is 

necessary for the proper presentation of the defenee. 

Also because of the fact that I had,tindersto a frdm the 

District Attorney's office that the tatter &lad- be 

adjoUrned for a fe71 days  at  least two days, t.ca enable . 

.me to make proper.preparat104. I ath, kin this. stte. 

ment with all due resreet to the Cour and'because 



• 

•:believe that I, owe it to the'intereets Of mY client 

procure this 511.ort a4-3ournment in order -t 

present his defenses and I again Most respectfully-ask: 

your Honor to give me this adjournment and. I assure 

I will keep myself clear from any other engagements 

if you will give me until WednesdayMorning to proceed 

with this case. I think the interests of the defend...

ant ;quire it, and I beg to assure you, both pro 

ally add personally, that my :2eqUett IS based. upon 
- 

substance and is not whimsical.: 

willing to try the case. The eatergrportion of the 

Ian 

adjournments procured in this case were not procured 

2 by the defendant. My purpose in seeking this adJoarn-

'.ment is'not for'the Purpose of:delaying the trial 

.the case but only for the purppseof Properly presenting 

the interests of the defendant. ask Your Honor 

'reconsider your determinwbiort and please give me this 

short adjournment. aiare 1 will be ready Vledn.es-

day morning. 

THE 007T: This case has been.sigteen times on 

the calendar. It was on NoveMberlath„ -adJO:arned-at the 

request of the defendant, and on the 82nd.adjourned 

,at the request of the defendant on aol,olInt of engage-

ments, and it was set down-lby the Court for.today. 

The jury will 'be selected today,: and at the trequest 

„ 



of- both the People and. the defendant 

rtal until tomorrow,. I regard the number of aa,jour 

ments in-this case as, a public scandal. 

Iv. MT:- Ws respectfully accept, your Honor. 

.EtER: Your. Honor, I -am not -::ready,-: 

coed with this case. 'lam to try this ease, 

up the Police Department on Saturday and they informed, 

us that the police officer is away on his vacation 

and will not return Until late this- afternoon. We are 

ready .except for the police officer* 

THE COURT: Then get your jury and I will adjourn - 

until tomorrow. 

A jury is duly impanelled and sworn and affirmed. 

THE COURT: Mr. Levy, I will adjourn this case 

until tomorrow and give you a chance to produce any 

witnesses you may desire. I will give you every oppor-

tunity to present your defense, If you cannot get one 

of the witnesses until Wednesday; I will give you an 

opportunity to get him also. 

THE WIRT: Gentlemen of the jury, the Court -will 

excuse you. until tomorrow morning at half..past ten. 

Meanwhile it is your duty to refrain' from talking about 

this case with anyone That not only meens that you mus 

not talk about it with strangers 'but you must not dis-
. 

cuss it among yourselves. You must not mention it and 

u must not _eome tc flny conclusion about thi 



Until yo have heard everything hat is o be said: 

until the end of the 'case, and. after the CoUrt submits 

it to you and you retire., if it should reaoh that 

- Stage, that is the time to decide it and. not .before, 

And now you will please go until'halfpast ten: 

tomorrow morning. 

Trial adjourned until December 4, at 1030 A.M. 

_ 



PEOPLE Vs. BLE REDMAN. 

TRIAL CONTItUED. 

MR. 21.43g; opens to the jury. 

JOHN T.ROBERTS, of 36 Pearl Street, Hartfoi'd, 

December. 4, 1917. 
10:30 AA 

Connecticut-, a witness called on behalf of the 

being duly sworn testified as 'follows: 

110111130T BIAMINATION BY L. 4DER: 

Q Mr. Roberts, what is your business? 

Q And where is your place of business.? 

Street Hartford, Oonnectiont. 

Q Do you remember the 3rd day .of March, 19177'' 

remember being in the Hotel BeIMont. 

Did you occupy a room :there, jou and yonr wife. 

A We did, 

Q Her name is Mrs. Eliza P. Roberts? 

Q Do you remember retiring thht night? 

Q Did your wife have any jewelry at the time 

tired that night? A She did. 

Q Did you see where she placed it? 4. 1 saw her place 

a part of it on the table between the beds before we 'retired. 

Q What did tha,t jewelry consist of that she placed 

upon the table? A One bar pin; do you wish details? 

Q Yes, describe that bar-pin. 4. The bar Din contained 

re large 'stones in the center. ItWas oblon .in shape 

a d theln had one ray-1 of small diamonds- ly.nr.ound. 



Q Ha.Ve you. any photograph of 

Q Will you let me look at it? 

a paper). 

R. EDER: 

• ficatibn. 

Paper is mar 

ask t have this marked for identi,-

d People s Exhibit 1 for identification, 

You say it contal. d nine large diamonds 

. ter, of different weights? A Yes. 

Q And small diamonds all round? 

ed toward the center. 

Q Was there a watch? A Yes, there was a. diamond 

Watch containing some _325 small diamonds, made by Cartier & 

Company of this City. 

Q This bar-pin you speak of, a 
your wife? A I did. 

Q Where did. you purchase that? 

I think. 

Q What did you pay for it? A I do not recall exactly. 

IER. LEVY: I object to that answer. 

PAR. EDER: I withdraw the qu stion. 

BY THE COUP.T: 

Q When did you buy it? A I bought it, Judge', me me 

two or two and. a half years before it Vas stolen. 

.1M. EDER: I will have Ike je'weler hem on that -both! 

your Honor. 

Marcus & Compa:n.y, 



^ 

TIIE COURT 'What he paid for 

of value. 

A loan give you what the jeweler told me was the value of 

it directly after that pia was stolen. The jeweler has i 

on. his books. 

THE COTWT No, that vould be hearsay, but what you, 

paid for it would. be some evidence of value. You can 

refresh your recollection in any way you. please. 

Q Did you pay for it by check? A I think 'the check 

contained other items, and—T tried to find t but I could. not . 

find the original bill. 

• BY MR. EDER: 

Q Mr. lioberts, you closed the door that night? A Yes 'sir 

Q When yto got up in the morning_was the jewelry that 

was;placed there, was it on the table where was the nig 

—before? A No. 

q Have: you ever_seen it since? A 

MR. EDER: You.may 

CROSS X.I11.c.INTION BY MR. LEVY: 

Q As -1 understand these articles were laced on the 

table between the twin beds, is that the idea? A 'Yetis. 

Q Was there a lamp on' that tablo? No. 

'Q You usually have a lamp on a be Not in 
• 

the Hotel Belmont, not always. 

The purpose of my quest o is to ascettqin 



'whether during the -night you were disturbed a 

Not at all, 

Q You heard no One enter? A Not 

Q, Nor did you hear anyone go out?. 

Q Q So that you are not'in a position to teStify of your 

own knowledge as to the matte of the disappearance of those 

articles? Not in any way. 

MR. LBVY: That is all. 

D OMINIOK VI.TO (at present in the City Trisoa, 

previous address 1944 First Avenue), a witne$s called 

on behalf of the People, being duly sworn, teStifled 

as follows: 

DIRECT EZAZINATtON BY KR. EDER: 

Q Vito, how old are you? A Twenty...four* 

Q You are now serving 'a State's prison sentence• , 

you not? A Yes sir. 

Q When were you sentenced.to that State prison 

sentence. A I think it was in October, I am not sure* 

was sent away for a violation* 

Q For a violation of parole? A Ye s sir, 

recall the month. I think it was August 6th. 

Q You 
weres,ntenoV 

b his Honor Judge Eulqueen, 

Previous to that. 

Q You received a sentence from two tosix Years? 

Two and a half to- ten. 

Q For burglary? sir, for grand lnrcmiy. 



You are now 

lat ion of 

ervi g that sentence9 

YOn also pleaded guilty to grand, larceny in th 

1917, did you not? A. .*.es sir. 

Q „And you are awaiting sentence upon that charge? A 

Yes sir. 

You have been brought do Wu' here pursuant to -a wri 

Of habeas carpus to testify? A Yes. 

Q From Sing ping,State s prison? A.YeS 

q Nowwhere did you live in the south of March 

early part of "March, 1917? A In the liOtel 3.elmon 

Q' Do you remember the 3rd; day of Mardh-li. 1917?-

- Q Do you remember entering any rooms in the. hotel? 

A I do..' 

Q That were not yours', that We're not occupied by 

you. A Yes sir. 

Q Do you remember the number of the room? -4 No sir. 

Q What floor was it? A I think it was on the fifth 

floor. 

Q- Yth.at floor did you occupy? A Pn the .fourth floor. 

Q Vihen you entered that root was it 'odked dr aosed. 

A.JUst closed, but not locked.. 

.Did you ever see Mrs. Roberts? A 

BY 

.iihat time did you enter iv? Tdo 

pup Honor. . 



$1100•10401,074=.1, 

Q Do you se'  the watch, - a photogr.aph of the 7:a.toh. 

there; is that a photograp_h-of the watch you. tOok? 

it was something like it. 

After you took those two articles of jewelry, 

us just what you did zlith it. k I went to.my room. 

bed, 

.1) a yoU know whether it yvae in the. dayt ite or 

night time. It was in, the night time. but I cannot 

exactlY"place the hour. 

It was in the nighttime? 

BY 112. .3DR: 

Q After you entered that room what did you do. 

I seen the jewelry was .lying on the little bureau 'a 

t. 
o 

Q Di-d you ever see that. je elry beforeT Did you ever 

see anyone wearing that jetelty? A NO sir, Ido not recall. 

Q You saw the jewelry on the table and you took 

Yes sir. 

Q And you walked out? A And went to my room9 

ohat kind of jewelry did you take -what articles? 

It was a lady's bar-pin set with -diamonds and a lady's 

wrist watch set tith diamonds. 

Q I show you people's exhibit 1 for Identification and 

ask you whether this is a picture of the bar p n that 

you took there? A Yes sir, 

• t: And then what did you do? 

Q. 'Nell you got up in the mo in 
, 



-bat did yoq ao with the jewelry? 

: the morning, it -was around'about ten o'clock ela 

this mai:Os:store, where I sold it4 

BY .TEE COURT: 

Si Which man/1s store?. A his mat  (indicatin 

fondant). 

I Do you mean the defendant? Yes sir, thi6 man 

sitting there. 

BY MR. 3.113R: 

up 

I went 

Q Bad: you ever seen this defendant before that 

A A week previous'. to that. 

Q Under what c•ircumstances did you. see this defendant 

• a week'previous 

fellows. 

.Who were those two other fellelga? 

as one name; I do not recollect the othex 

.Q Vihere did you meet these two fellows? A 

venue..

Q Where did you meet them before?. A I met them in 

the Tombs, in 1913. 

Those two men that introduced. you: to thiS Man you 

to that? A "I w introduced by two other 

had met in the Tombs in the year 1913? ,A. 

After they took you to this defendant 

sir. 

rid introd.uce4 

you to Mm, tell us the entire conversation had. between you 

and thoez men and this defendant at that time. 

LNY: I think that ncomnro,ni, 



'this iS weak before unless it relates 

mants actions. 

ret.•3.313R: It does. 

THE WIRT:. I will allow it. 

143VY: liOcception, tf your- Honor please. 

A You mean when I was brought to this mans store? 

Q Yes, the first tithe. A. Why, .I went in there with 

those two fellows and they began to talk with this man afid 

after they had. privately :had. a conversation amongst _them-

selves, they turned to. ma this fellow by the name f Pranki 

and. Said, "If, _ in case, Sam" he pointed to this man, "this• 

than at any time brings any, stuff, take it,b.ff him,and. every-

thing is all right." 

BY MR. 11.31TY: 

Q Who said that? A This young ma by the .name -

Frank. 

BY MR: 'SDK:: 

Q Vht d.id this man say? A He said, 

He locked at me and he p-toduced his hand's, he shook harld.s, 

"I am glad. to- meet you,1' he .said. 

Q. Then you went away? A Then we walked -righ 

You said, "Sam" he is called. Sam? 

call this man 'Sam. 

Q They introduced him to you a SV. 

'They used, to anal 'IT. Stm", 

'mtri.o ten. outs . 

think that 
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TEM cam: Yes. 

Q Did they call him Sam? A. 

• You mean these two men you met in prison? 

Q Then, when was the next time you saw this 

•A About a week later. 

Q. Was that after you: had stolen that property• that 

you oust mentioned.? A Yee when went down there with 

the stuff. 

Q How many days after you had stolen those articleS 

did you go dOvn to see this defendant? A About a week. 

Q Row many days after you had stolen the articles? 

A It was, I think it was  a day or so later, or I rather 

say it was about a day later, 1 am not positive, 

Q And when you came into this •defendant s place 

business, - was it a place of business? A Ye-s. 

Q ihat kind of e place of business? A It is a small 

jewelry store. 

Q Did behave any articles of jewelry there iihen 

came ln? A Yee. 

Q Tell us the -articles, or, the contents of the store 

and. the fixtures, you. saw when you, came in. 

has there a lot of watches and pins and diamonds; •different 

other staff, everything, which I cannot' describe. 

• Q Did he have a safe? A. • I did ot ,secany 

the• display 2, the window. 

',Then yoncarne.in there 0 see hi 



•`,Z7.,“ 

those articles a day or so afterwards, 

sation you had with him. 

stolen artioles? 

the day I went there w ith, the 

Q Yes. A I went in there and showed -him them. 

said, "They are very 60a." 

Q What did you say? A I showed him the lady 

pin and the Lady's wrist-watch set with diamonds, Iasked 

him, "What is the valuation of the bar-pia?" He said it was 

worth between $500 and 600. I.said, ".Bow much would you 

give me?" He said, "The most I can gile you,is 43O0." So 

I said, "Can't you, make it more?" He said, "No". 

"all right". So then I showed him the watch? He looked at 

the watch and said it was a very prezius (precious) one. 

Q You mean precious? A Yes, presius (precious 

said, 'That is the valuation of it?" He wculd not give it 

to me. "Well," I said "how much would you give me for it?” 

He said, "The most I can give you is $70. Said, "Is that 

all?" He sqid, "That is al1.7 "Well, Iwill see you later. 

said to him. He said, "You better not oarry that stuff 

with you, is very dangerous." I said, "How do you knoW?" 

He said "I read it in the papers, that the stuff vs,e sto 

from a certain hotel." • He did not really Mention the hotelr.. 

but he 

fts or on the same day, '1 do not rec 

• stuff viae stolen from a hotel*. 

No dqirer." 

said he had read it a day previous to tha think 

11 whet he said,. th: 

I aid, "1 guess it is 

he said, "All  



with the intehtiOn of homing tts. stuff t a friend 

Q. Never mind that; you walked =V? A Yes. 

Q Then did yonrettrn to this defendant? 

yes sir. 

(I Did You have any further conversation with him the 

same day? A The same day, 

4 How long after your first conversation that d 

• 

A Well, this was about at ten o clock; I would not e*actly. 

take an oath for it; it was between ten and eleven, which 

was the first time I went there with the stuff, and then it 

was about an hour or so later which it makes it about half  -

past eleven or twelve o'clock. 

Q After you came back there what conversation d 

have with him? A I went back with the stuff to him and 

showed to him the stuff, and I .told him to give me $300 

for the bar-pin. 

What did he say? A He said, "All right". He 

turns around and he gave me $200. I said "What about the 

other $100?" "Well " He said, "I ain't go 

you come tomorrow and I will give it to you. 

YOth 

Did. you come in there alone the secOnd tiMe? 

so cod ent there with a friend. of mine* 

what is his name? A' Nicholas Ritchie. 

Do Jon know where Nicholas Ritchie tv• now? 

riot. 

did this d fe dan a: witl 
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Nicholas Ritchie when he saw him there? A He. :.kdm 

he said, Who is that man?" I.said, TtQ1, this i 

of mine.' He said, "4re you sure everything is all right?" 

I said, "Yes sir." He said, "Al1,right0". 

Then you say he gave you '200 and told you ' 

for the $100 the next day? A Yes, net: 

Q. Q What day was this? A 2hat he gave me the money? 

14 That you gave him the pin and that he gave you the 

money. A- It was on a Sunday. 

Q- Did-hc,.give you :a reason:for coming the next day? 

A He told me ho has not got the other 0,00, he has 

the bank to get it, 

C Did you meet.him that next day? 

Q. Did 'he give you the $100? A YAPS-, 

Q What difri he say? A He just gave- m 

asked me abcut the Ilatch. 

'hat did you say about the watch? A I told him 

he must ive me more, because the watch is more t1n.what 

he offered me. He said, 'To, I couldn't. give you more than 

that." 

Q Did ho say anything to you about what he'wo ld do 

with the watch if he got it from yoU? ,A' He said if he 

pu.rdhased the watch of  me he was to bide that watch a 

•a oerta P) co until he gets Some private customer or. 

rim bl sell it to them booms° tlyls st e iIs 



t valuable enough to sell that watch a 

said "they Want to make something on 

make something therefore I could not give 

than $70." 

4 Well, you did_net give him the -watch, did you? 

A Ns? :sir, not that. dray. 

Q. Did you ever see this defendant after that? 

think I saw him once-lar.twide. 

q What ard. you do with the watch? 

BY TH3 !7;OURT:. 

Q How long did you keep ; .have you 

'A No sir, your Honor, 

.BY MR.. :131)31R. 

cz What ai, qo oAth it? .A 1 kept it two .weeks. 

At the en& of the twc weeks I needed some money, and I seat 

_a friend of mine to give it to. him, Which had made a 

agreement with him that if, in case, 

MR. LEVY; I object to this, 

just state any convers tlon you had, qith the 

defendqnt ooncerninp the disnosition of that watch. 

(No response). 

BY TH. 1 COTMT: 

4 Do jou understand that ques on.? You s 

agv'ement The attorney objects to that a 

lust state the facts.' A Veil your hon 



You gave the w 

certain person. 

, 

atch to a third person? 

q 'hat was his name? 

Q To bring to this de 

that man. 

Q Had you talked with the 

A Previous to that, abouf the wa 

A Nicholas Ritchie. 

endant? A lies, to bring 

defendant about that? 

tah. 

Q Vihat had you said. tO the de fendant? A I said 

"If in case 1 could not come myself I would send this person 

which is near him, "over here". I said 

give him the (,)70?" He said, "All right', 

come yourself, or do nOt send any deteCtive 

"Would youmind t 

but make sure and 

'With it 

said, "No there is no danger, I will Send th P•man 

will come myself if I can." 

BY MR. EDER: 

Q Did you after that send this man Nich ther 

Q Did ffich come back with any money? 

Q How much? A $70. 

Q About how soon after that were you Placed under 

arrest? A L think it was about three weeks or more, 

f would not swaar to it. 

Q By the way, you continued to live in that hotel for 

how many days after? A Two or three days. 

Q And then you say in about two or three weeks you. 

were plaaed under arrest? Yes sir, more than two weeks. 

11 

C. 

sir. 



Q On the,210t of March, is that correct? 

the 20th or 21st of March, 1917,  I.am not sure. 

BY THB COURT_: 

Q Were you employed at the hotel? A Ao s 

living there 

Q Just a guest? A "Yes. 

BY MR. BEIER: 

You lived there for the purppse of s 

ER. laTTY: Well I object t that. 

MR. BDER : T withdraw that question. 

,After you were placed under ar est you had a 

sat ion with the dbtectives, is that co rec 

Q ith officer Daly? A Yes sir. 

Q And you also saw the house detective of 

Uo.tel, Mr. Dennison? Yes sir. 

Q After you had a talk with them did you see this 

defendant Blecherman? A Why, they brought me to the 

store then. 

BY THE COURT. 

Q You sa, him, did you not? A 

Q 'Ithere? A In his store. 

BY MR. BDBR: 

Q Did you take the detectives througt the 

nese? 

q see any one 0X t e detective 

the MeA1p4 a . 

taco f busi—

n? 



"N. 

tb„ e were two or thre,, of them there 

'-Did you .see anyone of them go in, 

went in there? A -les sir. 

Who went in there? A Joe Daly and another one.: 

(4 That house detective of the licAlpin, Dennison? 

A I would not say for sure, becauSe Iaonit recognize him, 

Q Do you remember detective Daly going ia before you? 

A Yes. 

Q How long had. he remained in there before he came cu 

A About ten or, fifteen minutes. 

Q And after that he came out? 

brought me in. 

• 
Q And he brought you in. there? . 

Q Then did you and the detectives have a conversation 

with this defendant? A Yes. 

•Q State what transpired at that time. 

there and I said, "Hello Sam." He looixsd a 

"It will be just as well for you to tell the truth an 

produce the stuff; the detedtives have go He looked 

at the in a very angry manner and he went directly to the 

safe. That is about all I remember, 

t=1 what did he get out of the safe? 

he produced some of the stolen goodS. . 

You saw him give something to 

A. Yes 



Q "Us there a:nything else sail •a4 the time? 

saidbotething about watch. 

hat was said about a watahT A I told this man 

to give up everything that I sold to him. 

Q What did he say? 'A ,He said, as far a I can re, 

member, he said he broke it up and Sold it, threw the jew. 

elry or gold t2art of it,. alftY, the.ash,can somewhere, 

could not very well recall i 

Q Did you ever have any further talk 

in his place. 

(1, Well, besides his place. A A th 

'.BY THE COURT: 

You mean police headquarters? 

_g 
Q Or detective headquarters? don't know. 

Which headquarters? A The headquarters, 1 call i 

BY MR. EDER: 

Q Police headquarters, was it? A Ye 

Down in Center Street? A Yee. 

Y,Ju were placed in different celle in that 

Yes, right in front of him. 

Q At the police court? 

Q dill you tell us the conversation you had ith him 

then? ! .Ihy, I asked that man, I said, "Listen, m, 

why don't you tell the truth and give thAt stuff up?" 

said "You stand a good chance of getting surpended sentence, 

*We 



The. judge -4211 be kind and leiiiønt iesi 

trouble enough myself without putting anybody else into 

trouble. 1, Then I said "Do you mean to say that you sold 

that stuff to somebody else and you don't care to '6-Erb them 

in trouble?" So he said., "I don't cares to discuss the matter 

with you." That was the end of it. 

That qas the last talk you had. with blip? 

IP. le TAP : You may examine , Mr. Levy. 

CROSS ,K1AMINATION BY I. LEVY: 

Q 'Whet is your right name? A Doui.rxtck Tito 

Q Where were. you: born? A. In Italy 

How old are 37,11? A Twenty,four 

1.10*- long have you be n in this country? 

will say about 13 or 14 years, Maybe more or legs, 

would not swear to it. 

Q So that you were aboUt eleven. yeart d when yob: 

came to this country? 

Did you go to school here? 'A, In. prison. 

A Something about that. 

Did. you ever go to a public school? 

• Jilow old ere you when you were first -E4' est cl., the 

first me? A First arrested? 

te,• 'yes. A. I do not recall. I 0 ot keeptrack.. 

Q Atout how old.. were you.? Don't .knovl •ihen vou were. 

first .cuble? • A I don't r ertb ct1y. 

:low long after vm cnme 

tr;uble t 

T• 



around. 1910. 

That is a.d.ifferenoe of about seven years 

A Well 1 guess so, about that. 

• You-pay you are how old now? 

Q When you came to this country 

A Twenty-four. 

didnTt you go to an 

Q Did you, go towork? A Io Sir. 

Viith whom aia you. live? A oousiri. 

Q What is his name? A Well,he went back 

His name is Joseph Vito. - 

Where did you live. A I went in Canada. 

Q Did you go to Canada alone"? No,-vith my cousin. 

How old were youthen? I I suppose ,1 was about 

eleven years old. 

How longdid- •'fu stay in Canada? A Ab At •five or 

six years. 

Q Did you go to schOol there? 11 

Q Did you work? A No sir. 

Q During those five or six years tha 

Canada, what did you do to make a-livi 

cousin wal;, 'supporting me. 

.1pas.he in business? A Why, no, 

a laborer 

And he suppored you for five 

Itat would bring you up. it'ab.1.)I 

old.? don remember, mistrIr 

6? 

you were in 

working as . 

sI.X Teal's? Yes. 



e you able to read and write? 

Where (5,14 you learn to read and -write? 

you give te any more definite answers as 

what your a go was 't hen you first werP-sent to prioSn? A I 

would. not like to make a mistake. 

Q- Do the best you can. I do not really remember* • 

Q Can't you give me about an ide  

about fourteen or .fifteen, I would not swea 

• Q 'hat was the first p-rtsonyou were 

was r'uebec somewhere. I was there only for a short 

I don't remember the name of it. It is a French name. 

Q Was it in Canada? A In Canada, 

Q Uhat were you sent to prison for in Canada? 

a fight with the kids. 

How long were you sentenced for 

to be there three months to three years I think 

my cousin took me out after two months* 

Q Was it a sort of a reformatory you were 1 

don't know what they call it. I could not hardly speak 

3ag1ish then. 

Q Did you get any instruction there at all 

to school there in that Canadian prison? No 

recall. 

How long were you in that on t):,:e 

g 
• ' rt time. 

-7!1.n yell were di umn 



went back tp my cousin  

dhen you say a short time, d.o you mean severa 

A It ay have been several months, maybe mkre, Lcoii1d. 

recall... 

Then you went to your cous'ints; how long was it before 
• • 

you were ..-Irrestecl again?, Why,. it it was (mite a lon time. 

Q About how long?* ".Six or seven years, more or 

less, I don't remember exactly. 

CI That does not ansWer me. I can 1t very well 

--recall. 

You were in prison in Canada for 

Then you were with your cousin in:Oan.l.da; 

was it before you were arrested. again? .Isn • 

question? A• Yes, but I cannot remember, 

to deceive myself an  tell lies. 

.Can't you say whether - you were out c,„1.1 yi?.ant13.: 

or a ye ir of• five years or ten years? I (ion' t remcm-

boar« 

Q Durinp that time • dirl you, work a . 

worked in P.. bicycle shop, 

Q 'There? A .In Montreal., 

Q And your cotsin still contitiv.e0 

Why I think if I remember V,le".1.I. 

brought one of his friends over alld 1 

BO*. 

Ca 14 r. n 



e rly.all .t1;70 th,lt you lived in Canada? 

not IP priPon, no, 

Q. How many-times were you in prison altogether 

Canada? A .Only this time, 

This once? A  

Q DO you remember the year that y 

States after you left Can A No si 40 not.' 

Q Can't you tell me how many yearsabo it was? A If  

can't remember, I could net tell you.. 

Q Can't you tell MB how many ye.rs at n from now, 

Deaember 1917, how long ago was it you came from Canada 

into this coun 

remember. 

About 1911 or 12 can't hardlY • 

Was years age or six yea 

years. ago? A1,out 1911 r 1912 

Q. Between five .and six years ago? 

Q Can you now say how old you were when yuni, came 

this countrcv from Canada? 4 1 gues0 T vas about 

or more.

you came here did you come alOna or -aith anyboay?• 

Iio sir, I came here alone. My cousin he gOt married and, 

they began to treat me badly and.I 1d not pare, though 

t- t o world aleir, learn something by-mySelf 

Then did you come directly to 3ew ark? sir. 

l‘!:to,e'did you come to live. n Seventa: v,nue. 



good. 

Viith whoM? A Idnt.remember. 

Q, Strangers? A She has a furnished room.. 

-You don t remember? A N 

Q Did you then speak Bnglish? A- A little, Oetty 

Q- Could you read .and write at that time? 

Q You could not read and write? A NO.. 

. :CI Did you go to work?Ies. 

Q. And where did you go to work when you. came here 

New 1-ork? A ,At the Hotel Alberti 

Q Or in what capacity of position? A. a bell-boy. 

Q The Hotel Albert is located where? A.Bleverith 

Street. 

Q You w 

short time. 

-e in the Hotel Albert ho 

Q What do you call a short time A Maybe a.feW mOtit./W! 

Q During that time did you steal anything while- yot: 

Were - there? A Aot while I was there. 

Did you steal- from guests while, you were .'w 

the Hotel Albert? A Not there, no sir. 

After leaving the hotel Albert where 

work? A It was at another hotel that I aou.iô. not very 

well remember it. 

You can't remember the nekt hotel you won 

No Si 

i-iork a 

you me-ai to tell me thst? r7,7 77°11 



perf 

rethember: 

.k How long did you work at the next hotel that you Want. 

to Work at? A About three or four months, about the 

same period. 

Q During that time did you steal any articles from 

any of the guests of .the hotel? A I think I'did, 

Q How many times had you been guilty of 'stealing from 

guests in that hotel where you were working? A once,. 

Qi The articles oonsisted'of whati! jewelry? A It was 

an overcoat, 

Q Were you arrested for that? A Yes,.-

Q, And you can't remember thehotel you were working.a. 

the time you were arrested- fOr:stealing, the  overcoat 

A Noe 

Q What -year would you 'say that-va 

was about 1912 or 1913. 

Is that the arrest which resulted in your being 

victed before Mr, justice_Mulqueen? A No sir. 

Q That was an entirely different one? 

Q: Were you indicted by.the Grand Jury I 

No sir,' 

Q Were you taken beforeftheCou t o 

A Special, yes sir, 

Q What 'happened to you then in the Court of 

Sessions'? A I got nine months there in the Den. 

$essionS? 



it 

................... 

Q Yo.u. served those nine monthS.in the -penitentiary? 

Seven months and twenty days. 

.Q • hat was after you were in this City for. a period f 

only a few months, isn't that so? A Yes sir, 

Q And after ser ving the period of time in the penitenti-

ary that you told me -o Ih 

again? A les sir. 

Q Where did you. go to work? 

George P. AnderOoft & Campany 

en you came out did you go to work 

wert to 

Q where it thAt? A He had an office at No. 

it was Madison Avenue. 

-Q What kind of business? A e is in theloachinist 

business, 

Q what position di 0 you have there? i. Vhy, I was only 

an errand boy, 

How long dic' you work for them? 

him about three or Tour months. 

Did you steal while you were with him? 

Q And where did you live at.V, that time? 

Newsboy's Home. 

think 

After being with him three or fou months did you 

get another position? A tee sir. 

And where was that? - A That is Prkvoriue, 58t1  

Street and Park kvenue. 

What, a hotel? A- Well, I thin it .is 

more like. 



4hat positiOn dI you have In that place? 

bell boy, running the elevator. 

Q lo yoU,:know the name of the hotel Or the apartmen 

A I think it is named Schuyler, no, I.d-orOt remember. 

Q Where is it, 58th Street and Park Avenue? A Yes, 

right at the corner. 

Q. Which corner? The south corder, the north corner, 

east or West corner?• - A I thidkit was the east, I.d 
kw 

remember. I ea nIt very well describe it,-where it 

How long did you work there? A Abo*,It six months 

or more. 

Q It is a sort of family hotel? 

well, I think it is. It is a kind of an apartment place. 

Q You worked six months or more there? -Yes.. 

Q Vihile you Here there daring those six months did you 

steal? A No sir. 

Q •Viere you arrested at all during that time 

q You lived straight then? A Yes Sir. 

Q Were you discharged from that pl)ace? A, I 

Q You left it? A I left it, 

Q Where did you go to work, if any place, 

A I went to work at the Schuller, 95rd Street* 

Q, Do yqu.mean the .Schuyler Arow? A I Schuyler Arms.:, 

q What position aia you have there? The Same. 

How long were youthere A A 17.pry. OhOrt period. 

How long? A About tWO_or three: month 
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Q Did you speal while you were there? 

Row manytimes did you steal while you were 

A Once, 

9 'llat did you steal there? . - A A small diamond rings 

'ahat did you do, break into the room?. 

q How did you get in? 

The people were out? 

It was open.. 

sire 

No 

And you found the jewelry where? A On the bureau,. 

Q Were you arrested for that? A. 11160 

Q.that year was -that in? I don't i.pmembert 

Q Can't you.. remember? Oan't you give me. n idea how 

many years ago it Was?, A .I don't temember, 1913. or 191, 

don't remember. 

Q Oan you tell me whether it wa“iVe years 

foUr years ago? A I could not very 7/4911:reoall 

Q You can't recall it? A . Yes. 

. Q .,HaVe-you- pot a good memory? -.A -Very poor f 

period.. 

Q kiht do you'mean; poOr for  a lonvperio0. A. 

ing., say, after a- y9ar or two like, I forget about it. 

Q How far tack,for instancelcan you remember details 

IL. of the rest of things? A L don't remember ahou.t six 

*months pr a year. 

Q Meaning that you cannot remember anything? 

hOt 
.can recall a little, but something von' important IIuld 

A 

not 



Q Can't you give me an idea to the best 

oollectionithat it was you stole from th 

A Why, I don't remember. 

Q D-O you remember the name of the person? 

Q Was that the case that brought you before Judge 

Mulqueen? A ft sir. 

Q Were you ildicted by the Grand Jur 

the siZuff was restored and everything. 

4 Were you arrested for it? A Yes sir. 

Q Were you. prosecuted? A o si•r. 

Q. You were not prosecuted? A No sir. 

0 you were let go? A les sir. 

Q. By the Judge? A' Yes. 

0 Which judge? A I don't remember. 

Which Court? A Special. 

Q The Court of Special Sessions? 

Special, I"don't remember. 

Q ighat name were you arrested under then? 

don't remember. 

Q You did not give the name of Dominick Vito at that 

time? A o sir. 

• Q You did not give the name of Do inick Vito *lhen 

you were sent to the penitentiary? 'les s 

Q At each place you went to work at, you 77e R.  

ferent name, is that right? Bot exact1y4 

Schuyler• Arms? 

.think it was 



, 

A Did' you gi7e a different name a: 

While 

different time  

on worked at different 'places? Why yes. 

Q ?or instance, give me the best recollection you 

have .as to the dam es you gave? A I could not very -well, 

because I picked. out any name that came along.. 

Q. 44 hat name did you giv e when you, when you 

at .the Schuyler Arms? A I don' t 

Q Do you remember which Court you 

sir. 

Was sentence suspended, is that what you me 

A fes sir. 

Q In the Court of Special Seasions? A I d -art know 

whether it was Special Sessions or the Magistrate' 

or any other place. 

Q then you were arraigned before his :Honor; udge 

1vCulqueen at the time you were convicted of grand la,rceny, 

did you tell his Honor, Judge Mulqueen, that 

that suspended sentence? 

I. DER: I object to that as immaterl 

KR. LEVY: It is as tO his credi‘iY. 

THE COURT: I will allow it. 

A I don't remember if Idid or no 

Q You were brought before the bar, befo,?e sentenbe 

• was imposed npon'you and you were regnired to iro your 

pedigree to the clerk or to the officer, sting or: many 

time you had beriii co vi tea beforet x en, er tIntc 

ere' arrested 

remember. 

were taken into? 



A I suppose they asked me, each time -.you are arrested, 

I supposee, 

Did.„,v&a,-tell him at that time of. the fact that 

been convicted-.under.another name in the Court of Special 

'Sessions and at that time had sentence:suspended.upon 'you? 

. A I told your Honor MnlqUeed that I wae arrested. before* 

Q You told him about the penitentiary* 4 1 donIt 

remember; - I know I.told everything to the police, but 

donit remember that, 

You were let go that time, 41-.-a-yclx_,go put and 

work? A- tee. 

here did you go to wpr then? 4C 1 think it wat 

, somewhere around 35th Street. 

Q 'At a hotel? .A Yea, some thoteli: - 

Q. that position did.you have there? - 

.41 Do you  know the -nape of that hotel?' 

Q Do you know how long you werked there? 

three months. 

Q Did you steal while you were there? A Ro •sir. 

Q Did you leave or iere you discharged. left the 

hotel myself. 

iliere did you go to? A I ,did not go no place 

etayed in New York. 

QI mean did you go to work after tbat? 

Q You did not work at all? „it Uo ø r. 

'owAld yati snrport 7ourteif? 
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friends -of mine began to tell me to turn different stuff - 

and then I began to steal through bad company. 

Q You began to steal. You stole how, pick pocketing? 

A No sir. 

Q Breaking into houses? A No sir. 

0, Sneaking into doors, second story work A 10 sir. 

Q What kind of stealing did. yOu do? A Hotels. 

Q

 

You simply made a specialty of stealing at hotels, 

is that what you mean? A I .o&t knoW what you call 

C4 I am asking you what kind of stealing did you do? 

A I don' t •know • what you mean how you call it. I srmply 

:said I stole in hotel's. 

Q Were you arrested, any during the 

stealing? A les sir. 

Q when was that? A t913*. 

Q Was that about the month of .SepteMbpr? A AboUt 

that, yes sir. 

that you were 

Ithat did you steal then that caused your. arrest? 

. Well, I think it was a -latch. 

Q. Do you remember stealing in 1913 from a woman in the 

V/aldorf-Astoria? Do you remember going to. the. Waldorf,Astot-

ia and stealing something there? A I1st 'what year? 

Q -In 1913? A .2.e8. 

Did you go as a guest to the.t hotel 

n.s._ a guest. 

Your practics vav to engage a oom 



A florreat 

And then When the opportunity presented 

you would go into the rooms of the. guests for 

cif stealing 1 that 'right?'. A les sir. 

Q Upon that oceasfon you did, that, didnit 

Waldorf.-.Astoria? • A Yeseir* 

Q Did you steal upon one' occasion a gold pencil and 

locket? A I don't remember what it was. 

Q In any event, upon that complaint which Was made 

against you and the arrest waP made at the hotel Waldorf-

Astoria  you were indicted by the Grand. Jury 4g4 convicted• 

Of grand larceny in the. first degree-? A 'fee eir. 

Q Is that right? A /es sir.. 

Q. And you were arraigned before his Honor, 

-MUlqueen? A Yee sir* 

Q You were sentenced to* not less than two years and 

:six months nor more than ten years in States .prison?. 

A Les. 

Q Did you Fro to States prison? A:Yee* 

.Eow long a time did you serve. YOu:we e to 

mi immt of WO years and six months? A Yee* 

Q what year it you were released from  tate 

prison? A Well, I think it was 1913* ' 

Oh no, A I mean 1917,1 beg your pardon.  -

You did not earn any time for good behavior? 

THE COURT: %mild not tlt the time. 
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other -fords, instead. of serving the minimum 

two years and. six months you served. approximately about 

four years in Sing Sing? A No sir. 

Q How long were you in Sing Sin ? A 

years and four months. 

.Q that was under the name of .Dominick 

correct? A. Yes. 

served. three 

Q Now Vito, besides stealing out of the Waldorf. 

Astoria Hotel, do you remember in' that same month -stealing 

a watch f the value of $425? From where? 

Q From a man at the knickerbocker Hotel? 

You went to the Knickerhook®r Hotel and enga, 

a room there is thit right? 1. Yes. 

O. You stole a watch 'there of the value of .425, didn 

you? k I. don't know. wbri. • the vo3nation' was, but.,! stole 

watch, I remember. - 

• And, you were arresteC, for that? A Yes. 

• Q, And you plead guilty to that? A Yee.. 

Q You plead. guilty to grand. larceny in the first:d.e-; 

greN in that case or in the second? A 'nit* i. ,wae. 

the first. 

Q You were indieted 'by the .rand Jury and th 

at that time? A I don't know what it was. 

Q Now besides that, do you remember you vem arrested... 

for stealing come other qrticles from som other P. 

.tho occupied a room at the r.readorf ,bout the aP,rris5 ,,prioti. of 



time!do you, remember that? A Well, 1 allege yes. 

(1,.There were three different pieas-and indictments. 

against you for three different offense at about 

,periodi_ohe from the BOtelL.Xinckerbocker arid two fr.= the 

Waldorf-Astoria? A I don't remember.. 

CI Three times you pled.guiltY to,grand 

A I could not have plead guilty to three times. 

Q There were three indictments against you and you 

were sentenced by Judge Mulqueeri upon one of those indict 

ments? A Yes. 

Is that the idea? Yes. 

That let you out from sing irig when? A 1916 

sometime. 

In the summer months, of‘cowseT 4, I don't ree, 

.member. 

Q VJasn't At in the summer youwere:teleased, 1916? 

No sir. 

• Q You could not have been released 14 the vlinter? 

A Yes sir. 

4 Between April and October 1916? A /es Sir. 

lhat is (lbout a year ago, is that correct? A Lo sir 

Q This is December, 1917, I am,' trying to find but vihe4 

you came out ofState's prison. A But I lot s'ouie time. 

,during that period which brought Me in Depoiber A917. _ 

q.D0 you mean they kept you 14 that prIson until . 

December? -A Yes. 
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December?• A 'December 

Q 1916, 7 this is 1917. That is about 'a year ago, 

is that tight? A Excuse me, I came out 1917, December 

out of State's prison. 

Q . What year is this? 1912t._ 

(1 This is the month ;of December. and today it only 

4th -of DeCember? A. .1916, yes. 

.Then :it is abott, a year ago?. es* 

Q qhen you came out of-Sing Sing did y(Y0,:.go to work .f 

any one? A Why yes. 

Who did you go to work for? A: fellow :by the 

name of A. S. 7er5sali,-. 
. 

.Q Whet kind of business? Aind of .furnishing place 

carpenter .fixing department, and BO f0.1"thit• . 

Q Did you hold that position before you were 

arrested? A I still continued working4here. 

Q But yo'. continued to steal, diet y 

youth's temptation. 

BY TH3 °CURT: 

Q Did you cteal in olace? 

BY M. LEVY: 

Q How many time during that time doyou say, 

you were again arrested in 1917, did you steal? 

not get you just. 

Hoyt many -times did yort ,lteal.dnriig that oeriod? 

-your honor. 

befo 

did. 
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k I remember, several. times. 

Do you know a young Woman by name of Dorothy Loveti? 

I have a friend., yes sir. 

BY THE GODI.RT: 

-Q Do you know who he meansby that? A, Yes. 

BY MR. LEVY:. .1 

•CI You livsd with -her, didn't you? 

MR. .EDR: I object to that. 

. THE COURT: I will allow it. 

A I stopped with' her. 

Didn't you live with her az man and. wife? 

with a little persuasioni 

BY THE COURT: 

Q Did. you or did. you not? Iles sir*, 

THE COURT: You may explain after, if you 

BY MR. L.:VY: 

• Q And while livthg. with her you took a room at. th.e 

Hotel Belmont, did. you? A tVhile liviiwith.h 

With her. 

Q Yes. A I was not living- with her them. 

Ville were you livinfz .vith then? A Individually, 

Have you Parted f'com 'her; d.id you separate from her?' 

Yes. 

Q tell, you went intc the Jotel lmont, didn't you? 

A Yes sir, 

• 

At* you enga.7ed. 9..-ropm the.re? •fi Ye • 



nd that was the time yd ntered the room of 

Mrs. and. Mr. Roberts, wasn't it and tble the Wrist—watch 

and the bar-in? A Yes sir. 

• Q Isthat right? A Yes sir, 

Q- YOUnied guilty to that Indictment,didnIt 

.A Yes sir. 

Q. You were indicted., ch*WA- vitb the crime of burglary 

in the second degree and grand larceny in the first dagred 

and receiving stolen goods, is that so? YoU.reMemher that  

indictment? A When was that? 

This last one I am ta:Iking about, at the Hotel Belmop 

the Roberts :things. -Mr. Murray was your lawyer, do you. 

remeMber? A Yes. 

Q James- 1) Murray, do you remember that? Yes Sit. 

Q Now then on the 24th of .ApriLla t you .pled_gUilty 

f grand larceny in the second degree, i.'that A YO: 

Before 1r. Justice Rosalsky?• 1..eS sir* 

And you were returned back to Stata"sprison? 

Q Because you violated your parole? Yes sir, 

Q You had been permitted to go at liberty before hs 

expiration of your original ten years that yoU:were sentenced 

for, is that right? Yes sir. 

C4 So that the centance on this indactment has been: 

postpOned until the further order of the aou,.. 

.1)ose 

Q V1e111. no t_ rm. !.lecIPIA'1,'4011ef* lrouP:'.1 choice, f'14'1, 

.1 



NR. .70BRt Obje tea tb 

• theobjection. 

THE COURT: What difference does it make whether 

he is a thief from choice OT nee seitYT'is there any 

• difference? 

12. LEVY: Sometim.es the law ts. extenuating. 

will withdraw 

THE COURT: If the objection is interposed I will 

im_stain :it as immaterial. 

• MR. _ LEVY: iell, I do not 

of much COnseguence. 

Q. Now, do you know a man 

lrank Rithhie? 

Yes A I do. 

You do know him? Yes. 

prEISS: 

Is he also know as RicholaE 7,Ut hie? 

He 'is the sameperson to whom Yon ,eferred to- as. 

Erg,cholas P.itchie? A Yes.. 

The one 71ho went '1:4it to the defendanb 

of business? A 'es. 

Q 'How lon have- you X q471. 

A Iihich one? 

• 1,011, are there two '-i.tchies?, 

Xfloholas itchie. 

Q Are they brothers? 

,itOhie and 

• • Stra , tI,11ting about. 



ao not xnon him v t 

Do yot knot .31h rr:hell.ved?"` do not. 

At the time you went ta.,the defendant's piece 

.business did you knoW where he live.? 

Ritchie, where he lived.: 

f,) ,lhere. 'did' 01:Cholas - :f1.t-016 livec 

--. Avenue. 

What  -Was the opior of the 

X.in&. of brown., 

as  n't it reddish? . 

,Ca

 

Sort of light raddiSh'...brova halt'? 

You say it 'irS brown,-.-,littht or 'ark?. 

ligit._-browas 

'Q. Now,. had. your altr 

mean? 

Q Has your hai:c always boon bla 

Faveyyou ever dyed your hair 

AI. knew Nicholas 

hair, dO you remember? 

Yes air: 

Q Did you dye your hair st about _the time you. 

committed that theft at the lIotel'Belmolat?: ,A Yea 4irO 

O. filat wac the oolo of your hair when -.11,stole Yrs,-

• Roberts' jewelry? A Pure red-4 

And how lon?. befor coim1ttiu. that offense was_ t. 

that you dyed your heir gime I „came out 

OcItels prison. 

atat was thc Ade pour hair? 
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wan to be identified by the police. 

Q Viaa it lOr• the purppee of USguisino yoUrselfs 

you. could coLmtt other 'crimes? A No sir, I Simply cdred 

for the color, that is all. 

Q How long did your ha.ir continue to be red, until: 

the time of your arre t? A Until the time I was ax..rfletods. 

Q When yOu went into Blecherman's place of businesS 

to sell that bar-pin what was the color of your, hair? Red 

Q .-iihen you went into B1echermans the first time who 

was with you? I qes alone. 

Yu did not kmow the m&r. at 1?:' You Mean when 

I went there with the stuff? 

No, the ft-rst time you ever methim? 

time- I ever went 1-)-67re with to -fe11oW6. 

A The s 

Give me the nameb of those two fellows. A 0..ne 

Frank. 'I cannot rect.aJ1 the otber. 

•• 

How lOnp had you known the. other 'fellow, whose. aaine 

you cannot recall? 14 Well,'T Just knew him down'rthe 

Tombs while I was awaiting trial in 1913.-  

Q aac he a thief? I do not know? 

Q -How ai)uut :Trank? Al thief? A I do t know. 

C Don't.you know Inhat Prenk's other name was? A no sir. 

H&J long had jciu known a1i Prank? - loew him 

here about a month while I 

.Q 'hero diOr jou. net. ,:)e e going 

the first  

golfing for trial? 

to defendants 

Third Altenue-



q'Yon had never one any busine,.a with that 

before? A No sir. 

Q Was his name Prank Ritchie? A No sir. 

Q Did you ever Five your name to this defendant? 

No sir. 

Q Did he ever ask you what your name was  A No 

O Did he ever ask you here you worked? A NO sir. 

Did you ever tell him where you worked? IL no sir. 

Q Did you ever tell him that you were in the jewelry 

business? A No sir. 

Q Vlore you introduced to him by some one? 

Frank _here, 1 don't know what his other name is, 

• Q; Frank Ritchie? A No Sir -

Q There are two brothers Ritchie? •A 

and Frank Ritchie. 

Q Now, wasn't the Frank that you were 

a brother of Nicholas? A No sir. 

Q Are you sure about that? A No sir. Frank Ritchie 

is the brother of Nicholas Ritchie but the man who intro-

duced me was not related to any of the other two, 

'A. By thls 

Vias Frank Ritchie in the place of business of this 

defendant with you at ny time atall? A Net !rank Ritchiej, 

no sir. 

'.4as 'Nicholas in there with ziYa? 

Bow many tineswc1 ola9 7Ff.itch1p in 

you? A One 
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.Q filen was that' A At the tiMe that I Went there 

Sell the stuff. 

Q The very first time you went 

is that right? A Yes sir. 

Q You don't know what has become of this 'Frank and the 

there' to. sell the 

other an who were-there with you? A I do not knoW, no sir. 

When you came into the place' of business of ,this 

defendant was there any person there;the first time you 

came to sell the stuff. I am talking about. A Only I went 

there alone. 

Q Did you go there alone to sell tae 

time? A Yes, the first time I did. 

Q Nobody there at all? A No, except a an 

Q -Did you see a woman there? .No :'r" 

Q Any opher people there?.A 

Q Any working men? A 'No sir. 

Q No one? A No sir. 

Q There is a counter there? A 'Yes. 

Q And a show cqse on it? A Yes. 

The man was behind the counter? A, YeSt 

And his place is behind the counter? it 

In other words, the place is fitted up as a jewelry 

store usnally is fitted up? 1 'Yes. 
4 

Q What day of the week vas it you went there the first 

to sell the stuff? A UW,Slan 

tuff the firs 

was cometim 



.46 

between .ten And half-past ten. 

When you went into the hotel Belmont apd 

room, did you take any baggage or luggage with y 

You did? A Yes sir. 

Q Do you recall to mind the name under ,which you 

tered there? A T. Bell. 

Vvhere was yourroom located? A. n the fourth floor. 

Q 1T4as your selecting the room odcupied by Mr. Roberts 

selected by accident or did you look around many different 

rooms in order to get"intu 

tried the room. 

Q You tried t1-1 door-6 of the different 

-uld not say different rooms. I happened t. try that one. 

Q The first one': NoV I tried one or two -before 

a room qhich was open, A 

Q You went up tbe next floor upon Which your room 

was not located? A Yes, 

Q You were on the fourth floor? IL Fifth floor. 

Was On the fourth floor and this Wa$ on the fifth -:floor.. 

Q That was. in te night time? 'A Ye04: 

04 And you went back toyoUr root.and in the :morning., 

you went out, That muet have been SPturday night When you 

Stole it. A 1,guess so. 

Did you .the nest morning to. the defeh:ant place? 

To' this man. 

he.net mc 1.1 n did von• p to this 



place, yes-on'ImO? A Y58 sir, 

Q The next kterning? A Yes, 

This was On Sunday morning?, A Yes sir, 

Q The stare was open? A YeS.sir. 

(1 And you had a -talk With him? A I had. a talk and 

showed the dtuff 

Q You had at that time a talk with Mm, th that 

„A Yes. _ 

:Q. "will you tell me, starting from the very beginning, 

and to the best of your recollection, what you said to him 

upon that occasion and what he said  

stand my question? A Yes sir. 

Now ans71er, please. A T. went An. there with. this.• -

stuff,: wlth this jewelry. 

Do you under-

• Q hat did you say? 1 said, "good morning, m 

He said, "Hello", He said, "What are yoil got," Have you 

got anything?" I said, "Yee, I just hap ened to -get 

stuff here," and I s'iowed it to him. He looked a 

said, "My, that is very prezius (precious), 

Q He used the word "Precious?" A Well 

Q You said "precious". A I don't remeMbe 

something similar. 

THE CCURT: fie eaid precious, 

A They were very good. 

• Q Did he say"very precious" or "precious"? - 

I dcfl'tkri 
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YOU -told. the District Attorney that he said they were 

very precious and You told me just now that he said. .they-
, 

were Very precious, A I mean prezins (precious), I Aon! 

know how to pronounce the name, I pronounce them preziva 

(precious): 

Q Did he say the word "precious"? A Yea sir. 

Q ihere can be no doubt of that in your mind? A- 'I 

'don't think so. 

Q He said "They are very precious"? Now go on and. 

tell me the rest of the conversation* a.id4 "Where 

did you. get them?" how I got them some p ace. id to him 

Iwould not tell him. So he looked at; them and after he look-

ed at them he said, "Yes, I heard about this." Isaid., 

"You did," He said, "Yes, all right.'! 

"Would you mind giving me the valuation of 

aid to him 

this bar-pin 

He looked at it and he said, "It is very good, the valuation 

is about between $500 and $600," said to him "How much 

will you pive me?" He said, "$300." So I said., "Don't you 

think it is worth more tban that?" He said, "Well, 

can't .give you any more than that." "Well," I:said, "All 

right." I .-,ut the bar-pin in my pocket and showed him the 

watch. He looked at the watch and he said, 'My, that too 

dear for my store, I can't sell that thing here* I said, 

He said, "It is a very precious one 

Q He said "precious" again?Yes sir. 

' Q Goon. Bo I turned ),-land X.said. Tiihat Is the 



alUa ion Of thls watch?" .He Would hbt give 4t 

-Said "How much will you give met" He said., "The most T 

can pay you is ..70.7, I slid., "Canit you tell what the 

valuation is?"' He said, "Well, I don!t know what is the 

real valuation of:it." 

P Did-he *use the word; -"valuation"? 

Sure about that? A ..Certainly. 

Then he said he could not tell you what thevaluation 

was. Op ahead. A Then I 'hurled around and I said, "You 

could not come too near a conclusion, to give Itte the Valu.. 
• 

Certa inly. 

ation?" He said., "No, 1 can't.". "The bast I can give you 

on that is 70." "Because," he s id, "if I but the watch 

off you," he said, "I have got to hide this watch for a 

certain length of time and until I can get some private 

customer to sell it to him, or to some big 4rm and natur-

ally they want to make something on it and I got to profit 

also, therefore, I c,uld not give you no more than 

I think later on if in case you bring any more 

will make it 7/hat is right." 

*Q. Now, all that was said upon the first vis t 

stOre on thatSunday morning? A Correct. 

Q That is correct, is .it? A Yes. 

Q Now, then,' ask you what time of the 

A In the morning about half-past ten.. 

Do you. remember what time it  was that you 

that morning? Jould not remember* 



q You -took breakfast at the 1t1 Belment? 

remember whether I did or not. 

Q Wu did not go with an empty stomach; you go 

• thing to eat? - A I don't remember having any bre4kfas 

I don't remember It. 

Did you go right straight up from the lintel Belmont 

to his place, or did you stop off at'any. place 

there? : A No sir. I went directly to bim 

Q It took you about how mamy minutes to 

could not say. 

Didyou go up on the Subway or o: the 

A I did on the subway.. 

Q Are you sure it was a subway? 

Q. As I understand, the Hotel Belmont 

the corner from the station at 42.nd Stree 

A  Yes. 

Q- And you took the *subway and. you  

station? A At 99th, 

Q At 99th Street and what avenue? 

on Third Avenue. 

Qm Are you sure you took the subway? 

C here did_ you take the elevated. train downtown? 

A I took it down 42nd. Street,  

Q on WITF evenue? A.•Thi Avenue. 
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.(1 And you got off at 99th Street? A :And Third• AVenue. 

Q You say it was about ten o'clock:when you got .therti?-

A .About ten or half-past ten. 

Not later? A Maybe a few minutes Over or les0. 

But it was around half-past ten o'clock in the miming? 

A It was around between ten and gleven. 

,yNowou remember what happened the night before; 

your going into the room of Mr. amd Mrs'Roberta', don't Yo 

A I don't remember -very well,. 

You don't remembeJ: oirig into. that place and steal-7 

ing? A Ye, b t don t remember everything that‘hap., . 

paned that night, but I remembe,r I went in there Stealing. 

Q Do you remember going .into that room at all? 

Certainly 'I do. 

a table 

Do-you remember taking up a watchnd bar-

between the. beds? A .Yes sir. 

Didyou wear sneakers that night? I don't remember.. 

C. Did you turn up any light? A six don t 

.remember -it. 

Q .Pid you light any match? A I:don't eme4lber 

!' Did you have a flashlight? A I don't reMeMber 

Q .ias the Vght bur4ing in that PPQ6OT out?:-' A I 

don't remember it. 

Q You did tell the jury that you saw .the 

watch lying (0 t th1e,dift yp.ft 

and the 

.never se n 
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I could. neVer have taken. it. 

' (7, How did you see by any light that was 1 

the door happened to be A.:;.1ittle Open there, 
, - 

flash light came in through the  door and. I seen 

Q You don't remember -whether yeu wore sneakers 

your feet that night? .A No 'sir. 

Were you fully dressed when you went in -there? 

A I don't. remember. 

Q Did you have your coat off? A 

Do you remember whet time it was? o. 

Q Do you know whe tiler It vas past midnight or no 

I do not. 

Q You knew where you had beenthat night., that Satur-

day night, didn't yoU. 'A At that tithe,. suppoee. 

Q Don't you now remember what en had dOne, .ow you had 

s,ent the evening? - No Sir. 

Q Do you remember what time you. ttrned 

. A I do not, 

Q Was it near midnight or after midnight? A I d• 
. 4 , 

recall. 

it was not early in he evening, 

remember it. 

Q Can you say that It was near 0 

morning? A 4 0.ould not sa 

41. 
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LEVY: May I just for a moment, with your Honor 

permission recall Mr itoberts for -one 'question? It will 

help me along with my examination. 

;.v.HE COURT: „ Yes you may. 

(At this point 'Mr. Roberts recalled and. stands at 

the bar.) 

Litt. L.SvY: I want4o ask Mr. ROberts what time 

he and. mrs. Roberts retired. that night. 

110.13BRTS: Between ten: and. eleven, I Should say. 

MR. 16VY: Nearer eleven or nearer. ten? 

Mh. ROBERTS: Well, about eleven o'clock. 

MR. LEVY: And you arose next morning- at *hat time? 

Litt. ii.O.BERTS: About nine o'clock. 

lzvY: Thank you,  that is all. 

'DOMINICK VITO, recalled to the stand, testified: 

BY Mh. LEVY: 

Q Now, you have told. his Honor and. the jury that .you 

were at the defendant's place of business about 10 or 10.30 

the following morning, and, that this defendant told sr on ihst 

he had read. about this stuff having been stolen- from a hotel. 

Now, was that true? -11 So he said.. 

Q Now, you walked away then from that place and wh.e re did. 

you go to? 

THE 00 U.KT: What place? 

MR • LEVY Prom the defendant s plac 
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Q Where did you go to? A .I walked. &Own. Third Avenue. 

Q How far down? 4 I could not very well remember it., 

Q How long were you gone from his place of business be. 

fore you returned to it again? About an hour. 

Q ViThat did you do within that hour? A I took a walk 

to see if .i. could find. this friend of mine. 

Q What was his name? A Nichols s Ritchie . 

Q You knew where he lived? A Well, I suppose 

Q Dil you go to his house? sa I did not. 

Q Why didn't you go to his house? A Because I knew 

would not find him there at that hour* 

How did. you know that? A Because he would never be 

in at that hour -of the day. 

Where did. you expect to find him? A I did not expe 

him no place, but I thought by walking down, I might 

around Third. Avenue. 
• 

Q You thought by, chance you might see him On the street? 

.4 By accident. 

Q You depended. on accident to find him? A A lot o 

happens accidentally. 

Q How far did. you walk down Third Avenue?n. I, could n 

say. 

. Give me an idea? A I could not say. - 

Q Can you say whether you walked. a block or tWentY•blocks 

or fifty blocks? A I would not like to deeeive' myself* 

Q What? A To deceive myself.: I could, not ot very well say 
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whether one block or two blocks or:ten blockE;„ only 

for a walk. 

Q, You told his Honor and the jury that you Were gone an 

hour.. I am trying to „find out where you spent that hour? - A 

went down Thiid Avenue. 

• 
q How far down Third Avenue did you go? A Alone; Third 

Avenue. 

Q Up or dawn? 4 Up. 

Q To whet street? 4 I could not very well remember it. 

Can't you give me any idea at all as to Where you went'? 

A Well, no, I could not, I went along Third Avenue but I can't 

recall how far and where I went. 

Q Did you meet anyone whom you knew? Yes I did. 

Q Who? A Nichols s Rit chie . 

Q Where did you meet him? A Along Third AvenUe. 

Q Whereabouts? A I don't remember it. 

.Q How far away from 100th Street were the defendant's 

places? A could not take oath for it, 

Q Was it 125th street? 4 I don't remember 

Q 135th street? 4 I would net say. 

Q Was it on the street you met him? A Yes sir. 

Q On a corner? A I don't remember. 

Q Was he alone? A Yes sir. 

Q Did you meet any other person whom you knew? A 

particular hour. 

Q

 

Are lou able to tell me the kind of weather .it we 

I. 



-morning? A No sir' 

Q  Wee it, a elear.day? %A I can't remember it. 

Q Was the sun shining? A I don't remember it 

Q

 

Was it raining or snowing? A I could not give 

definite information. 

Was it cold or warm? A, I don't remember it. 

gir Did you have an avereost.onl A I don't remember if I. 

did or'not. 

Q Well, you met Nicholas Ritchie on? A I don't remember 

it. 

Q Did you talk: with Ritchie? A Yes sir. 

Q Where? 4 Just to this manTs store. 

Q Row many blocks did you walk with him? A 

member it. 

Q Did you walk dawn or. up? A Dawn. 

Q Did you turn into Second Avenue? A Yes sir. 

On what street? A I don't remember it. 

4 was it 101st Street or 100th Street'? A. I .don't remember it. 

Q Can you give me any idea as to the 'street .where yoirturn. 

ed into Second Avenue? 4I osnTt. 

Q Whet time did you say it Was you got to this defendant's 

place of business that morning? ,k The first time? 

Q She second time? A Between eleven and 

Q Nearer twelve, would yan Bey? A Well, would. nct Bay. 

It was in that period. 

4 
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he alone* the defendant? A Yes sir,. 

Q No perion in the store at all? A Not at that particu..* 

lar time. 

Q What part of the store was he in? A In the back, fix-

ing some watches near the safe. 

Is there a table there, a working table? A Yes sir* 

@ Was he working there? A He was fixing something behind 

there. 

Was he working qt the working table? A He vras fixing 

something; I don't 1t:now what he was doing. 

(c1 Was he seated at the table? 14 No, he was stanclin 

Qi Was the safe open? A -I don't remember it. -

(1 Where did. you go, in front of the counter or behind the 

counter? 1 went in the front of it. 

Q Where did. Ritchie go? A He. stood. -near tb.e door. 

This man was Nicholas _Ritchie?. A Nicholas 

Is he an Italian? A 1- guess so. 

Qs Now, the second. time you came in and. you _stood in, front 

of the counter, you had, another talk with the -defendant. Who 

did. the talking; you or Ritchie? A I dii3.• 

Did. Ritchie take any part in that talk? A No sir,f 

Oh, by the way, when did you last see Ritchie the last 

time? rrom then? 

Q Yes, from then? A Why„ we walked out from there to.-

gether. 

(4. No, since that time. When wis the last time you, savr .him. 
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That was away back in March, 1917 and this is December* 

have you seen him since? A Why, yes. 

4( When was the last time you saw him? 4 125th 

Q When? A It was not very long from then, I do not 

recall, but I remember seeing him on 125th Street; 

How long after the time you claim to have sold these 

articles to the defendant? A I don't really recall* 

41 Was it a week or two weeks? A I don .t know; I don 

remember. 

4 By the way, did. you split the money that you received 

upon the sale of these articles, with Ritchie? A I did not, 

(4 Did you give him any money at all? A No sirs 

•4 None at all? A Only just for a meal0 He said he 

wants something for a meal and. I gave it, but not with the in-

- tention of splitting. anything* 

But before that time you had. done business with hi 

A Wha t kind of busine as could I do with him? 

Q• In the dealing or selling of stolen goods? A N 

Q Never been associated with him in any ()rime? A No sir. 

Q Now, I want you to repeat as accurately as -you can, 

pleases everything that was said between you and the defendant 

upon the occasion of your. second. visit to his store? A Why, 

I went in there with this mans, this friend of mine and I said, 

"You stand. near that door". 

You said that to Ritchie? 4 T Ritchie‘ said- ell 

p. 
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Q' The -distance from where the defendant was and where 

Ritchie stood near the door was about her far? A. I could  

say. • 

59 

Q, can't you give me an idea as to the number of feet from 

where you are sitting now? A I guess from here to that bar, 

suppose (indicating railing). 

4 It is a deep store, that store, isn't it? A It is 

not very deep; it is not any further than from here to that 

(indicating). 

ME. LEVY: How much is that, would you say 20 feet? 

MR. EIDER: 20 or 25 feet. 

Q Now, he stood at the door. Go ahead and tell US what 

was saidT A He went back near the safe: hatT  man asked 1114 

who was that. "Oh," I said, "that is a friend of mine 

"Theresis no'danger, is there?" nfoi .that is al 

tight". 

Q Did he use the word "danger"? A Certainly, 

Qi Go on. A "Now", he. said, -"are you going to give .me.. 

. that bar pin and that wateh?" I said "Give me :ON ,for the 

pin, and the watch, Unless you give me' more., I Can't 10 it go". 

• So he said, "All right, I only got. $200"„ he said* can give 

'you $200 and the other 1010Q", he said, "come in tomortow atd 

Will give it to you", I said, "All. rightli* He opened the safe 

and 'produced $206, -telling me to come back the next day. 

• (I Did: he fix tt,tith0 for you to come back? A Well,  it was 

,

 

about ten or eleven, he .said 



t8 

$1, 

Between ten and eleven? A Yes. 

q Now, he opened the safe, do you say'? A Yes. 

‘,4

 

Can you tell me Whether that was a combination safei 

could not very well describe. it. 

Q Or a key safe? A I could not very Amll 'describe i 

q Did you see him open the safe? A Yes sir. 

Q Did you see from what pert of the safe he took the 

money? A No sir. 

q Did you see whether he-took the money from a drawer? 

Did he opea.the drawer in his safe? A Bo sir. 

Q You were close to'him? A Yes, but I don t look. 

You were right next to him?- A Yes, but Was not 

looking at him, 'what he was doing. 

Where were you looking? A I was standing this way 

dicating). 

Q Standing with your elbow resting on what? 

arm this way (indicating). 

itesting on what? A On a table there. 

On the table? A The bureau,- whatever bt is. 

Q, Was it a counter? A It looked like a counter* 

Q You knows counter when you see one? A I 4/net kn 

What he had. You can place a box, and it looks like a counter 

too. 

Q Wasithere a showcase -on it? .A 'don  knee; .1 doWt 

remember Whether it was Or not. 

Q ?Jai there anything an to of the punter? A t was a 
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paper, some old paper* 

Q Lying on, it? A On top of it, 

Q How high would you say that paper was? Well, 

don't know. 

q Or counter; whatever you want to call it; haw high 

was it? A I could not very well say what is the height of it. 

q You see this table here in -front of the jury, doil4t 

you? A les. 

q Was it higher than the t? A I suppose so. 

q How much higher? A I could not say. 

q A foot higher? A I could not say. 

q An inch higher? 4 I could not say. 

q Do you know whether it was higher or not? A 

61 

4 Do you know 'whether it was higher? A Yes; it WliEl higher. 

How much higher? A I don't knai. 

You stood up by it and leaned your elbow upon it'? A Yes. 

Q Stand up now and illustrate that? 

(Witness steps down and rests his left elbow on the  

table and his hand to the left side of his faee4 

Q You were dawn upon it? A Yes. 

Q Yam were dawn upon it this way (indicating)? A Yes, 

this way (indicating putting left elbow on table and. resting 

his head in his left hand)* 

q In which direction was your face? 1n, which.dirction 

' 

were.yon facing? A To my right.. 
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Looking out of the door? A No, just some-picture 

on the wall or something. 

Q Of course you remember the bills or the gold thg-t he 

gave you upon that occasion'i don't you? A 1 don't knaW• 

Q. Did he give you gold? A No sir, he gave me paper . 

money. 
4.• 

- 
4 Did he give you silver? A Paper money. 

Q Whet were the denominations of the bills to the best 

your recollection? A i don't know. 

4. Was it 010 bills? A i don t remember. 

Q One dollar bills? A i could not say. 

Q. can't you tail this jury something with regard to your 

recollection as to whether the bills were small tills or large 

bills? A I could not say. 

Q 020 bills or 00 bills or §100 bills? 

Q YOU don't know? A Boo 

Q Was it 0100 bills? A I know there was 0200, but 1 

could not say whether they were all two dollars or five dollars 

or 010 or 020 bills. 

q Can't you say whether it was hundred, fifty or twenty 

dollar bills? A No sir, i could not say. 

4  Did they make a big roll or a little ral 

remember which. 

Now, you took the money? A 1 di 

And you put it in your pocket and ou won 
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store am I right? A He asked me for the watch again. 

said, "Unless you give me more, I would not give it to you 

He said, "You better not carry it with you because there 

• danger". I said, "How do you know? He said, If you get 

caught with that watch then the detectives will want to know 

where is the pin.4. I said, "It is no danger". He said "All 

right". $o I said, "Listen, Sam", I said, "at any time that I 

need the money I will come over and give you the watch 

not just now, rurthermore", I said, "if in case I could not 

come I will send this friend of mine," which was standing near 

the door. He said, "Is thet safe"; I said, "Yes, that is all 

• right", So he said, 'All right, make sure, and don't send any 

detective here instead of yout friend". 

but 

• 
Q Send what,? A A detective instead of your friend.. 

4 Did be use the expression, "in case you get caught"? 

A growl he said, "Be sure and not send any detectives". 

on. A "Instead of your friend". I said no. He said, 

right", and we walked out. 

4 I want you to look at thie jury and tell the jury 

whether you speak Yiddish? A What is that? 

Q Do you 'speak Yiddish? A I do not. 

4 Do you understand it? "A .N0 sir, 

Q What language did this defendant speak to you? 

English language. 

Q Clearly? A NO sir. 

••• 
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Q Not clear? A No sir. 

Q Did he speak a broken English? " Yes sir. 

4 It was hard to understand him 'wasn't it? A, Welly 

don't know. I guess anybody that can pay attention to the 

questions can understand him. 

• 4 Re speaks a broken English, doesn'tjle? A You can 

understand him. 

Q Did he speak a troken Isnglish? A Yes sir. 

Q. Did you have any, trouble in understanding what he 

A No sir. 

Q You say he used the word "precious" to 'you?. A Well, 

he maybe did not pronounoe it the same but I know what ,he 

meant. 

Will yam try and. imitate, if you. cant as near as you 

can, the manner of his pronunciation of the word "precious"? 

MR. EDER: I object to that if your Honor please. 
• 

'ME GOUAT: I will allow it. 

A He said something like "presious" or "prezo0" 

Q What? A Something like "prezious". (precious.) 

Q Do yourecollect whether the man ititchie went with you 

any plaoe from that store? A' I don't remember it 

• Don't you remember where you went to? -I could not 

very well remember it. 

Q° Did he go with you? A We walked out together. 

Q I know that, but did he go anywhere with you? A I think 
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he did but I can't very well remember it. 

Ct Do you know where you went .to? 

show somewhere. 

A Well, 

Q There can be no doubt of that in your mind? A No 

Q, what kind. a a show? It was over 125th Street. 

Q A moving picture? A No, vaudeville. 

• Q A number of acts? A Well, I cannot Say. 

Q Whereabouts in 125th Street? A It was near around. 

•Seventh Avenue somewhere. 
• 

No, according to yOur story srou told to this jury you 

were in to the man's place of business between eleven and. 

twelve o'clock on a Sunday morning. You were there and.ha.  

this conversation which lasted a few minutes, and. you then 

went to a vaudeville show. Do you mean that there Was a -vau-

deville show going on at twelve o'clock on $unday morning? 

it Not at twelve o'clock, no. I did not say what hour 

went there. 

Q, You did. not? I asked you where you. went to 

defendant's place of business? A Yes. 

• Qi You said to a vaudeville show? A 'Yes,,, it is..also 

moving pictures and. vaudeville together. 

Whereaboutsr A Around 125th"Street, somewhere on • 

Seventh Avenue. 

Did you take ititchie. with you? A,. I don't remember it. 

Did you stake him to any money. 
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What was the idea of your going to Third,Avenue to 

,look for Ritchie, ' if he had. no interest in the goods which you 

had. stolen? A Well, because after this man denied giving me 

the valuation of the stuff, this friend. of mine Ritchie had. 

told. me several times that he knew something about diamonds. 

Q About diamonds? A About diamonds, yes sir, and when 

this man refused, i thought if I seen him he would be able 

give me the valuation of it. 

Now, let us go back and find, out, if we can, where y 

went to from Blechermanis-, the defendant,s place of business 

on that morning? A When? 

Qthat morning. What time did you get into the 

could not say.  

THE COURT:. He has already answered that. 

• we have gene into the t fully enough. 

LEVY: He has not told. me what time he went 

Doesn't it go to his credibility as to what time he went 

there? 

• THE 00piiT: He said. he went to a 'vaudeville or moving 

pioture show. 

• What tie4 was it you went to the vaudeville? 

TELE' COUR V; If you remember? 

A I don't remember, your Honor please exactly. 

When did you next see the man iiitohie? A I don t remem.-

ber it. 
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. Do yam remember where you 68w him, what -place? 'A 

think it wa his house. - 

4 Did you e ver see him after that at his house? A! 

q *When? A I could not say. 

Q You still had in your possession the watch? A Yes sir, 

When was it you left the Hotel Belmont? A A couple of 

days -after. 

And. where did you go to live then? A I dorOt remember 

Q Did you go to another hotel? A I don*t remember; 

think i went away. 

BY AM3 COURT: 

Q What do you mean by going away? A Itook 

Buffalo. 

BY ER. LEVY: 

Q' Did you go to the defendant's place of businesd the 

following morning? A The following morning of what? 

The day after that Sunday., Monday?. A ,dertainlY-. 

4 What time was that? A It waseibput ten oiclock; 

tween ten and eleven. 

Q Was there anyone with you? A Not that day, not that 

particular hour. 

Q Did yaa have any talk: with the defendant that llondaY 

morning? A I simply said "Good morninj- $am". 

4/ And what did he pay? A Re said., "Good morning 

Q Tell me whet happened.? 1 I asked him for the lop 
• 
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q What did he say? A He said The $100 I had-quite a 

little difficulty getting". 

Q What did he say? A Re said he had quite a 

trouble getting it. 

q- Did he give ,you the 100? A Yes, he did. 

q Where did he take it from? A Prom his pocket. 

q Do you remember the denominations of the bills you 

got that morning? A I do not* 

q Whether it was a single bill or many bills'? A I do not. 

Q How long after that did you give the watch to Ritchi 

A Well, in the period of two weeks.. 

At his own home? A No are 

Q At that time where did Ritchie live? A At 1044 Piret 

Avenue. 

Q With whom did he live? A With his wife. 

Q Did his brother rrank live there? No sir. 

•Q Do you know where .rank lived?' A I do not. 

Q since you have been in this last trouble have you 

Ritchie? A yes. 

A At the time you were arrested? A He came toee 

over at the ..eombs. 

q Ritchie did? A Yes. 

Q Do you know where he is now' A I do not.. 

q You have not heard from him since in an4r way? 

he wrote me several letters. 



• 
• 

t17 

Q To the Sing Sing prison? A Yee sirg 

Q You have had letters from him there? -A Yes. 

Q is he -a young man or an old man? A I guess Omit the 

same age as I, around twenty-one or twenty-two.. 

Q Now, you gave that watch to Ritchie and you know he 

brought you back $70? A Yes. 

Q Are you. able to state what denomination the bills were, 

if there were bills,"that that §70 were? I I do not..,' 

q Were they large bills or small bills? I have no 

recollection of it. 

4 Who was present when he gave you that money? A Only 

me and him. 

Q Who was present when you gave him the watch? A 

but me and him. 

Q Where was it you gave him the watch? A On Third Ave. 

Q In the street? A No sir. 

• Wherepbouts? A In a b*rber shop., 

Q Do you know the place of that barber shop? A 

on 93rd Street. 

Q In the barber shop? A Yes. 

Any person at all there when you went there? 

were one or two shaving there. 

Q This watch, did you carry that around with you all the 

time? 4 Yes. 

'4 Until you gave it to Ritchie? A did‘. 
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Q* You did not put it in any place for safekeeping? 

.°I did net. 

And the money Which you had, you kept in your pocket 

ae well? A Yes. 

4 You went to Buffalo, you said, after that? A Yee+ 

q How long did you stay in Buffalo before you'°Were 

rested?' A Oh, a short time. 

Q Do you remember the hotel you were at? it No sir* 

q Did you steal at that hotel'? A No sir. 

4 Were you arrested in Buffalo? A No  

Q. You came back to New York'? A Yes.. 

4 And where was it you were arrested? 

and Broadway. 

Q Do you knew the name of the officer who .msde the arres 

A M. Joseph Daly. 

Q Now, you have told us that when you were arrested y 

took the police up to the defendant's place of business? A 

Q Then the officers went in first and stood in there 

about ten minutes and then afterwards you were beckoned 

• come in is that right? A Yes sir, 

q what was the first thing that was done when you came 

into the store? A I said, "Hello, Sam". I said., m caUght, 

nit is just, as well for you to tell the truth and give the 

stuff up, it will be better for 1*;vu". Be-  looked at me in an 

Rngry manner, very angry, and he went directly to the safe. 

Yea. 
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Q He did not say anything, did he? 

• Ply looke.d at me. 

Q Be did not say anything, did he?' He did n 

Q Did the defendant say anything to the policemen, to 

the officers? A I can't recollect, only he denied that he 

did not have the watch. He denied to the police that he .did 

not have the watch. 

No sir 

(I 

4 You mean he said. that he never had the watch? 

he, did, not have it at the present time, that night. 

4 What did he say? A. What do you mean, what he said? 

I3Y 111.E COURT: 

What words did. he use, that you heard? A Re •said, 

your Honor, that he did. not have the watch with him. 

BY MR. LEVY: 

He did. not have the watch with him? At. NO sir* 

'-chat is what he said? A That is what he said. 

And. that he said in Maglish? 4 Certainly" 

Q Did you see him do anything there? 4 He went an 

opened the safe. 

Besides that? A He went back in, the back room aga 

and. talked with his wife in Jewish..
 

 

4 Hi's wife was in the back? A Yes. 

4 Wasn't she in the front of the store? A I don/t remem-

, ter.. 

Which will you have; that you don't remember, that she 

was in the front of the store .or that shèwas in the back of 
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the store; where was she? A I don t 'remember where s e a 

I know he went in and came out with her. 

Q Was she there at the time that he went to the safe 

and got the two article of jewelry? A I don't remember. 

q Did you see him write anything? A I dontt remember, 

I did not see. 

Did you see him sign anything? A No sir. 

(/ -Did you hear the officers ask him any questions? 

A He asked him where is the watch and where is the stuff? 

q You have already, told us that he said he did not have 

it? A 

Q, 

be the 

He said that he did not have it. 

That is all he said? A That is all remember. 

officer told him. 

Yaa have also told the jury about something that was 

e, • 

said at Police Headquarters. Did you occupy the same eell in 

Police Headquarters? A No sir, the opposite sides 

Q Were you locked up in a cell that night? .A Yes sir. 

4 Was he locked up in a cell that night? A Yes sir. 

9. Different cells? A Yee sir. 

Q How far removed were you? A .ace to face, 

Q• He was on one side and you on the other? A Yes sir. 

say. 

q What time of the night was it, or day? 'A I could not-

41 Was it in the nighttime or •da'rtime,7 A Night. 

•4 The first thing you said to him, rtnderstood you o 
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"Why don t you tell the truth"? A Yes sir. 

. Wasthere anything said by you before that to him or 

by him to you? A No, I simply said, "Hello, samfil he said, 

"what?" I said, "Why don't you tell the truth and tRrn out 

that stuff", I said. 

Q What did he say? A He said, "Oh, I am in. trouble 

enough myself without getting anybody else in. trouble'! 

4 What else did you or he say? A I said then; "Do you 

mean to say You sold that stuff to somebody else and you don't 

care -to get them in trouble?" Be said, "I don't care to die-. 

cuss the matter with you", 

•You are quite sure he used the word mDiEmussee? 

4 Yes .sir 

q

 

No doubt about that?' A 'Yes. "I don't Care to dis-

CUBS the matter with you"; "I don't- care to diseues the mat-

ter with you". 

Q The word particularly that I want to have no 

about is "discuss"? A xest 

Q And you hate not been sentenced upon the, last indict-

ment, have you? A No sir. 

•Q Do You expect to receive any consideration updm that 

because of your giving your testimony here? A I do not.  

CI 
Are you prompted; do you know what I mean. A No. 

q Well4 I will change it. Do you give your testimony 

here because you are sorry for what you have do 
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BY ZE CORT: 

• 

74 

Q Why do you testify here; give any reason that you 

have? A Well, your Honor, for the simple reason that I don't 

think it is right* I know I am very sorry for what I done and 

I would like to have the man have his stuff back again* That 

is the reason. 

BY MR. LEVY: 

Q When you plead guilty to the indictment in this ease. 

tHE COURT: What plea did he get? 

MR. LEVY: He got a plea of grand larceny in the 

second degree* He was indicted for burglary in the second 

degree and grand larceny in the first degree and. he plead 

to grand larceny in the second degree. 

Q Did you have any talk with your lawyer or thm detectives 

or anyone with regard to what treatment you would receive upon 

this plea to this indictment to Judge Rosalsky? A I did not. 

4 Before Taking your confession? A I did not, 

4 Where was it you made your socalled confession, at whet 

place, and to whom? A About when? 

q About your having stolen these articles and sold them 

to Blecherman? A At the Second Branch -Bureau. 

q When was that? A, When 1 was arrested. 

41. How long after the stealing? A I could not very well 

recall. 

BY rhE COURT: 

Q How long were you in Headquarters or the lizanah Bureau 
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before you made the confession? A About an hour. 

Q The day .of your arrest you confessed to 

xdb sir, the night i was arrested. 

Q, Mr. Levy wants to-know if any promise was made to you -

by anyone? 

BY MR. LEVY: 

Q By your lawyer or by anyone else? No sir. 

q Did you have a lawyeT at that time? A .I :did  

have a lawyer until I came here. 

BY THE COUET: 

Q You did not have a lawyer in the police station? 

A No sir. 

5 

Q Had you seen the District Attorney? A No sir. 

Q The only people you saw were the police? di Tee. 

4 And did they beat you or compel you to testify, 

confess? A No sir. 

‘4 Lid they promise you anything? A No sir.. 

BY att. LEVY: 

• Q Your lawyer when you were down here was a gentleman 

by the name of Murray? A lea sir. 

q And he appeared for you at the time that, you made your 

plea. A tes. 

Q. I asked you about your stealing 

• the _Knickerbocker, the Belmont, the Waldorf and the others you 

told us of; did you ever steel any articles from any guest of 
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the Hotel imperial? A I don't remember it. 

Do you remember stealing some articles at the Eotel 

Imperial belonging to, a-gentleman by the name of James P. 

Cummings, and pawning those articles at Simpson's?• A would 

not like to say for sure* In a way I think I did. 

Q You think you didy A Yes sir. 

Q. Were you prosecuted upon that complaint? A I don't 

remember it. 

Q Were you indicted; .so far as you know? As far as 

understand, as far as I know* 

MR. LEVY: That is all. 

M. EDER: I desire to ask this witness just two 

questions, but as Mr. Marcus, the jeweler of Fifth Avenue 

says he must go back to his place of,, business this after-

noon, i would like to call him now. 

1TE.. LEVY: There is no Objection to that. 

WILLIAM A. MARCUS, of lOntolairI New Jersey, 

witness called on behalf of the People, having been' duly 

sworn, testified as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY HR. EDER: 

Q Mr. Marcus, what is your business? A Jeweler. 

(4 Are you  associated with any firm of 'jewelers? A Yes. 

Q What is the name of the firm? A HOTeus ea. Company. 

C4 Where is their place of business? A 544 Fifth Avenue. 
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Q How long Thave you been in the jewelry business? 

A Eleven years. 

• Q. Do you know Roberts? A Yes. 

Q I.fifhow you a photograph, People' d Exhibit.1 for 

Identification 

.

 

L. LEVY: You.refer-tO that as a photograph* It Is 

not a photograph. It teems to be an electrotype:repr 

diction. 

Q Well, I show you People's Exhibit 1 for Identifiaa.4 

tion; 15.o you see the picture of a bar pin there?' 

ME. LEVY: Objected to; that is not at all material. 

If you want to prove by Mr. Marcus :that he sold to M.r. 

ROberts a certain bar pin I will admit that and I will 

admit mr. Marcus's qualifications as an expert. , 

q Did you sell it to mr. Roberts? A 'Yee. 
4 

Q What was the value of that bar pin? AL $1600* 

Q can you describe it? 

BY 11.11a, COURT: 

Q You may refresh your recollection.by'any memorandum . 

that you have, but you must testify from memory* Paper 

you hold in your hand is not in *evidence. 

BY MR. MIER: 

Q Describe it? A It was a bar pin with about Seven to 

.nine graduated diamonds in the center. The lergent of the , 

seven or nine stones being in the.middle and on each side of 
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.them oval pairs the center stone .weighing about 8/10ths 

a carat, and. the end of those seven to nine , stones Weighing..-. 

BY THE COURT: 

A It was a 'horizontal bar set with diamonds? Alt was 

a horizontal bar with graduated stones, about seven or nine 

in the middle and a.raund that was a small frame of little 

diamonds. It was an oblong pin about two and a half inches 

long. 

•q And it was worth $1600? A Yes. 

BY MR EDER: 

Nfas it the same value in March, 1917 as at the time he 

purchased it? A No should say it Was worth more in March. 

•Q What was it worth in Hareh„ 1917? 

T.HE COURT: - $1600 is enough. 

MR. EDER: You may -examine. 

bROSS-EXAMINATION BY M. LEVY: 

Q The setting, I suppose, was valuable? A 

some value as old platinum. 

4 The setting, in its construction and its raking cost 

something? A That represented part of the  $1600. 

q Approximately how much? A From menory I shoUld. have 

said about .$200. 

Q Those little stones that are described in the print 

as "mole"? A Yes, small meld; they are small diamonds that 

are used generally to fill in designs. 
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BY 1.1E COURT: 

fa They are valuable? A Oh yes. 

BY MR. LEVY: 

Q They are used to fill the pieces of jewelry. A Y 

' 

they are stones' of a smaller weight than one -eighth of a 

carat. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q But they are valuable? les indeed.. 

DOM IN IC X V IT 0, recalled for further oross.examination: • 

BY ER. LEVY: 

Q When you went into the store of the d.efendant did. yOu 

notice whether he had a sign over the door? I did not, 

Do you remember whether he had his name ,,on the win-

dow? A I do not. 

There is a regular show window in front? A 

know. 

Q Don't you know whether he had. a show Window .with 

tidies displayed  in it? A I think, he ha do. 

Q Did he have articles displayed in the window 

jeweler? A Yes. 

Q Do you know whether his name was on, the window? A. 

did not look for his name, as he was introduced by .the name 

Sam, 

REDIRECT ExtaraTION BY MILR !MR 

You say you had red. hair then? A- Yes. 
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Q Your be iT was red ' t the time you .14.V,04 at. the 

Hotel? 4 YOB. 

Q At the time:yat cans with the police offiCers 

defendant's place of business your heir was red., too? A 

•Q In all haw many times have you been in prison? 

A Several times. 

Q How many times; you wee'  once in prison 

A When was a boy. 

q You were in the penitentiary here in Sew 

_t4 You served nine months? A Yes sir. 

Q And then you were sent to Sing Sing by Judge luIclueen? 

A Yes sir. 

York? •,A 143,0.• 

4 Those are the only three times you have been in prison, 

is that correct? A As far as i can remember it. 

Q The different articles that you stole, that 

questioned yon about, you sold all those articles to peopl 

purchasing them from you, is that corrects - A Y s sir. 

bY ME. LEVY: 

Q You pewned some of them, didn t you? 

THE OOUET: That is not material. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q You do not steal diamonds to eat do Yim? A' 

By -JUROR NO. 3: 

Q What -tempted you to go tO this man's place; 

:taken there? A To this man's place (indicating defendant)? 

-a 
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Q Yes? A I was introduced, 

That is the—first time You ever/5; him?...A That 

is the first time.  

Q. You did not knoW anything about his 'place until they 

took you there? A Until then. 

(1 You never went there before? A No sir. 

ME COURT: He said he was introduced to him a week 

before he 'brought thesesarticles there. . 

BY :LILE COURT: 

Q By whom were you introduced? 'A /Tank, the fellow. -

Q .rank brought you there and you saw him before you h 

anything to sell? A Yes, 

BY mit. LEVY: 

Q Is that vrank Ritchie? A No. 

4 Another vrank? A Yes. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q And then after you -had a talk with him on that occasion? 

A The other two fellows had a talk with hid. 

And when you did steal something you went there'? 

told me in case :I run across anything to bring it over t 

-(1 So that When you did steal these articles from Er 

erts you brought them to him? . A Yes. 

Q How long was that after the day you were introduced 

him? A Well, it was about a week later.. 

BY 'JUROR. NO  3: 
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C4: This other fellow did not tell you that h 

did he.; did he ever tell you he brought anything 

place? A He did. not. 

• You are sure about that? yes. 

THE COURT: Any other questions?• 

(There appearing to be none,. the court takes a 

recess), 

• THE COUK T: Gentlemen of the Jury, the Court will: 

take a recess until two o'clock. In the meanwhile you 

must remember that you are not to talk about this case with 

anyone, and that not only prohibits you from talking abou 

•it with strangers but also from- discussing it among your. 

selves. You must not discuss it until you hear all the 

evidence on both sides, and when the ease is submitted, to 

you at the end,, ,and the court submits it to you and you 

retire, that is the time to make up your minds and not be-

fore. 



December 4, 1917. 

(AFTER RECESS). 

OFFICER JOSEPH A. DALY, calledasawitneiss, 

on behalf of the People, being first duly sworn, testified 

as follows: (second Branch Detective- Bureau), 

DIFIZCT EXAMINATION BY MR. EDER: 

Q• Officer, how long have you been on the police force of 

the' City of New York? A Going on fifteen years. 

Q How long have you been attached to the Detective 

A About ten years. 

Q Do you know Dominick Vito? A I do. 

Q Did you place him under arrest? A I did. 

cl After having ,been placed under arrest you had -a talk with 

him? A I did. 

" Q Subsequent to that talk and in pursuance of that talk did. 

you see this defendant? A I did. 

Q There? A In the jewelry store Second. Avenue, between 

100th and 101st Street? 

Q 1956 Second Avenue? A Yes, sir. 

(I Whom did you go there -with? A • I went there .wit4.3. the • 

defendant Vito, Dominick Vito, and Detective Dennison from the MoillPint.., 

Hotel, Detectives Martin and Lowenthal of the Second Branch Detective 

Bureau. 

Q Did you enter the place bb. defendant; David 

Blecherman? A I did, 



2111 

Who went in 'with you,. the .first tithe? A-

hotel detective fToM the MpAlpin. 

Q From the McAlpin Hotel? A. -Yes, sir. 

qv Did you have a talk..with this defendant?. .A I did. 

Q State the conversation between you _and.this defendant 4 

the time you entered that store with Dennison? A I went 14 and 

saw the defendant, and. told, him that my name was Daly, that I was 

police officer from the Detective Bureaul-Showed hith.my 

told him that Mr. Dennison was a hotel detective, and that I had 

information that he, Blecherman, had bought a watch and a pia, paid 

$70.00 for the watch and $300 00 for the pin, and'that he bought 

from a fellow -known to him as "Joe," and who went under the name o 

"Dominick," and he -said tINo." I.said, ybu would remember 

if you bought such a ring and pin 

Such a What? A I mean a watch and 0,44 lie :said, 

buy anything as you describe. So I said, "Well, I wilq..show you 

picture 'of the watch and pin; it may refresh'yourmemory, and 

showed him the picture. 

Q What picture'did you show -.4imt 

pictures. on). This picture. 

Did you show him this paper (showing)? Yes,  

MP. EDER: I offer this in evidence.. 

MR. 14E1TY: May I look at „it? 

Ed il 'handed .the paper to Mr. bevywho, e 
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rt; 

'BY MR. LEVY:' 

Q Is this (showing witness the paper) the.,paper, 

paper that you showed 'him? A Well, yes, sir. 

Q Sure about that? A -Yes, sir. 

MR. LEVY: Is that is so, there will be no objection. 

(The paper referred to was received in evidence and marked 

Peoplels Exhibit No.). 

MR 

he identical 

LEVY: Read that please (addressing Mr. Ed.er), 

(Mr. Eder read part of it to the jury, When Mr. 

rupted him). 

Am. LEvy: Excuse me a moment . The picture, your Honor, 

on refelections a picture shown to a man might be properly ad-

missible and, therefore, I made no objection, but the written 

matter, that printed matter, unlesS it be Shown that the -defend-

• ant was capable of reading and understanding --

• THE COURT: You told him to read it. 

to object now? 

MR. LEVY: Yes, sir, I object. 

THE COURT: I sustain the objection. 

MR. EDER: I only intended to --

MR. LEVY: The pioture is not objectionable. 

THE COURT: Let them see the picture. 

MR. EDER: That is all I wished to show them. 

THE COURT: You do not object to the top part; 

part you object to. I don't know what it i 

see the top Pert of the alleged picture. 

Levy inter-

do y 
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MR, LEVY: May I ask the witness a qtestion? 

THE COURT: Yes.. You had better wait, however, until 

the jurors have finished examining the picture. I think your 

• objection is well taken. 

BY MR. LEVY: 

Q Do you know,whether this defendant can read English. print? 

A That I don't know, but I know he can write English. 

• Q What can he write -- his name? A Yes, sir. 
,atti 

THE It is all stricken out except the pictures. 

BY MR. EDER: 

Q Now, when you showed him these pictures 

pictures of a watch and.pin, on Exhibit No.2 

you say to him, or what did he say to you? A I said tobi 

I will show you a picture of the man --

Q That did he say? A He said, "No, he didn't buy 

BY THE COURT: 

Q You said you would show him a picture of the articles? 

sir. 
And then you showed him this (indicating the Cu 

Exhibit No.2) A Yes, sir. 

Q And he said he hadn't bought them? A Yes, sir 

BY MP. EMER: 

q Then what happened? A Then I said, "I will show you a Pio-

ture of a man, who said he sold the stuff to you," and I showed him 

.a picture of --

q 'What picture did you show hie A Of Vito. 

such stuff. 



Q, Did he look at it? A Yes, sir. 

411 Is this the picture you showed him (shoWing) 

MR. EDER: I offer it in evidence. 

BY MR. LEVY: 

Q Did you show him the front or the back of the:picture? 

The front of the -picture. 

MR. LEVY: There can be no objection to the front of it. 

(Received in evidence and marked People's Exhibit -No 3). 

Q That is a picture from the Gallery? A Yes, sir. 

• 
(Mr. Eder handed People's Exhibit No.3 to the iurors, 

examined same). 
BY MR. EDER: 

• Q What did you say and what did:he say when you showed h 

.Peopleis Exhibit No.3 in evidence? A I said, •"That is. the picture 

of the man who said that he sold a -pin and a watch to your and I 

said, "Do you recognise it?" He said, "EC 'I do not. I dfdn 

buy any watch or pin from any such man, or as you describe, or. as 

shown in the picture." I said, "Well, now, the mania outside' 

•hanlqWffed to a detective, arepund the corner,' and 1 said I don't 

like to bring him in here to disgrace you and your featly.. said, 

"If you want to tell the truth about the matter, it won't be necessary 

to bring the prisoner in here." ' He Said, "I don t know anything' 

about what you are talking about; I don't know anything about .it. 

So, I said, to his wife, "Why don't you advise:him now, andais wife 
the 

talked to him in/Jewish language, .1 presume it was and .I said to Mr. 

Dennison, "Go ahead out and bring him in." The wife said, 'uladt a 
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MiAlltes she talked to him further, and he said, 'No, '..I 

buy the stuff, and I don't recognise the picture." So Mr. 

went out and came back with Vito, who was handcuffed to one 

officers, and when Vito came in he said "Hello, Sam" ---
BY THE COURT: 

Q Who said, "Hello,- Sam"?. A The prisoner said it. 

Q Vito said, Hello,Sam"? A Yes, sir. 

Q Addressing this  defendant? A Yes, sir. He said, 

1 don't know you 411011.11.•• 

Q Who said "I don't know you"? You used the Word "he 

Blecherman. 

Q The defendant said to Vito, *I don't know you"? A Y 

He says 0•1116 

88 

THE COURT: You said "he" again. Why don't you say 

Vito and Blecherman, whichever you mean. 

THE WITNESS: Victor --

BY THE COURT: 

Q Who is "Victor"? A We know him as Vito and as. Victor 

Q Vito said what? ,A Vito said to the defendant, Blechermaus 

"Sam, you might as well tell the truth. The detectives have been 

watching me and they know of everything I, have been doing, and then 

the defendant, Blecherman, said "Yes, .1 did buy the watch and the 

pin;* I paid $7o.00 for‘the watoh and $300.,O0 for. the pin. 

aid,. "Well, where is it now?" He said, "That I don't know where it 

is." I said, "What did you do with it?"  14 said, "I broke i up 

I broke up the pin and the watch.' I said, '"Who did you sell it t 



• 

He said, "I don't know; I cannot tell you.* 1 .tried to 

with him. I said, "You have got a small business here; y 

diamonds and you ought to know who your customers are. 

unusual in a store like this to handle a lot of diamonds. 

"I don't remember what I did-with them.* I said; "Did you break 

up,the watch"? He said, "Yes." I said, "net did, you do with 

the works of the watch"? He said, "I don't know; I am not a 

watOhmaker." He said, "I may have thrown it in a scrap pail. 

So then I said, *Well, may be you got it in the safe".?: A He -said 

"No, you can look in the safe," and he opened the safe and showed 

me a lot of pieoes of jewelry, and I asked,him aboUt the different 

ones. I said, "Is this made up from the pin, from the watch? 

- Finally, he came to a pair of earrings. I mentioned about th'em. 

He said, "Yes, that pair of earrings was made up from the pin. 

Then he pulled out a ring, and he said, "Now, this ring: 

from that pin. --

Q One moment. I show you this pair of earr,ingp, and ask you 

if this is the pair of earrings you refer to that this defendant' 

showed you (showing a pair of earrings to the witness)? A (After 

examining) Yes,sit, it is. I marked them; I marked that card.. 

MP. EDER: I offer them in evidence. 

Q Did the card go with them? A Just as you,see.it. 

Q The markings you made on it were like 'those indicating 

A Except the markssI put on the back my initials and the date, 

and the other officers. 



Q The printed matter was on there? A Yes 

BY MR. LEVY: 

Q The earrings were in the card? A. Yes, sir. 

(The card with earrings in, received in eviddfice 

marked People's Exhibit N .4). 

BY MP. EDER: 

Q I dhow you this ring (handing same to the witness 

the ring that was handed to you? A' Yee, sir. 

Q Did he say where the diamonds came from? -A Yes, 

Q From the pin? A Yes, sir. 

MR. EDER: I offer that in evidence. 

BY MR. LEVY: 

4 The writing on the bottom of both of these cards whose 

that? The writing matter, not the Printed matter. A These ( 

dicating) "J.D." are my initials. 

Q °L.L.ft? A Those are one of the detectives 

thal. 

Q Those were put on for identification purposes? 

MR. LEVY: I have no objection, 

(The ring was received in evidence and :marked People 

Exhibit No.5). 

BY MR. EDER: 

Q What happened after that? After he told you these things 

were made from the pin what happened after that?. A I said to him, 

"Well, I am going to place you under arrest and I am goingtake 



and.hold these as evidence, and I will take a•receipt with 

your name signed to it, that thisis the property that I 

took." So then I wrote out a receipt stating the property 

I took. 

Q You wrote out a receipt? A Yes, sir. 

Q Did you read it to laim? A Yes, sir. 

Q Was his wife present? A Yes, sir. 

• Q And the other officers? A Yes, sir. 

Q And he signed it? A Yes, sir. 

Q Is this (showing witness a paper) you wrote 

that he signed? A (after examining) Yes, sir. 

MR. LEVY: May I ask a question about thi 

THE COURT: Yee. 

BY MR. LEVY: 

Q You read this (indicating paper) to the 

Q Did he examine it at all? A Well, he'did; I gave it 

to him, and he signed his name to it. He gave me that (referr-. 

ing to the paper) to write -an.. I asked him for something to,: 

write on; that is one of his envelaies. 

Q You read it out?. A Yea, air. 

• By THE COURT: 

Q Who wrote it out? A I wrote it outsand 

.BY MR. EDER: 

Q You handed it to him and he signed hie name? 

Q You first read it to him?:. A  Yes, six. 

MP. LEVY: There ce.n be no objection. 
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6.°0"c5 

(The pap OT referred to recel4ed in evidenae and marked 

,People's ExhibitNo.6). 

(Read to the jury by 'Mr. Eder). 

Q When you say "this man" did you indics:te at that time which: 

man you meant? A Yes, sir. 

Q Whom did you mean? A The man that was handcuffed Vito.. 

Q What happened after that?, A Why, then we went to Police 

Headquarters and locked them up at Police Headquarters. I requested 

the keeper to put them in-cellsapartwhich the keeper did, and then 

overheard a conversation there between Vito and the defendant, Blech-

erman. 

Q What did you hear? A I heard Vito call out and saYs 

why don't you tell the cops where that stuff is?" He says "Then you 

might get a suspended sentence and they would be lenient with me, 

the defendant, Blecherman, answered back, "1 am in trouble myself, 

without getting somebody else in trouble;" So, "Victor said, "You 

mean by that you know where the stuff is; you don't want to tell; 

afraid of getting somebody else in trouble?" He said, "Don't bother 

talking to me any more; I don't want to talk any more." 

Q Was that the last you heard' this defendant say? A Yes sir. 

Q You never found any other parts of the jewelry? A Never did, 

no, sir. 

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. LEVY: 

Q There was no hesitation upon the part of this defendant to open 

his safe and allow you to make any examination which you wanted? 'A No; 

not a bit. 



Q He •oPened the safe? A Yes, sir. 

Q Will you tell his 110not and the jury when 

arrest took place, this conversation took place? 

THE COURT: You mean what date of the year? 

MB. LEVY: -Yee, Sir. 

A That was late Saturday- nightl_Apri1.21st. 

Q It is the date you got ,on that receipt? . A Yea, 

Q .The date upon the two articles in: evidende Tee, sir. 

Q. The 21st .of April? A . yes; sir, right Close.up..td-midnight.' 

Q What time of the day or night was IV- A It oust have, been. 

close to midnight, between- 11:30_ and. 12:00-, I should judge. 

Q And that was the 341st of April, and .you ascertained,that.the• • 

larceny took place .on the 3rd of March? A :Yes sir... 

Q A period, of about.seven weeks before? A Yes, sir. 

Q What language didyou speak with the -defendant? • ,A -English; 

that is the only language I -can speak. 

-Q .Did he speak a, broken English? A Yes. sir. 

Q Did. ,you notice his appearancel,the defendanVe. A. 

respeCt? 

Q Well with regard to whether he appeared nervous, or whether 

under the influence of anything? A I didnIt notice that he was; 

don't think he was. 

Q Whether or not there was any evidence of drink on him?.A 

Nothing of that sort. 

Q He was there alone with his wife? A I think that is all , 

that was there; there was some other People -cam& in, 



So we may underst nd the situation: that is.an.ordinar 

tenement house store; isn't it? A Yes, sir. 

Q That is to_say, a tenement house With a middle entrance o 
. on each side 

the upper part of the house and a store/?. A Mr. Levy, I could 

• not describe the house, only the store. I didn't pay any a 

to the description of the other, pert of the house. 

'Q The house itself, I am not interested in. Are there two store 

one on each side of the hallway? A I :presume sop 

Q The size of that store, can you give us an idea of it? A. Well; 

it was a small store I know the show cases were to the right as you 

go in, and at the end of the show case there was a kind of a swinging 

door or door that led back into a ;passageway that led back into the 

baok room, and to the left, before you went in the back room, wae this 

large safe in the corner. 

Q The safe was in the store proper? A Yes, sir. 

Q And when you went into the place was the tafe closed? 

Q And have you any recollection as to the day of the week it was? 

A I think it was Saturday night; I think so; ram not sure. 

Q The place was well illuminated, lit up? A Well, I think 

was lit up. 

tention 

• Q  And when you went in where was the wife of this defendant? 

A I think she was -- I think she was in the baok part of 'the store. 

Q behind the counter? A I am not sure what part of the store; 

could not itiay that Mr. Levy, whether in the back or not. - 

Q There was a*coUnter? A Yes, sir. 



Ili: top of the counter a regular jewelei 

Q The back of the store was there a ()minter in the 

I think therewas a counter in there -- an Cy' shape. 

Q. For instance, we wilIaasume that this (indicating counsel 

table) is the oounter Which. ran right down at the end of the store? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q And was there another counter at  the end of the counter con-

taining a-show case? A I think there was, but went to the left: 

Q Whichever way it went, it was at the. -back? A Yes, sir. 

Q And behind that the safe was placed? A Yes, 

-Q And behind that there was a back room? 

. q The uses to which that back room were put 

looked like a kitchen back there. 

Q A living apartment? A I don't remember that 

beds back there. 

Q Did you go in there? A Yes, sir. 

ct Was it furnished as a living apartment? A I think it was; 

'do you know? 

I know there was a lot of things stored back there that might be sold 

in the store; I don't remember just what they were. 

.Q Tables and cliairs and things of that kind? A,. I think there 

71 was a cooking stove back there. 

Q Now, that safe was closed when you oame into 

right? A Yes, sir. 

Q You are quite sure that the defendant responded 

which was understandable to you? A Oh, yes sir. 

:that 



'Q Ind you tried.of course to make yourself understood 

'him? A yes, sir. 

Q You tried to make him understand? A Yes, 

malty about that. 

Q In this conversation did Mr. Denntson take any part? A Mall, 

think he was talking to the wife and advised her. 

Q I mean talking to the defendant, that is what I mean? A I 

could not say, Mr. Levy. 

Q All right. Now, did he say to you that he had had. the wata 

I want you to be sure about that. 11P.41-aadmit to you that he bought 

a pin. Now, about the watch is what I want You to concern yourself 

for the moment. He said he bought a pia. What did he say, if any-

thing about having the watch? A He said that he did buy a watch. 

Q Did he say what kind of ar.watch he bought?: 

desprihed in.the picture. 

Q 'A wrist watoh? A. Yes, sir. 

Q A- wrist watch? A I don't Inow-whether I went into: that. 

Q. It is important for me to know; it is necessary for me tG 

the exact faots. Did he say anything of having bought a diamond watch 

Or did he say he bought a watch? A Yes, sir, because I talked to hi 

about .330 diamonds in the watch. 

What did he say, if*anything? A PC you mean at Xtrot or 

finally? 

At any time in the conversation, of having purchased a watch, 

a pin -- there won't be much disPOYI- the Watch is whatig0 concerned 



about? A At first he denied all knowledge of the 

Q What did tt e say, if anything, about having purchaied 

a watch? A He said fie• ought the watch afterwards. 

Q The watch you say, or di he say a watch? A :Well., 

we were talking about this watch describ 

Q This picture was in front of Mr. Bledhe 

had been. 

Q He said he bought a,watch or the watch -- let us get  

that clearly? A Mr. Levy, I don't remember the words. 

were talking about the watch. 

Q You cannot say whether he said the watch which 

on this printed paper? A I don't remember 

Q- That is all I want to know. You could not pay whether 

he said this watch or a watch? A I don't -remember the words. 

Q Now, wkis the name of any person mentioned besides Vito 

upon that occasion? A Yes, sir. 

Q Well, what name was mentioned? A Nick. 

Q Nick? A Yes, sir. 

Q Was there any Frank spoken about? A I don t reaall that. 

Q Did he say anything about knowing a.tilan by the name 

Frank Ritchie? A Nick. 

Q I want you to be sure? A I think it was Nick Ritchie. 

Q Not think, I want you to be certain, ,if you can be? A 

Yes, sir; I am sure, no -- I am not sure at that time, Mr Levy's; 

I know Nick_ was the first name mentioned. 
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Q The defendant; Vito had told you about .a Nick Ritchie, 

hadn't he  in his so-called confession to you? A He finall 

did, yes, sir, after we apprehended him. 

Q You -had the name of that man in your mind at the time 

you were taflking to the defendant, *didn't you, Nick Ritchie? 

A I don't remember not whether I had at that time or not. 

Q Did the defendant say anything about knowing a Frank' 

Eltchie?, A No, I didnithear that. 

Q Did he speak abOtt a man by the name of Frank Eichis 

who was a neighbor of his? A No. 

Q Did he say he had any business dealings with a man 

named Rifohie, who was a neighbor of -his? A, No, sir, 

donttrecall that. 

Q Did he speak about a neighbor with whom he had any. 

business dealings, without referenod to a name? A Yes, 

Q Did he say anything about a neighbor with whom 11 

business dealings? A He said that a woman, Vito 's mother, 

used to come in there.. 

Q 'Yes. A And she wore a lot of diamonds and when he 

bought the diamonds he thought it was his mother's- diamonds. 

Q Did he say that Vito had been brotght in to him by 

a man of the name of Ritohie? A No I don't remember that, 

that he said that. 

Q Now 'this defendant Vito at that time was redheaded, 

wasn t hel A Yes, sir. 
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• Q His, hair was dyed? A yes, sir. 

Q He was well dressed? A *Very well, yes; Sir. 

Q And presented an appearance of being well to do? 

MR. EDER: I object to that. - 

Q Did he wear any'jewelry, Vito? A Yea, 'sir; a watch. 

• and chain, a valuable watch and chain. 

Q And a pin? A I don't remember whether he had pin. 

Q Well; he presented the appearance of .a 'person in goo 

circumstances? A. Yes, sir. 1 

Q The defendant did not hesitate to sign the receipt 

which you presented to him? A No. 

Q Showing that these two articles he gave you were made 

up of a portion of the pin? A He did not. 

Q NoW did you hear the defendant use the limird "discuss" 

in that conversation in the prison cell; did he  say, "I will 

not discuss the matter"? A Well, I donft remember that. 

Q You don't remember that? A I remember he.said 

"1 don't want to talk to you". 

Q He said, "I don't want to discuss this matter, with 

you"? A wouldnot say that -- I gave you just the substance. 

Q Did any person in that conversation speak to the de-

fendant in the Yiddish language? 

THE COURT:• What conversation, Mr. Levy? . 

MR. LEVY: T4e''conversation dn the store with the 

defendant. 
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English? 

THE COURT: And the officers. 

MR. LEVY: And the officers: 

Or was the' conversation conducted, as yousay, in 

THE COURT: He said the wife talked to him. 

MR. LEVY: I mean, between the officers and the de-

fendant. 

THE WITNESS: I don't know for_sure, but there was -

one ofour 'officers that could talk the Jewish language; 

I don't remember whether he did .or not. 

Q Did he take any part in the a)nversation W4.0,K Lowenthal? 

IL Yes, sir. 

Q With whom? A The defendant Blecherman. 

Q Did you overhead what he said? A Yes, air. 

Q What was. said between the defendant And the officer 

Lowenthal, is that his name? A Lowenthal. He said to h 

"You don't mean to say that you would throw away the works 

of a. Cartier watch?" He said,-- that is not true, you wouldn 

do that. 

Q What did the defendant say? A He said,"Well,'I am not 

a watchmaker; I don't know much about watches. 

Q Speaking about watchmakers, was there any morktable ml 

the place? Did you see a watchmaker's table? You know that 

that is? A I donft remember - that I did. 

Q. Was there any place in the bacik of that store or in  
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the front of it, upon which there were apparently watchmaker' 

tools or anything of that sort? A I couldn't tell you that2 

BY THE COURT: 

Q You do:lit know watohmakerst tools when you see them, 

do you? Do you know anything about watchmakers tools? 

A If T saw them in a shop like 

They might be jewelersl tools -:- you could not tell 

whether they were je elers'or watchmakers' tools, could you? 

A 'would say -- Ijould not be able to tell whether they were 

watchmakers' tools or jewelers' tools. 

BY MR. LEVY: 

• Q Any kind of tools did you see; any table on which there 

were tools for watchmaking or making jewelry? A I don't re-

Member that. 

• Q When you wentinto that store, was the. store uP, 

illuminated? A Yes, sir. 

Q The place had not been closed up? .A No, 

Q You say it was close onto midnight? A Yee, six. 

Q There is one other thing: You said in answer teethe 

District Attorney. 'that the man Vito said to this defendant, 

Blecherman, in the cell at Headquarters, in substance, "If 

. you will tell where that stuff is, they will be lenient to me. 

Did he use the word "lenient"? A t remember distinctly he. 

stumbled all over himself trying to say lenient. He said 

they will be "lenien" -- he didn't pronounce it. properly. 
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• Q You are sure the word "lenient" was used? A 

_mune he tried to say the word "lenient". 

Q Never mind that. Did he say anything that liad 

the sound of the word"lenient"? A Yes, sir, he did; I 

am sure of that, 

Q And all the defendant said was, "1 have troubles 

of my own; I don't want -to talk any more"? A He -said he 

was in trouble, and "I don't want to get anybody else 

• trouble; don't want to make trouble for anyone else." 

Q Didn't he say, "I don't want to talk to you any 

more"? A Yes, sir. 

BY,JUROR NO. 3: 

Q When you went into the place was there a safe there 

A Yes, sir. 

Q •A very big one? A Yes, sir. 

Q Anybody could see it from the outside, from outside' 

Of the -Counter? A Yes, sir. 

BY MR. LEVY: 

Q' How high was it, offioer? A, Well; it was quite a 

good big safe, I guess it was about say.six feet maybe be-

tween five and a half and seven feet. 

BY -THE COURT: 

Q It could be seen? A Yes, sir. 

By MR.LEVY: 

Q It towered above thecounter? A Yes, sir. 



THE COURT: Whether it could be seen is entire 

immaterial 

MR. UEVY: It may have a pertinence. 

THE COURT: I don't see how it could. 

BY JUROR NO. 4' 

Q I remember you said when you spoke to the defendant, 

that he stated he paid $70 for the watch? A Yes, air. 

BY MR. LEVY: 

Q Was there a stock of watches in the place? 

BY THE COURT: 

Q Do you know whether there was a big stock of watches 

or not in the place? A I was busy watching Vito, because. 

he was trying to get away. 

BY MR. LEVY: 

Who, Vito, trying to get-away A I felt aathoihH.. 

he was. 

•Q Did you notice whether there was a sign over the 

door of that store? A No. 

Q Or a sign on the window? A No,.; 
0 

Q Or the name of .the defendant? 

THE COURT: He said he didn't, Mr. Levy. 

Q There is a show window there, and there were goods 

displayed in the show windows.is that so? A Mt. Levy, I 

could not give you a good description of the store. Ididn't, 

pa Y any particular attention to it. 
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Q Do you_know whether there was a dhow window there or• 

not, or whether goods were displayed? A No,, lam not wire. 

BY JUROR NO. 2: 

Q This Mr. Lowenthal spoke to this defendant in Jewish? 

BY THE COURT: 

Q Did Lowenthal speak to the defendant in Jewish? 

BY MR. LEVY: 

Q You said there was a conversation between the defendant 

and one of theA.etectives in Jewish? A I said, one of the de-

tectives talked Jewish. .The conversation that 'Lowenthal had 

was in plain English. 

AUSTING DENNISO N called as a.witneSs 

on behalf of the People, being first duly sworn, testified 

as follows: (Address 3100 Broadway). 

DIRECTT EXAMINATION BY MR. EDER: 

Q Mr. Dennison, you are connected 'with the McAlpin 

Hotel? A I am. 

Q In what capacity? A I am head house officer there 

Q Do youremember being in company with Officer Daly 

and goingto the defendant's place of business at 1956 Second 

avenue, on the 21st day'of April, 1917? A I do: 

. Q Did you overhead a conversation between Daly and this 

defendant? A I did, 

Q Will you please state the conversation you overheard? 
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A. Mr. Dalyand I went in. there about twelve night. 

Mr. Daly told the defendant who„ he was, that he valua.poIice 

officer, and showed him his shield, and stated, that he 4a4 

a man arrested who was in a cab outside., and asked him if 

. he had bought a ring 4 pin and a watch -- a jeweled watch' 

from a man whom he knew as "Joe"; The defendant said he . 

had not bought any watch as described,. and then Mr. Daly 

showed him the picture, I believe, that, or a circular. 

-CI People's Exhibit .2 in evidence? A_ Yes, sir. 

Q.Is that what you have reference to? A yes, sir. 

And t4,24:,hilizthat was the out of the jewelry. stolen azilf:aa:= 

leged to have been sold to him. - He .didntt recognize it,. 

. and denied that hehad purchased the articles, aisO 

that he knew anyone named "Joe" in thisoonnection. 

Daly told him that he should tell the truth, that 

he didn't want to bring the prisoner in there, as he was 

handcuffed, and didn't want to -create any excitement Or . 

attract the attention of his neighbors; that tif he had 

stolen the stuff, or rather if he had .bought the stuff, 

he wanted to know it. He still denied that he had pur-

chased the stuff. Mr. Daly then told me to go out and 

bring the prisoner in. Then it was his wife, the defend—

ant's wife, spoke to him, in, I assume; Jewish, a foreign 

language' to me, and said, "Wait a minute". I waited 

until they were through. And he Was again asked --
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Q Will you speak a litt3.e louder, -please? 

tinuing) And he was again asked if he had bought this 

stuff, and was it necessary for me to bring the man in, 

and he again denied that he hadpurchased the stuff, and 

said, "Bring him in". 

I went out to a taxicab where the prisoner was with 

Officers Martin and 11••• 

Q Lowenthal? A And Lowenthal, and Mr. Daly had 

shown the defendant a picture a the prisoner that we had. 
in the cab also, and he denied knowing the original of it 

Q That is, before youbrought the defendant in? 

A Yes, sir, at the time- that he showed him this 

Q I show you People's Exhibit 3 in evidence (handing 

same to witness). Is this the pi tura he .showed him? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q What happened after youb ought Vito into the defend-

ant's place of business? A He denied knowing him. 

BY THECOURT: 

Q WA° denied knowing him? A The defendant denied 

knowing the prisoner. 

BY MR. EDER: 

Q Vito? A Yes, sir. Vito called him "Sam" and 

told him that he shoUld tell the truth, and. bwn, up to the 

facts, as he had. been watched and that the detectivesknew 

a?]. about the transaction. 



He still denied it, and Vito repeated the same state-

ment and begged of him to tell the truth. --

MR. LEVY: Not "begged of him" 

THE COURT: Strike out "begged". 

Q Just state what he said. A Then the defendant 

admitted 

MR. LEVY: --No, not  

Q Just state what he said, don't say "admitted" atal. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q Tell us in substance what, he said? A 

he again told him to tell the truth. 

Q No. But what did the defendant say? A The defend-

ant said he knew nothing about the transaction. 

Q . What did hesay at the time, what words did the de-

fendant use? A "Idonit know you and I'don't know anything 

about these jewels or words to that effect, that is the• 

substance of it. 

THE COURT: Go on, please. 

THE WITNESS: He then admitted a - 

THE COURT: Strike out "admitted!. You were told 

4 
about that before. What words did he use, he didn't 

say "admitted!. 

THE WITNESS: • 4'1 did buy the stuff", and then he 

was asked to produce it, or tell where it was, and be 

said he had broken it  and resold it 



THE COURT: Well, is that all now, that you remember?_ 

THE 'WITNESS: Well, they. asked to whom he had sold 

it, Mr. Daly:asked him that and 11(r Lowenthal asked him 

that; I assume we all asked him that, what had become: 

of the stuff, and to Whom he had sold,it,'arguing that 

his business was a small one it its appearance, and that 

he &amid know -something about to whom he sold that: number 

• of jewels in so short a time. 

He said he didn't know to whom he had 0014:U004 that 

he broke the watch up and made it 'up into a pin, and other 

articles of jewelry, and sold them to his euitOmers. 

They asked him what he had done with the movement of the 

watch, and he said he didn't know, that he wasn a watch-

maker, and he didn't think itwas much good, and be might 

have thrown the movement of the watch into a garbage pail 

or a scrap pail. 

Then someone, I think Mt. Daly, said, "May you have 

put the movement in your safe", andhe said he didn't have• 

it in his safe, and he thereupon opened the safe and showed 

pretty much his stock in the safe. He was asked queations 

about a good many articles that were in the safe, and about 

two cards. He said, "I believe there are nine diamonds 

in the two cards and he said the two cards were parts 

of the jewels of the watch and. a ring that he had bioket 

up, andMr. Daly took these AM OM 
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BY THE WIRT: 

Q That he had broken up a ring?. A Imean a pin 

and a watch. 

BY MR, EDER! 

Q Yes. Then what happened? A Well he was further 

pressed by Mr. Lowenthal in particular about his reoord of' 

purchase of the jewelwy, and also his records of sales, and 

he said he didn't keep any books of purchases of such things. 

He did produce one or two small books that had items in I 

think ofpurohases from dealers, and then he was placed under 

arrest and taken from the building with the nine stones --

Q• By "nine stones, you mean tic) of the artioles here, 

People's Exhibits 4 and .5 in evidence. A Well, I would as 

sume that they are the stones; they lookL., like the cards 

I am not a judge of the stones. 

Q You didn't mark them? A No, 'air. 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. LEVY: 

Q I want to know did he say that any of these articles 

contained any diamonds that had been in the watch, or did 

he say they had been in the pin? A Well, I don't believe 

that he classified them separately, but that he did say they. 

were jewels, stones, taken from these aitioles. 

(I Well, you were there when Peopae's Exhibit to. 6 

was written out, were you not (handing Eihibit to witness)? 

A Yes, sir, Mr. Daly wrote out something. 
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You were there when that was -written? A Yes,. 

•Q You saw the defendant .sign hisname? Ayes, sir.: 

Q By reference to that, you can refresh your recollec-

tion as to whether it was a watch that was spoken about, 

or a pin only, and that these articles, Exhibits 4 and 5, 

were taken froM thepin, which he had purchased, if you look 

at that. I want you to refresh your memory. , 

A Mr. Levy, it does not refresh mymemorY, I don't recall. 

I am only speaking from the impression that I had of the 

general conversation with the defendant. 

Q You are not prepared to say that the only article 

which he referred to, from which these diamonds were taken, 

was the pin? A I am not. 

Q That langnage did the defendant speak? A He spoke 

English with us. 

Q Did he speak clearly and plainly?. A Fairly. 

Q Or brokenly? A He speaks. broken English. 

Q Broken English? A Yes air --accented. 

Q And so far as you know, noperson addressed hii jfl 

the Yiddish language? A Only his wife. 

Q Idon't mean'his wife -- I mean theofficers? 

A I believe that Mr. Lowenthal - 

Q Don't "beliete"; give me the fact, not a conjecture 

or belief? A It seems to me that Mr. Lowenthal did speak  

to him in -a language other than English. 



Q You are not sure about it? A believe 'he d 

my memory serves me right, he did $ 

If he did, you don't know'? A I don 

Heddid speak to his wifesor his wifespoke to h 

in a language not English?  A yes, sir. 

Q Now did you notice the appearance of .the defendant 

upon that occasion, Was he excited or cool-or calm, or did. 

he betray any agitation? A He did show agitation, deoidedly-

Q He did show agitation? A Yes, sir. 

Q Was he flushed in appearancd, on his face? A On 

the oontrary, he was very pale. 

• Q Now with regard to the appearance of the man Vito, 

was he well dressed? A Extremely well dressed. 

Q Wore jewels? A Yes, sir. 

Q A pin? A He had a pin on that night. 

Q Rings? A I am not able to say whether he had a ring 

or not. 

Q A gold watch and chain? A Yes sir,* 

Q He looked like a person who was in a prosperous 

condition? 

MR. EDER: I object to that. 

THE COURT: I will allow it. 

• A He looked very prosPerous that evening-- he had OA a rain_ 

coat --

Q Had that thief stolen from the McAlpin, too? No. 



Q You were brought into the matter through whose 

strumentality? A Well, there were a number --

Q Through whose instrumentality 

A My own. 

Q 'Your ovm instrumentality? A There were' a great 

omen, 

THE COURT: Let him answer, vr,r. Levy. 

many robberies occurring in hotels, and this picture had 

been identified, and a number of us had it,-and.1, wentto 

look for him, look fa theburglar. 

Q To see if you could possibly identify him? k And 

I did, sir. 

MR. LEVY: That is all, sir. 

MR. EDER: Mr. Levy will now concede --

MR. LEVY: I will make a statement for the record 

The learned Assistant -District Atto4reY has aaked me to 

concede, in order to expedite matters, that a jeweler 

by the name of Cartier, if called here, would testify 

that the watch which was sold by their firm to Mr. 

Roberts, the complainant, was mid by them at #2009. 

THE COURT: Is there any doubt about the identity 

of the watch? 

MR. LEVY: The watch that was sold by Cartier 

Mr. Roberts, there is no doubt in my mind who bought 

the watch. 

THE COURT: That watch? 



MR. LEVY: Whether it is the watch or not 

THE COURT: Then you will have to call Cartier. 

MR. LEVY: YourHonor, I wanted to save time. 

THE COURT: I know.. 

MR. LEVY: The complaining witness, Roberta, will 

that the watch he bought from Cartier. 

THE COURT (Make the conoession a real one, it any. 

MR.. LEVY: We make -a denial of the watch th.at.was stolen. 

THE COURT: That is the issui. The watch that was 

stolen from Roberts, hebought from Cartier, andit was worth 

$2000. • 

MR. LEVY: Not worth, butit was bought for 2000. 

will concede upon the record that if Mr. Cartier were here, 

he would testify that he sold a watch for $2000 --

THE COURT: -That he sold the watch in question. 

mR. LEVY: And that thewatoh that was stolen from Mr. 

Roberts, was the watch that was sold by Mr. Cartier. 

THE COURT: Exactly. 

MR. LEVY: I will make no concession for value except 

as he testified. 

THE COURT.' You -ootdede he was a qualified expert. 

MR. LEVY: There is no baubt about it. 

THE COURT: Mr. Cartier is the jeweler at Fifth 'ave-

nue and 57th street? 

MR. EDER: Yes, Your Honor. 
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LEO LOWE NTHAL 

of the People, 'being 

• 

, called as a witness on behalf 

first duly sworn testifie4 as 

follows: (Second Branch Dete 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. EDER: 

Q Officer, how long have you been attached 

ctive Bureau). 

Department of the City  of New York? A 11 years. 

Q Prior to that you had been cdtineated with the District 

to the Police 

Attorney's office? A I was. 

Q Now do You remember going to the place of business of 

this defendant at 1956 Second avenue, this County, on the 21st 

day of April, 1917, in company with Detectives Daly, Matin 

and Dennison? A I do. 

Q 'Do you remember 'seeing this defendant there that even-

ing A Yes, sir. 

Q Did you at any time Speak Yiddish to him that, night? 

A I don't speak Yiddish fluently; I said something in half 

German and half Yiddish. 

Q What were the things you said to him? A TO the best 

of my recollection Itold him to tell, the truth about the matter., 

Q The rest of the time Daly spoke to him? A Daly spoke 

to him pretty nearly all the time. 

Q You overheard thq entire' conversation? A I did. - 

MR. EDER: That is all., 

MR. LEVY: No cross-examination. 

MR. EDER: The People rest, yourHonor. 

6 
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• MR. LEVY: May it please your Honor, I desire to plaoe 

on the record the motion provided under Section 410 of the 

Code of Criminal Procedure, upbn the grounds therein stated. 

THE COURT: Denied. 

MR. LEVY: Exception. 

Now, if your Honor please, I would be sincerely appreciative 

of yourcourtesy if you would adjourn this °wife:to enable me 

to interpose my defense, until tomorrow morning. 

THE COURT: The difficulty is, Mr. Levy, I have a 

court engagement fixed for tomorrow morning. 

MR. LEVY: Any time you fix tomorrow, your HonOr Will 

suit me. I cannot get in my defense today. 

THE COURT: You have some witnesses here whose evidence 

you could put in. 

MR.. LEVY: No, Jour Honor, butI promise you that 

tomorrow I will be as expeditious as I possibly can. 

THE COURT: I had hoped to finish this case tomorrow 

afternoon. I will be engaged tomorrow until one o'clock 

with the Grand Jury Board. 

Gentlemen of the jury, the Court will exciiiie youuntil 

two o'clock tomorrow. I have another engagement in the 

morning, a court engagement, so that I will not be here 

until two o'clock. 

Meanwhile, remember the admonition I gave to you. You 

must not talk about this case with anyone connected with the 
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District Attorney's office, or the defense or anyone 

whatever, and you must not discuss it among yourselves 

even, and you must not make up your minds as to how you 

are going to vote on this question whibh will be sub-

mitted to you, until you have heard everything that 

is to be said by both sides, by counsel in their summin 

up and by the Court at the end of the case, when the 

Court will instruct you as to the law. That is the 

time to decide it, and not before that. 'You must keep 

Your minds open until that time. That is your obligation 

under your oath. Don't decide this case until'itis 

given to you to decide. 

Now please be leek at two ololock tomorrow. 

(Whereupon at 3: 5 p.m. an adjournment Was taken to. 

Wednesday,‘Dece bar 5 1917, at 2 p.m.) 



THE PEOPLE V. DAVID BLECHERMAN. 

New. York, December 5, 1917, 

'Trial resumed pursuant to a 

resent: 

THE -COURT, COUNSEL AND JURY, SAME .AS BE 

THE COURT: 

'the afternoon. 

MR. LEVY: Yes, 

djournment. 

ORE, 

1 suppose this case will take the rest of 

your Honor. 

Your Honor, in addition to the grounds stated upon* 

themotion presented to your.Honor's consideratton at the 

close of the People's case yesterday, I would like to special-

ly add another ground on motion., tot-wit:- That :the People 

have f. led to present sufficient testimony in'corrobora-

tion of the testimony of the self-confessed thief. 

THE COURT: Denied. A question of fact for the jury. 

MR. LEVY: Exception. 

For the purpose of economizing time, your Honor, 

I waive the right to address thejury. 

THE DEFENDANT'S CASE. 

BLECHERMAN the Defendant, milled 

as a witness in his own behalf, being 'first duly sworn,-

*be-stifled as follows: 

(Address 1956 Second avenue, New York City). 



DIpECT EXAMINATION BY_MR..LEVY:. 

Mr.. Blecherman, I would, like you to speak up loud so 'that 

we can all hear what you say. How old are you? A Thirty-nine yeass 

•Q And where were you born? A RusAa. 

Q. You have been in the United States how many years? 

teen years. 

Q And are you a citizen? A Yes, sir. 

Q When did you become a citizen? A Four years ago. 

Q You have a .jewelry store at 1956 Sedond AvenuJ -A Yes,sir. 

Q How long have you kept that place? A Nine years. 

,In the same place? A Same place. 

Q In the same store? A Same store. 

Q You are married? A Yes, sir. 

Q And how long have you been married? A Fifteen 

And have you a family? A Yes, sir. 

Q How many children? A Four. 

Q What are their ages? A 

MR. EDER: I object to that, if -your 

BY THE COURT: 

Q That age i the eldest? A Fourteen years. 

Q What age is the youngest? A Six years. 

BY MR. LEVY: 

Q Now, you say you conduct a jewelry store there? A'Yes sir. 

Q You have a stook of jewelry there' - a stook -there? A Yes,s r 

Q

 

Are you a watchmaker? A I am a jeweler by trade I take in 

watdhes for repairs. 



Q You take.in watches for repairs in Yolir place? A. Yes, sir. 

Q Po you yourself repair those watches or give them to some 

one to repair? A I give them away to a watchmaker to repair. 

Q But you take them into your store for the purposes of re-

patring them? A Yes, sir. 

Q Do you live back of the store or do you live in another. 

place? A I live upstairs, but I got a kitchen downstairs, and all 

day. I am downstairs, and only go to sleep upstairs. 

Q And does your wife help you in your business? A All day. 

Q Now, you have seen on the witness stand here that young man, 

whose name is Vito. You saw him here, didn't you? A yes, sir. 

Q Do you remember his coming into your store? A yes $ r,„ 

Q The first time, I. am talking about. Did he come into your 

store alone? A He came with another fellow -- I knew him. 

Q You knew the other fellow that' came in with him? .11.Ysts, 

with him. 

Q Do you know him, yes Or no? A Yes, sir. 

Q How did you know him? A I. knew him, because I knew h m fox' 

nine years, that fellow. 

Q That is his name?, A Frankie Ritchie. - 

Q Did you know where he lived? A Yes sir. 

Mere did he live? A Before he lived  in the .next 

from me. 

Q The next block trom where you lived? A In 1982. 

Q 1982 Second Avenue? A Yes, sit. 
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Q Did you ever .have anything to do with that Frank Ritchie 

before he came in with that Vito; did you do any business with 

him? A Yes, sir. I set for him two diamond rings; 

brought me stones, and I put in diamond settings for his wife, 

then I had a couple of jobs from him, one a watch which he left 

with me for nine months.. 

Q Well, now, Blecherman,. I want- you to go to the first time 

that you elfer saw that young man, Vito. Do you remember when 

it was that he came into your store? A This was on a Sunday, and 
exactly 

it was a very bad day; it rained all day; I cannot remember the 

'time,whether it was twelve or after, but it rained all day. I 

was black, snowing; it was three days before the Jewish holiday, 

Purtd. He comes with the other fellow and the other fellow comes 

with him; he comes dressed in a frock coat, a black, nice aui 

• and red hair. Frank come with him. He said, "Mr. BleCherman 

is my cousin. He comes from -Chicago; he is broke; 

sell his wife's pin; he needs the money. I Said, "All right: 

I knew that Frankie Ritchie. I knew he was an honest man,  

MR. EIDER: I ask that be stricken out. 

an honest man." 

THE COURT: Strike it out. 

Q Go on. A He want to sell his wife's pin. I looked at 

the pin, and asked him how much he wanted for that pin. He said, 

"now much do you appraise that Pin is woith?1, I said, "The pin-

worth over $200.00." He said "I think it is worth more." 



said to Frank, "If you want, I will give you $200.00, and leave 

'me the pin, and I will go tomorrow and examine the pin and if i 
• d 

is worth the money I will pay You." I -said, "leave the pi Frank 

said, "All right, I will come tomorrow for _the $200..00. go to-

morrow to the setter. I took over the goods to him. He appraised 

it, and said it was worth $300.00. I come on back and the people 

oome -- I don't remember the time. He asked me what he said. 

said, "All right. You can get lour couple of hundred dollars. 

Q I don't know whether that is -understood, gentlemen, but 

will try to bring it out clearly. You said to him, "1 will give 

you $200.00"? A Yes, sir. 

And"I will have it appraised"? A yes, sir. 

it. 

Q And if it is worth $300.00 --.AA  (interrupting 

You will pay.him the other $100:00? A And a:hot 

.give him the goods back. 

Q Did you give him $200.00? A Yes, sir, first da 

$200.00. 

Q Did you ever see him before that da 

.This Vito? 

BY THP. COURT: 

Q Before you gave him the -$200.00? (No answer). 

BY MP. LEVY: 

Q Did you ever see him before? A Never in my life. 

Q Never saw him before/ A Never. 

(I Well, now, can you give me an idea what time it was he was 



in your store that morning? 

BY THE COURT: 

Q That time of the day? A It was at dinner time. 

Q That time is that? A Maybe it was twelve or half past 

twelve. 

BY MR. LEVY: 

Aroutd twelve or 'half past twelve o'clock? A ye 

Q Now-, where did you have the $200.00? A jmL the safe. 

Q And during all of this time was that man Ritchie there? A Yes 

.Q When you gave him the money? A I gave the money to Ritchie. 

BY THE COURT: 

q Was Ritchie there? A Sure. 

, BY MR. LEVY: 

Q Then they went away? A Then they go away. 

Q Was the young man well dressed, Vito; was be 

A Yes, sir, with a frtbok coat and a black suit. 

Q And did he oome again the next day? A Yes, 

the next day. 

That time? A The same time, dinner time 

Around dinner time? A Yes, sir. 

• Q That happened then the next day? A He cam Ritchie; he 

said, "What did he say? Did you appriase the pin?" I said, "Ye 

I said"I can give you He said, "How much do you say it is worthTtt 

the three hundred dollars for it." 

Q I want you to tell his Honor, the Judge turn around here 
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to the jury, and tell the jury •what kind ofa pin that was that 

he brought to you? ”A It was a bent pin, -andthree stones was 

missing, and three on this side (indicating) and 'three on the other 

side, and all little diamonds and he was not able to fix 

bring it to the setter to fix it up.; it was broken all ()Ver. 

Q It was bent you say? A Bent allover. 

Q And were any of the stones missing from it? A Three stones 

.What is your idea now of how many stones, diamonds-, were in

that pin? A Small ones. 

Q All kinds? A I not count the small- ones. 

Q I am going to' dhow you a printed pioture, People's Exhibit 

No.2, with your Honor's permission. Now look at that thete 

did the pin look like that, yes or no? A Like that. 

Q Now, you say that there waS some stones miesing from 'that? 

A Yes, sir. 

cl Where from? A The three in the middle yes 

Q Wpre missing -- not in it? A Missing. 

Q Were they in it or not in it? A Was not in. 
04o. 

Q Now, you say it was bent. How do you mean "bent"? A It was 

all bended; it was broken. 

Q Do you remember what kind of setting was in that pin? 'What 

was it platinum, gold or silver, or what? A Platinum. 

Q .Now, did you take that pin when you got it on  ay to any 

one to show it to him? Did you show that pin to some One? A Not 

Sunday, -- Monday. 



Q And did he stay there or go aWay? 'What :did he do? 

go away. 

Q He went aWay? A Yes, sir. 

Q Did they ever show you a watch? A No, sir 

Q Never Showed yoU a watch? A Never. -

Q Did you ever buy a watch from him? A' Never. 

Q I show you People's Exhibit No.2 and ask you Whether you. 

ever bought a watch from him that looked like that, or did he 

Show you a watch that looked like -that? A I never seen such 4 

watch. 

Q You never saw such a watch? A Never. 

Q Did you ever say to him, nI am only a small 'dealer3 and this 

is too big a.thing for me to keep, and I would have to keep it for 

along time until I could get some big dealer to take it, or -some 

private customer, and I would have to make a little profit and they 

yould have to make a little profit, if I took that watch"?. A 

talked with him such a word, 

Q• Now, when you got that pin what did you do with it? A I. 

took it out to the setter, to the diam6nd-setter, and the diamond 

setter took the old stones out, and after I give him stones that 

can sell for $10.00 $20.00 or $3000 --little riggs. 

Q Did you mean that? What did the diamond setter do with it? 

A I gave him settings, and he put the stones in for me. 

q Did you give him settings? A Yes, sir: 

Q And he took th0 stones out of that pin? A Yes, 'but not 

. the same day. 
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Q So as to make articles you could sell for 

$40,00? .A Yea, sir. 

What was the name-ot that setter? A Kaplin. 

• Q This same Kaplin to whom you went to appraise this 

Yes, sir. 

Q Can you tell the jury, how many atticles how .many separate..

pieces, were made out of what was in that'pin? A I mounted' the 

bigger stones and make screw eax;ings, and the little stones, I make. 

out six octagon rings, one stone in the middle and around six and 

I make up the little bigger stones, rings, three stOnes. I cannot 

remember how many rings. I remember I wanted four rings together 

one, day. I wanted one little ring with six stones and another 

with three and two stones, after three days. I look in the windo 

and if I sell a ring for twenty dollars, I want the same ring an 

mark it the same price and put it in the window. It is not a very 

big place. When I put there something - the window is like 

one place - and I see nothing marked there,. I will go and buy a 

hundred or two hundred dollars worth, and I want the same• goods 

I keep it so that the window shall be• dressed. 

Q Now, lisetn to my question. Did you know when YOU boUght 

that pin from ihat man thatthat was stolen? A No, I swear I never 

knew it was stolen goods. 

Q You didn't know it was stolen goods? A No. 

Q Now, I show you two exhibits, marked People's Exhibits No.4 

and No.5, in evidence; are these some of the .goods which were set 

up from the stones that were taken from that pin yes or no? A Yes, 
sir. . 



lbw, the settings which I show you, you gave those to the 

setter? A Yes, sir. 

Q Where do you buy your settings? A I buy settings from 

Leventhal and miter-- buy from what's his name --

Q, Take your time and think? A I buy some from Sam Sutzmann, 

and I buy settings from a manufacturer. 

Q From different dealers? A Yes, sir. • 

• Q You buy platinum settings and gold setting ? A Platinum 

settings .I never buy, because I cannot use platinum settings; 

buy gold settings. 

Q Now, I want to know What  you did with the settings of the 

pin that you took these stones out of? A I sold the platinum 

an office in the Bowery. 

Q Take your time. Don't be nervous. Think whom you sold 

that to? A I forget. 

Don't hurry about it; .think? A I forget his name. 

Cannot you remember it? A I cannot remember it. 

Q Maybe you will remember it a little while,later. 

nervous about it. I will ask you the question later. D 

member how much you got for that setting? _A Bi $ 

• Q How much did you get for it? ,A 07 00 for the' metal, 

Q Well, that"was,according. to what has been sworn to here; 

on the third of March -- the third of March? (No answer). 

Q . When was the next time that you saw the fellow., Vit 

When he came with the detectives. 



• Q They say that was the 21st of April. Do 'you remember what• 

time they came into your place? A About twelve o'clock. 

Q That was on a Saturday night? A Saturday night. 

Q At 'the time that you bought that pin from Vito 

the store? A My wife. 

Q Anyone elSe? A No. 
was, 

Q On the night that you were arrested you say hat/about twelve 

o'clock; is that right? A I was arrested a a little affer twelve 

olelock. 

• 
Q Well, around:twelve O'clock? (No answer). 

Q- .The detective, you saw him on the stand here he came 

Mr. Daly? A Yes, sir. 

Q And who was with him? A There was another fellow 

man. 

You saw him on 'the stand, the tat with the little beard? 

:Yes, sir,- and another one that I seen. On tho_stand7. 

Q This other man that was on the stand 1.  Yes, . 

Q Now, will you tell, and speak lOud-$0,th*6 all these twelve 

-gentlemen can hear what you say -- you tell everything that they said 

to you, and everyting that you said to ,,em? Do you uoderstandm 

question? You understand what I say to lot? 'tOu Should tell what 

happened -there; what they said; what you said; what each one said, 

and everything .that happened that night, that is the night you were 

arrested. Do you understand me. Speak up loud; don't be afraid? 

A This was about twelve o'clock at night; the safe was closed, but 
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have this night a party, a nephew is going to better his 0011Clition 

Q A nephew was what? A That night a nephew of Mine was: 

going to be married-- (the witness said somethintapparently iA 

Yiddish) . 

MR. LEVY: Let me translate it.  See if you can agree 

with me Mr. Eder? 

MR. LEVY (translating) They had a ceremony. 

Q

 

That time did that take place about? A sag past seven; 

this was the wedding; I was there, so met friends there and after 

he came home with me, he was with me in the store at a quarter after 

eleven, then go home. I make the safe closed and I was in the 

back with my wife, to go asleep, and I seen somebody go in the 

. store. I ran inthe store. My wife come in the store,. too, a 

he said "Is your name Blecherman"? I said, Yes. 

know I am a detective? You bought a pin and a watch." 

"I know nothing." He"asked"me, "I show you a picture. 

ed me the picture, and Ike asked me if I not bought it. 

Q Did he show you this picture, People's Exhibit No 

Q He showed you that picture? A yes, sir. 

Q Tell me what he said about it? A He showed me that 

ture. 

•Q What did you say to him? A I don't say nothing; L don't 

know nothing. After he took my wife in the kitehen. 1 don!t know 

what the detective talked to my wife. My wife cm:Lied:me in the 

kitohen.. 



Q Youi wife caaled you in the kitchen.? A lee 

asked me in Jewish (witness said something in Jewish, apparent-

ly) --

MR. LEVY: I will have to translate that. 

"David) perhaps you have bought something"? " 

you bought it, tell it to the detective." 

THE WITNESS: I said I not bought; I don't know what 

you mean." He said, "All right, I will bring you in the 

thief." HOpring the thief in, and I remember that that man 

came with Frankie Ritchie. 

Q You did remember that? ,A- Yes, sir, when I seen him 

from the picture I don t know, because he had red, hair and was 

dressed nice.When he was brought in; he was in a blue suit and 

had black hair. I didn't know him. The picture is not the same 

like the man. 

Q 461 when he came to you to sell the pin? A He had red 

hair. When the detectives bring him in he had black hair. ,an 

a poor suit. 

Q He was poorly dressed? A Yes, sir. 

Q And when he came to you to sell it -- A (Interrupting 

He was dressed like a millionaire, and that man was with •Frankie 

Ritchie. I said "I bought a pin from Frankie Ritchie; that Frank-

is Ritchie said to me, "He is my cousin; he ()cies froda Chicago"—

the same I say now --"he Mlles from Chicago; he is broke, and 

he wants to sell his wife's pin:" 



CoPN 
Q That is what you told the deteotive? A Yes, sir. The 

detective said, "You got the goods from that pin?” I said, "I 

think I have a couple of pieces because I took it off the goods 

because it was several weeks before, three Or four weeks before, 

and I had sold two or three hundred dollars-- I opened the safe 

and the detective saw the. whole goods, rings, single stones, marked 

$50.00, $60.00 and $70.00 and cheap rings from $10.00 to $15.00, 

nI remember that octagon pingoomes from that pin:, I said, Lam sure 

that ring is from the pin." 

Q These two, referring to People's Exhibits Nos. 4 and 5? 

A And that is forom the big stones of the pin. 

Q Go on tell us what else was said? A "Then what dtd you 

do with the watch?" I said, "I don't know what kind of a witch. 

He said, "Where do you keep your old movements?" I said, 

not a watchmaker." I got a store; I take watohes but I give them 

away to repair; when I get odd movements that I cannot fix, 

throw them out. You cannot sell them for ten oents. 

Q That is what you said to them? A Yee, sir. 

Q Now, they took away from you these two articles?' A Y 

cl Exhibits Nos. 4 and 5? A Yes, sir. 

,Q Did the detective say anything to you about signing Your 

name to anything? A Yes, sir. 

Q. Tell the jury what he said' about that?. T was very 

nervous. I write something in the-paper; I cattot.read'or write 

English. .He said, "Well come inside. I.. am sure- you got the watch 

came and signed the naie. 

• 
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q This (indicating) is your name that you signed? A Yes, 

sir. 

Q Referring to People s Exhibit No.6? A Yes, sir. 

Q It was a receipt that he took these goods away - 

gave you a receipt? A I don't know what it was. 

' name. 

Q You were very much -excited? A Excited, and he asked me 

"Tell, sign your name?". 

Q Then they arrested you? A Yes, sir. 

Q And they took you down to Police Headquarters; is. that 

right? A Yes, Sir. 

Speak up a little louder? A I don't know whetter it 

is Police Headquarters he took me. I go with him. Then he put= 

in a "cellar". I laid down; I cannot sleep; I wake up 

I heard "hello", from that man that comes with Frankie-.----

Q Vito? A Yeti, sir. I asked him, "Pleade do it bothet 

me; you make me enough trouble." Hethrew" me words I oannot 

remember. I said, "Please don't bother- with mer I. am not t614-

ing to him any more. 

Q Now, do you know what the word "lenient means? . A 

knew it. 

Q Do you know what the word 

Ilene me, in my place don't come Such people what talk French 

not such words. 

Q Do you know what "valuation° means? A I don't know, 

Q.That is an answer. A (continued) I sell goods, and that 



is all that I know. 

Q In all of these t:ransaotions1 in all  of these things, 

Blecherman, did you know that  you was dealing with a -thief? 

A Never in my life. 

Q Never knew that? A Never. 
MR. LEVY: You may cross-examine. 

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. EDER: 

Mr. Bleoberman, do you know the valiie of diamonds?. A NO. 

Did you understand my question? (No answer). 

Did you understand my question? A The value? 

Did you understand my question? A The VT100 

You know what value is? A Yes sir. 

And you know what valuation is? A No. 

You know what value is? A Value -- I use i 
kck 

Now, you say you knew a man by the name of Frankie Ritohi 

A Yes, sir. 

Q And you have known him for five years? A Yes, sir. 

Q Were you ever at Frankie Ritchie's house? A I never was 

there. 

Q Just answer my question. Were you ever there? A No. 

Q Did you ever see Frank Ritchie's wife? A Yes, sir; one 

time in my store. 

Q How long ago? A That is ,two years; he bought from me 

a wedding ringl 

Q He told you he was going to get married?A Yee,.



Q Did he pay you for it? A. Sure. 

Q Did he have any charge account in your place? 

Q Did you ever trust him? A Never. 

Q Did you ever deliver any goods to his house? A Neirer. 

Q How did you know where he lived? A I knew before he )41res 

with his mother; it was in 1892, in Second 'Avenue, but when he go 

married I don't know where he lived with his wife. 

Q You say he was married two years? A- Yes, sir. 

Q During those two years how. many times had you seen him? A 

One time he comes to the store; he has got an old Betting; he wants 

a new setting. ,I make ,for him a new setting. 

• Q .How long ago was that? A Two years and a half, 

Q That is, before he got married? A Yes, Sir, sure.. 

Q When last did you see him after that?' A After that he 

one time to buy a marriage ring, and about nine and a half months 

before he left me a gold watch to fix it, and then he comes with that 

man, to sell "it". 
Q He left you a gold watch to fix? A Yes, sir, and I got 

watch in my, place. When he came to me the watch is not good and 

dontt keep time good. 

cl You said the watch didn't keep time good? A I clannot give 

the watch to him; it was bad -- fast. 

Q• You had had it nine months in your place? A It was all right 

when he comes -- he give me the watch to fix. 

'Q You -said he gave you the watch nine months before? A Nine 

months before, and Frankie gave me a gold watch to fix. 
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Q Before when? Before this time. 

Q. Do you remember the month? A It was the month before 

March. 

Q In February? A In February. 

Q Was that a month before you bought this jewelry? A Well/ 

three weeks; I cannot remember exactly. 

Q How long was the watch in your place? A I got it now. 
(4; 

How long was the watch in your place before you say ha came 

there with Dominick Vito? A It was about three weeks. 

Q And during that time was.the watch fixed? :A The watch was 

fixed. He asked me, "did you regulate the watch?" I said "I don 

know if it keeps, good time, and I will keep it and regulate i 
Oft 

you take it. 

Q And that is the only time you saw him since the time he 

bought the marriage ring? A I see him when he gave 110B the watch 

to fix. 

Q I am saying the time he gave you the watch to fix? A Yes 

Q Then you say he came in with this 2nan'VitC1 A Us sir.. 

This is your business card, isntt it (showing witneaa the 

card) A Yes, sir. 
• 

MR. EDER: I offer it 'in evidence, except the writing.011. 

MR.LEVY: Nothing on the back? 

MR, EDER: .No 

MR. LEVY: There is.no objection. 

(The card referred to was received it. evidence 

PeoPlels Exhibit No.?). 



Q.Do you keep any books vf-:accpunt? 

j/D you till:St any customers? A Yes, Six.' 

Q Keep their. names in your: books? A Yes,- Sir, sure. 

Q DO you deal in diamonds? :A Yes sir. 

Q How long have you been dealing in diamonds? A About 

.years 

You don't say anything on your card about-thatr'A No, 

because --

Q What? A I got in the window a. sign, '"Diamonds . watches 

and jewelry." 

Q. Where do you, buy your diamonds? A I bought from Sam 

Sutzmann, and I bought from Landau, and Sometimes I buy from 

enthal a.ha Thieler; that is three people IHbuy:from, 

.Did you ever buy any diamonds fromman pasei#gon the. 

street and who came into. your place? A Never.,, 

Q You never bought any diamonds' unless you bOught.them.froM 

some established firm? A I buy sometimes from men that  knew. 

in the neighborhood.-- I knew. him good, because I lived there 

years, and 'I know moat of the people in the neighborhood. 

Q Did you make any entries in any books of what you bu: 

them? A No.' 

DoWt you know that the law T.P4Wirts IFOU to make 

entry?* 

MR. LEVY: I ob.ject to that. It oea'not. o 

MR. EDER: It does. 

Q DO you know it requires You to  make an entry of any such 



MR. LEVY: I object. 

THE COURT: I will allow it. 

MR. LEVY: It is not a statement of 

THE COURT: I will allow the question and get 

MR. LEVY: As to whether the law requires it? 

THE COURT: Yes. 

MR. LEVY: Exception. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q, Do .you know whether or not the law requires you to have 

a book containing the entries 'of purchases made by you from jewelers -

MR. LEVY: Do you understand that question. 

THE COURT: Put the question along those lines. 

BY MR. EDER: 

Do you know whether the law requires you to make an entry of 

purchases that you make of all secondhand jewelry or diamonds? 

MR. LEVY: I object to that as not competent, relevant or  

material. 

THE COURT: I will allow it. 

MR. LEVY: Exception. 

THE COURT: If he does not understand the question, t 

• Interpreter will'put it to him in his own.language. 

(The Interpreter then put the question to the witness). 

A (Through the Interpreter., William Landau, one of the Official'in-

t rpreters) No. sir. - 



filY THE COURT: 

Q You don't know? You never heard of that? A No 

didn't hear that. I know that a pawnbroker his .•••• 

Q Not a paivnbroker, a second-hand dealer? A No, sir; net 

jewelry stores. About three or four months •ago, I heard that 

every jewelry store was to have a license when you buy something,. 

but before I never heard this. 

BY.MR. EDER: . 

Q Then you do know there is such a law? A' didn't know; 

now I know. 

Q I asked you that? A Non I know'? cannot -be without a -

license. 

Q You answered to the Judge, you said only pawnbrokers are 

required to have such a license? -A Now ,I must have a license 

when I buy something, and I have to write in .the. book. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q YOu mean now that you cannot engage in the 'business of 

buying -secondhand goods, unless you have a license, and that the 

law required you to make an entry of your yurchasee?•A Yes a 

Q But you didn't now it at the time that this man 

in to your place? A Yes, sir. 

BY MR. EDER: 

Q Have you such a license now? A No. 

.Q You don't buy any of that stuff now, do you?. A No. 

Q When did you stop buying second-hand-stuff? A I never 

T-tilly some times from 'a neighbor who opines in T don't buy 

• 
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from people I don t kno*. 

A; Do you still buy such stuff from neighbors? 

in the- same block. 

Q And you don't make any entries in the book? A Sometimes 

a man comes in my store and says "I have got a chain, an old style 

chain, I want a new chain?" I give him a new Chain. He pays thet 

difference, how much it comes to. 

Now, you are .pretty good judge of diamonds, aren't you 

A W. 

0 Are you a judge of good work? A No. .  

Q You are not? A No. 

Q When Vito came into your place you say he had red. hair 

Yes sir. 

• Q And he showed you a diamond bar pin? A Yes, 

Q And Frankie Ritchie as you call him, the 

here, introduced you to him, and said that his wife 

A No; "That is my cousin; he comes from Chicago. 

Q He comes from Chicago? A "He is broke and he 

his wife's pin." 

Q What did you say? A •I "asked" him "All right. Show me the 

pin?" 

Q Where did he have the pie A It was at dinner time. 

Q

 

Where did he have the pin? A In the pocket. 

Q He took out the pin from his pocket? A lee, six. 

Q And he showed it to you? A Yes, sir.. 
• 
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Q Did he ask you. what was the value of it? A 

He said, "I think the pin is worth 050.00. 

Q He said, "What is the value of this pien 

how much it is worth that pin. A I said 050.00. 

Q You told him 050.00? A  Yes, sir. 

Q Did you examine it? A Yes, sir, I looked at 

sure. 

Q Did you use any glasses? A Yes, sir. 

Q That diamond dealers use in examining pins? A 

Q What part of the store was it that you examined i in front 

or in the back of the store? A In the front, by the window. 

Q Right near the window? A Yes,(sir. 

Q Your wife was there? A Yes, sir. 

Q Did your wife look at the pin? A No; she saw the pin 

after When Ritchie with the other fellow had gone away I'shOwed- to 

her the pin.. 

Q Your wife is in business with you? A Yes, sir. 
, • 

Q In business all day, helping you? A Yes, sir. 

Q Did you show her thepin while the two Men you claim were 

present? A No, when the men goes, away. 

Q Why didn't you.show the pin to her while hey were.there? 

A She don't know anything; I don't know so much and she don't 

know nothing. 

.(Z You say the pin was bent? A Bent. 

Q How was it bent? A I will show you (illustrates) This 

"gallery" works it comes very thin in the middle,_ and if you bend 



it like this (illustrating), you can bend the whole 

That (indicating) is only fancy work but very thin. 

Q Did you ask him how he bent it? A He said, 

and I want to sell it." He said he broke the pin, 

Q Did you ask him how it ,got broke? A I didn 

question. 

Q Did you ask him haw long lit was that he had 

A No, att. 

Q Did you ask him whether 3)46„, pi 11' belong0 to 

A Yes, sir. 

Q What did he say? A Yes, sir. 

Q Did you. ask -him whether his wife gave him permission 

the pin? A No. 

Q Did ydu tell him that he could go to the pawnshop? A No sir.? 

Q. How many diamonds were in the centre of that? A In The centre 
a 

was/place, for nine diamonds. Three stones were missin 

straight. 

You are telling us three stones were missing because You know 

these three are the large stones? A I don't know whether large. 

stones or small btones. 

Q Don't you know? A T see there was a little bigger place, 

but I don't know the sizes of the-fftones that were there. 

You knew then -- A (Interrupting) Some people say, "take. 

three stones of a pin" -- you .want to Make it A nice pin. 

Q I am saying to you now: ' don't. You -know that there were 

stones there? A I know thethree stones were better, .becau 



were bigger. 

Isn't that the reason you are telling this jury that these 

three stones were missing, so as to impress them that the pin was. 

, worth much less? 

MP. LEVY: 'Do you know what "impress" mean's? 

THE COURT: MT. Levy, I must insist that you do n t 

terrupt.The witness is able to take care of himself. If he 

does not understand the question, he may Say so. Please 'do 

do it again. You were allowed to examine the Witness with-

out being interruppted. 

MR. LEVY: I didn't 'mean to 

THE COURT: We don't care what you meant. What you dos' 

is what I am concerned with. 

MP. LEVY: Of course your Honor Appreciates 

THE COURT: I understand that, Mr. Levy, but you must 

strain yourself.On redirect examination you may ask any 

tion you please. Please do not offend again-

. MP. EDER: I withdraw that question. 

Q Now, do you know that diamonds are sOld by the *Cara 

they? A Yes, sir. 

Q You know there is a market value for diamonds? 

much because when I buy diamonds OM, MOP 

Q Is there a market value for WOO MN* 

THE COURT: Mr. Eder, let him finish his. answer. 

.A (continued) When'I want to buY diamonds -- when I oome 



two or three hundred,dollars'of diamonds. IA.eal with you and 

two other people; when I take diamonds from you, I go to these 

other people, and ask if these stones are worth three hundred 

dollars. If that man says, "All right", I buy. When I buy from 
' • ' 

that. man, I go to another man. I never buy diamonds of diamond 

dealers; 

MR. EDER: I move to strike the answer out as not 

responsive. 

THE COURT: Strike it out.. 

A (Interrupting) Now; the diamonds are dearer than before. 

BY THE COURT: . 

Q• The question is, do you know whether or not that diamonds 

have a regular value in the market? A No; neVer knew that 

Q You don't know anything about the value of diamonds in the 

market? A I know I buy diamonds, but I don't know value.

' BY MR. EDER: - 
Q That do you pay for a carat? A That is, because 

not perfect goods. I buy diamonds, I pay a hundred dollars 

carat; I'pay $120.00, the diamonds that I buy in the stock; I buy 

sometimes a "centre"; I cannot pay 4140.00 a carat. Everybddy* 

up there likes cheap goods. 

Q When you go into the market, when you go to 'the different 

stores to buy diamonds, you know that each one has a certain pride 

per carat for a diamond;* isn't that right? AL What .do you mean?' 

Q I mean when you go into a store and he sows 'you a perfect 
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diamond it has a certain value? A yes, sir. 

Q It has a market value; is that right? A Yes sir, 

Q And if he shows you an imperfect diamond that has a 

value so much per carat; is that correct? A Yes, Sir. 

Q You say that you examined the diamonds in this pin 

through a glass? A Yes, sir. 

Q A glass used by diamond dealers? A Yes, sir. 

Q They were perfect, lweren't they? A It waa Perfeo 

and there was a couple of stones not perfect. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q Well, the stones that were left, there were six d 

monde there were they perfect or not? A Four were perfect, 

. and two were d'little bit imperfect. 

BY MR. EDER: 

Q The four that were perfect will you tell us the sizeM 

A. Two were over three-quartezs of a carat -- I cannot remember 

exactly the two of them -- the other one was I think about five.!.. 

eighths, the two, and the last ones I cannot remember. r think 

they would both weigh about forty point, or a little more. 

Did you mark the weight down anywheree on apiece Of 

paper, or in a book? A When I put on the stones. 

Q Did you mark it down anywheres? A No. 

Q How is it you remember so distinctly the'wight og those 

stones? A Then I -put stones in the settings, then I .get out 

the same pair; I know I marked them in the window at twenty 

per cent more,cand I know show much I can sell them for, because 



,I have not so much earrings for one size, for one measure. 

-t; That was on Sunday, wasn't it, when they camp in?- A yes. 

Q. Do you do much business on Saturdays? A The best busi 

ness. 
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Q What is your average income a week? What was your'aver-

age income a week, during the month of March, 1917? 

MR. LEVY: I object to that as immaterial, irrelevant 

incompetent. 

THE' COURT: Well, he means from his business there. 

has a right le ask that question. 

A How much business I do in the month of March? 

On an average how business did you do a week during tht 

month of March? A Sametimes I do four hundred a week, sothetimes 

six hundred dollars a week. 

Q, Do you keep a bank account? A _A cheok accOun . 

Q What bank do you belon°g to? A Produce Exchange Sank 103rd, 

Street and First Avenue. 

Q That is right near your plaoe of business? A. Yee, s 

Second Avenue. 

Q You make deposits every day? A Not every day. Sometimes 

when I be short of money, I have to make good a check, and how much 

I got I pay in. When the checks are good,then I not pay In so much 

money. 

Q How much money did you have in your safe that Sunday? A I 

had a little less than four hundred dollars. 



gi You had that in your dafe? A Yes, sir. 

Q Didn't -you go the bank on Monday morning, on March, 5th, 

and draw one hundred dollars in cash? A No, sir. 

Q You didn't do that? A No. 

Q Did you take all that money in on the Saturday? Did you 

take all that money in on the Saturday before you bought the pdn? 

A I sell one stone for *150.00. 

Q To whom did you sell it? A I cannot remember the pm 

Q -You don't sell very many diamonds for $150.00 each? A 

Ye's, sir, I sell ---

Q How many diamonds a week do you sell for $150.00 eabh? 

A Sometimes I sell four when I got them, not in stook. ,A man. 

comes in for one, and then I telephone down town to send me a 

stone, and I ask the customer to come in one hour after, and I 

get the goods. He comes back in one hour, and I make ten dollars 

profit. Last week I sold three stones in one day. 
% 

Q You say you cannot give Us the name of the man t 

you say you sold a stone for $150.00? A No. 

Q Did you mark down his name anywheres? A. No, 

Q What else did you sell that Saturday, the Saturday be-

for you bought this diamond bar pin? A I sold a watch and 

chain for $55.00. I sold two locketehains for $12.00 each, and 

I cannot remember what I sold besides. This is about eight 

months; I cannot remember. I remember_I sold one diamond, 

big stone on Friday, but mostly in this neighborhood ,Saturday an 



Sunday is the best two days that you make. business. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q Is it against the law to keep open on Sinadayl 

all the store's is open. 

Q Is it against the law to keep open on Sunday? 

-stores is open --

Q You do. not keep Saturday as the Sabbath?  A 'I keep oPe 

all the time. 

Q Every day in the week, Saturdays included? A Yes,tii 

seven days. 

Q.. You cuetot open specially thatilay to buy that pin? 
sirs I swear;I keep open to make a living. 

Q You were opened for everybody? A Yes, sir. 
BY MR. EDER: 

Q .You testified here that the Sunday. 'you- bought this article: 

was a very bad day; it was dark and rainy; bow do you remember OA 

so distinctly? A Because I go to the window to look at the goods. 

It was a dark day; you 6auld not see anything. 

Q You' go th the window very often? A, :Yes, sir,, but when. it 

is .a nice day you can see good. 

Q yore there any other bad 'Sundays that month; T mesn dark 

Sundays? A Tea, sir. 

Q That is there that impresses itself onyour.mind that that. 

Sunfflay was a vers- dark Sunday? A T know it was dirk; it was all 

day raining and snowing like Winter; I remember good. that day. 

BY THE COURT: 

q That is, the day you were arrested -or -the dex_ 



boUght the goods? A. The day I bought'the goods. 

The day that you were arrested it was raining, too 

the day I was arrested was nice weather. 

Q Didn't one of the officers say that a man had a raincoat? 

A Yes, sir. 

THE COURT: I don't see that the weather has anything 

to do with it at all. 

MR. LEVY: I inquired as to the condition of the weather, 

and the thief said that he could not remember what kind-of a 

day it was. 

BY MR. EDER: 

Q Do you remember Vito showing yau a watch? A No 

Q NSver showed you a watch? A Never. 

Q Did you ever have ani- trouble with Vito in your lifebefore 

this? A Never in my life. 

Q Did you ever have any trouble with Frank Ritchie? A Never. 

Q Have you. see Frank Ritchie since then? A since I was ar-

rested? 

Q Yes, A No, not at all. 

Q Does any one call you by the name of "Sam"? 

becautle everybody up there knows my name. 

BY THE COURT: 

IQ What is your name? A David Blecjezman. 

Q David, not Samuel? A Not Samuel: 

BY MR. EDER: 

Q Do you know any other Franks outside of Frank Ritchie? * • 



Q Do You know any other one? A I know the mother, 

Q Do you know any man named Frank outside of Frank RitChie? 

Al swear I don .t 

Q You are swearing all the time you are under oath. Do you 

know while you are sitting there, you are under oath, and you 

are alwaIs swearing; do you know that? (No answer). 

Q Did you know any Frank who was in the Tombs and was 

rested? A No. 

Did you know any one else of Frank Ritchie's family outside 

of his mother? A No. 

Q When have you seen his mother last? A His 

it is four years already. 

Q Four years his mother is dead? A Yes, sir, it maybe 

three and a half; I cannot tell or remember exactly.• 

Q And you said that two years ago Frank Ritchie lived mtth 

his mother? A No; I not said that. 

Q At 1882? A No, I know his mother lived 

Frink live there. 

Q Where does Frank live? A I don t know where'he liVes.' 

I know that four or five years ago when he was a small boy he live 

' there with his mother; I know him from the neighborhood because 

he sometimes come in the store. 

Q He' didn't come there for four or five years? *A Yee sir. 

Q After she died he didndlt come with her? A No. 

Q And you say she is dead four years? A .Three and a -half; 

I cannot remember how long she is dead. 

other has died; 
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Q When you take -anything to fix, you take the man s name, 

,don't you? A Yes, sir. 

Q* You take his address? A No, I dolt take the address: 

I got tickets. 

Q Don't you take the manta address when he leaves some-

thing with you to be fixed? A No, because I buy tickets;  it is 

a double number. When a man gives me a watch to fix, I give to 

the man that pieoe. When the man comes and takes off the job, 

have to have him give me the same number that I ,got; that is all 

.Q Now, you never had any trouble with police officer Daly, 

did you? A No. 

Q You never had any trouble with Mr. Dennison, the house 

detective of the McAlpin Hotel, did. you? A No. 

Or the other detectivep that was in youx .place?. A No. 

Q Do you remember when they came in the first time in your 

plaoe of business, the deteotives? A Yes, sir. 

• Q Do you remember officers Daly and Dei.-son comeing in 

first, officer Daly and the man with the little beard? A Yes sir.. 

Q You were in the store? A Yes, sir. 

Q The store was lit? Was the store lit?- A Only ono lamp. 

Q The door was not looked? A Not looked, but closed. 

Q They came in? A When I goto sleep look the door. 

Q They came in? A Yes, sir. 

.And the first thing he said was °I am a deteotive; is tha 

right? A Yes; six. 

1, • 

At 



Q Were you frightened when he said-that?. 

Q Were you afraid when he said that? A No 

I said "I don't know what'you got to come to me". 

Q You had nothing to be afraid:of? A No; I stayed•urk-

til twelma o'clock. 

Q Were you afraid? A I was not afraid. 

Q You was not afraid? A No. 

You were not airaid of the detectives? A Not afraid 

the detectives. 

a watch?" 

Then he said to you, "Have you bought a diamond pin and 

and he mentioned the diamond pin or three hUndred 

dollars, didn't he? A Yes, sir. 

Q Mentioned three hundred dollars? A Yes, 

Q Did you ever in your life -- A (Interrupting) He didn't 

ask me the price, three hundred dollars, but "Did you buy a diamdn'd 

pin"? 

Q He didn't say anything about the price; he 

bar pin? .A Yes, sir. 

-Q Did you ever buy any other diamond biir pin before? A No s 

Q That was the only diamond bar pin you ever bought? A Tee, 

sir. 

Q And when he asked you the first- tizne "Did yon.buy a diamond 

bar pin?" you said, "I know nothing!? A I know nothing. 

•Q Is that right? A Yes, sir. 

Q That is correct, isn't it? A 1 didn't now what he mean 



; 

•-•q •When the detective came in and asked you whether You 

bought _a diamond bar pin, you said you didn't know, A He-tiacoki 

me the picture. He asked me "Did you buy ,a, pin like this?" 

• BY THE COURT: 

CI What did you aay to him? That is the question. 

• asked him; 'asked "I not bought it." 

Q You mean you told him you had not bought-suoh a pin? A 

Yes, sir. 

BY MR. EDER: 

Q Before he showed you the picture, ,he said, "Did You buy 

a bar pin?" A Had I bought a pin; not a bar Pin. 

'Q And you said., "I didn't"? A Yes, sir.- 

Q Then he .showed you this 'picture, showing People's Exhibit 

_NO.2, in evidence; that is right; isn't it? A Yes, sir. 
- 

.Q And you said you didn't buy such a pin? -'11 Yea, 

Q He also asked you abOut the watch, didn't he? 'A 

Q And you said that you didn't buy such a watch?' 

Q And then you .say the detective took your wife into the back 

room and spoke to her? A Yes, sir. 

Q And that your wife then came out to you, and said, 

if you bought it, why don't you tell the truth to the detective?'" 

that right? A Yes, sir. 

q Your wife was in there when you bought it, You claim? 

A Yes, sir. 

And she knew' you bought it? A •Sure',.ehe knew. She asked 



. ?•;kk 
% $ 

0 

151 

• like this, "Maybe this pin that you bought frbm Frank?“ 

Q You didn't say that on direct examination,: when Mr., 

asked you the question? (11b answer). 

Q You didn't say anything about your wife saying that to you, 

on directexamination? A This is right; I said it. 

_ Q When She said that to you, did you tell the detective you 

had a pin? A What? 

Q When she said, "Maybe that is the pin you bought from Frank? 

did you tell the deteotive? A When she asked, "Is this the Tp&fl 

you bought from Frank? " I said, "Yes, I bought a pin but not from 

that man. 

Q Didn't you tell this jury that you neveradmitted buying 

-pin until the thief was brought into your place? , A Yes, sir. 

Q What do you mean by saying that you. did say that to the de-

tective, "I bought -a pin but not from this man"? A When he brings 

the thief in the store, he asked me, "Did you buy from that tail a 

pin?" I said "From that man I not bought it. 1: bought. it. from his 

friend, Frankie Ritchie." 

Q Your wife was taken into the back room by this detective 

before the thief was brought in; is that right? A Yes, six. 

.Your wife came out to you and told you, 10avid maybe you 

did buy something?" or, as you say now, "Maybe, that i3 he -pin you. 

bought from Frank Ritchie." That was before the thief was brought 

in? A At the same time the thief comes in, at the same time, 

'come to the door and the thief was in, 



Q Didn't you answer Counsel's question, your lawyer's que 

tion, when your wife said that to you, that your answer to your 

wife was, "No, I didn't buy anything." Didn't you say that -_to 

that you didn't buy anything? Did you say that to your 

Q Don't you understand that question? A I understand. 

q Your wife said to you, "Maybe that is the pin you bought 

from Frank? Didn't you say "Ho, I didn't buy anything"? A 

Ho; I said -I bought it; I bought that pin. The thief just came 

in the store, and I was in the back of the store. 

Never mind what the thief or the detective was doing. 

pin I bought from Frank Ritchie?" 

Thy did you say so on your direct 

ii Lrvy:. I beg your pardon --

THF CODPT: The jury will be guided by their own re°-, 

-ollection of the testimony. rhatglis said is perpetdated 

.for eve- and if they, the jurors, want it read they can have 



Then they can determine how much weight give 

to it  That is the law. r was merely trying to help out 

by putting a few questions perhaps a little plainer. The wit-

ness said he did not understand Mr. Eder. If you (address-

ing the witness) want an interpreter you kay have him. If you 

don't understand English, you can testify in the language  you 

know best because there is no desire to take advantage of y011!, 

*You understand that. But everything you know you must tell. 

.THE WITNESS: I tell it. 

THE COURT: If you want the Interpreter, you may 

speak to him in Jewish or Russian, or any language you like. 

If you wish to speak in English you may. 

MP. LEVY: Do you know .what an Interpreter is? 

(No answer).: 

THE COURT: He knows what an Interpreter. is. He will 

merely repeat to you whatever Mr. Eder says, and then he will. 

tell the jury whatever you say. Understand that, without any 

change or modification. New, youspeak only to him, and speak 

in Yiddish only, so that you will be absolutely certain to say 

what you mean. 

(The testimony from now on of this witness is given 

through the official Interpreter, Mr. Landau, unless otherwise. 

stated). 

BY MR. EDER:. 

-Q Now, didn't the police officers after you denied any knolledg 
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• of that pin and after your wifettquestion to you, didn't they then 

show you this picture, and asked you whether you remembered this 

man, and asked you whether he had sold you a pin?. A Nobody can-

recognise him. 

THE COURT: Strike out the answer. Repeat the question 

to him. Tell him that his answer is not responsive. 

A I didn't buy. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q You didn't buy a pin from the man represented by that pic-

ture? A No, sir. 

BY MR. EDER: 

Q And then it was that the man with the beard that came with 

the detective, Daly, brought the thief in; is that correct? A 

Yes, sir. 

Q Didn't he have red hair when he was brought in then? A Bo; 

he had black hair. He had the hair same as yours meaning myself 

(the Interpreter's), perhaps a little lighter. 

Q You recognised him, didn't you? A No, sir. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q When he was brought in, didn't you recognise him as the man 

who came in with Frank? A No, sir. 

BY MR.EDER: 

Q And lathy did you at onoe, after he was brought in and spoke 

to you, say, "Yes, I did buy the pin from him"? A It is not 

so.. When he brought him in, he *said, "Not he alone EKO.dme the-
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pin,. but another man that was with him." 

Q Who said that? A The detective. 

Q Which detective said  that "Va'alone sold you the pin 

somebddy else that was with him'? A Daly. 

Q When was that? While thethief was in your place? A Yes, 

sir. 

Q So that when he came in, •you didn't at once admit that he 

was the man that sold you the pin, did you? A No, sir, because 

I didn't recognise him. Then he added that there were two of 

them, and I said, "This is probably the man who was with Frank.* 

Q Was your wife in the store? A Sure. (In English). 

Did she tell you that she :recognised hie A No, sir. 

• Q And did detective Daly then ask yo you did with the 

watch? A Yes, sir, I answered, "I didn't see any watch. 

Q Did you know what,watch.he had reference to? A He'showed 

me the picture.. 

• Q Didn't you tell officer Daly and officer Dennison that you 

broke that watch? A No, sir. 

Q And didn't you tell them that you took the works and threw 

them into the scrap pail, yes or no? A No, sir. 

Q Wasn't it then that detective Lowenthal, the onlytraitteh. 

detective there spoke up and said that works of that kind from ---

from a watch -of-that kind, you would not throw, away? A He didalt. 

say so. 

Q Now, yes or no. A He asked me where did you dispose of 

the movements that you had. 



Q. And. wasn't it in answer to that yousaid„ Well lam 

watchmaker*? A And the question, 'Where are the old movements 

I told him °I am not a watchmaker; I threw them out; I have no 

use for them.' 

CI And your card has on it °D. Blecherman, Watchmaker and 

Jeweler," and' you are no watchmaker? A Well, if you would open 

a similar store, you would have the same inscription on the card. 

Q Do you keep a steady man to fix your watches? A I have 

not got much work. A man comes nights; he mends the clocks; he 

repairs the clocks and the watches he takes home. as many as I have, 

three or four, and he takes them home, and the next day he brings 

them back. 

Q Do you keep a scrap pail where you throw scraps in? A I 

show it to the watchmaker. If he tells me the movement can be fixei 

up, I goes over it; if not I throw it away; sometimes it is rusty 

or broken. 

Q Now, do you remember when you wire taken to Police Headquar-

ters? A Yes, sir. 

Q When you were arrested? A Yes, sir. 

Q And did Dominick Vito shout across to you, "Sam, I want to 

talk to you?" A Maybe he did. 

Well, didn't you hear him call you? A I heard him say, 

*Reno." 

Q How do you know he meant you? A I could not sleep. I 

walking around; he was right opposite me by the gate. He threw 



over

—

over an orange or an apple at Me. He told me, "eat it." I answered 

'him, "Don't bother me; I have enough trouble without you. 

Q What did he ask you when you said you have got enough trouble 

without hiM? A "If you would not have told the whole story, you 

would notnhave been arrested." I told him "Leave me alone." That i 

all the conversation I had with him. He kept on talking, shouting. 

Q How did he call you, Blecherman or David? A "Hello. 

Q Do you remember him saying to you, ".If you give the watch 

back the Judge will be lenient with me"; do you remember him saying 

that? A No, sir. 

Q And thqn he said to you that you will get a suspended sent-

ence from the Judge if you will give it back? A This he told me 

in the store. I -bald him "What kind of watch have I got?" 

Q What did you mean by a "suspended sentence"? A I give you 

my word of honor, I don't know the meaning; I never have been arrest-

ed. 

• Q Why do you say then that hp said that to you inlour'store? 

A He said something, but I don' -p know what he meant  by it,4.but T t 

him --

•Q Didn't you say to him, "I am in trouble myself, and I wont 

tell you where.I sold it, because I don't want to put. any one else 

trouble"? • A I did not 

Q How many pins or earrings. in all did you make out of that 

bar pin? A I remember for sure that I made three Pairs of screw. 

earrings. I mounted three or four rings, finger rings and one °eta-

Ii 



gon out of he inIMI1 stones, aud. also mai cm 

out of the bigger one. 

Q, I show you Peoples "gmbfbit Fo..4„ inL evilenae-

you whether this comes out of the 4;771.1 or the "Pwrae .altrxmeV. 

From the small stones in the corners_ 

Q There were ninteen on. each e..*rde wer4 there 1:E't Ctr tfr, 

small ones? A There were only two of -the same utrrrE„ 

corner ' The others were small, very Sn'rril  

Q That did you make out of the very grwarr (=rasa 

Octagon rings. 

Q Did the police officers as  you ta ?thom  tficose 

different articles? A Yes, sir.. 

Q And you could not give Min a. sirree t=.1 vercim 

sold any of those arttkcies, could yam? Wczs rif yt:E=..atztr...a7 

buy I would not ask you where you 

Q But you asked Frank Ritchie four m-rif     aiip 'afoul 

he lived, didn't you? A I didnet ask T-r177r; E kram 5..t; E Pune 
his mother. 

MR. EDER: That is RIT  

MP. LEVY: That is R.T..1  

MORRIS LANDAli, callea a3 witxrc-----s 

defendant, being first citr7y sworn, testified s f 

(Address: 600 West 174th Street, Mew Tar& GitFD-

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY HP. LEVY: 

Q Mr. Landau, where do you live? A am 
Q NOW you try and help me.. 7a3lz.. tut sz 

• I 
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Q You. are a neighbor of his? A • was, not mow. 

Q You were a neighbor of his? A Yes six. 

How long have you known him? A Going on nine years. 

' Q And do you know other people that know him? A Sir? 

Q Do you know other people that know him? A Yes air. 

Q How closely have you lived to his place? A He lived on 

the ground floor;• I lived on the second. 

Q For how many years? A Over four years. 

Q Do you know what his reputation in the community is for 

honesty and truthfulness? A From the time I knew him? 

Q Yes. A I never knew anything against the .man. 

Q Is it good or bad? A Good. I never saw anything wro4g 

In his place, as long as I knew him. 

MP. LFVY: You may examine. 

MP. EIDER: No questions. 

JAMES CARLI N, called asawitness on behalf of the de 

fendant, being first duly' sworn, testified as follows= 
(Aadress: 428 East 83rd Street, New York City). 

BIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. LEVY: 

Q And what is your business, Mr. Carlin? A I work fo 

New York Telephone Company. 

Q That position do you occupy? -A Assistant store keeper. 

Q I didn't hear you? ,A Assistant store keeper. 

Q How long have you been employed by the Telephone: Company? 

A Going on twenty-eight years. 

Q Twenty-eight years? A Yes, sir. 
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1iays said he was a nice Man; that is all. 

41 You didn't know what was meant by .a "nice man"?.A I 

could mot say more than an honest upright man. 
- 

BY IT. LEVY: 

Q They said he was an honest, upright man? A Yes, sir. 

MP. LEVY: That is all. 

L 'DISE LEICHTLEIN, called asawitness on be-

half of the defendant, being first duly sworn, testified as 

follows: (Address: 318 East 93rd Street, New York City 

TaPECT EXAMIWATION BY MP. LEVY: 

tz Madam, how long have you liVed where you now live? A Two 

years. 

Q And before moving to where you are, where did you live? 

In the house where Mr. Blecherman is living. 

Q There was that, please tell me? A 1956 Second Avenue. 

Q And what floor did you live on? A On the top floor. 

Q And he lived where? A On the ground floor. 

Q And be had a store there? A He had a store there. 

Q Do you know his wife? A Yes, sir, his wife I know. 

Q And his children? A Yes, sir. 

Q And of course you know other people that know him? A J do 

q, Madam, do you know what his reputation is as. far as honest 

is concerned, Qr his truthfulness; 'do you know what it j? itHis 

putation was good. 



Q And, he was wefl saken, at"bi 

well spoken an. by ev.uz,g.tad-z* r iczazr. 
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Q How long did youl tPra.-it bxnam- gt 

Q With your f'ffirciTyZLi Wtta, Ltr   

Q That is a teneraent house ,„ T-paret ilt.177.- fr--lf-.4;  

Q Haw mauy fRnrii T La ti-rF=tz trszuzeZ 77-7-6.- tam  t`Fir-7-1 ""';  

on each floor„ and. it is fan= fj   
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tion was fine.. 

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY IS. 

Q Did you ever speak ta 1Tiorr=-Potrr  

to him? -A Well, r tR:17 Trek ta vtrTre=n- r 

living there., 

Q- • He -understood you. F.-re  

English?. A Yes, sir. • 

BY MP. Lit;vx: • 

Q Did. he speak English orGermare r 

German. 
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How longhave you known him? A About. ten years, 

Q Do you know other people that know. him? A 713114. I think 

I do. 

Q And do you know, Mr. Fine, what his reputation in this com-

-munity is for honesty and truthfulness? A Well, I know him as 

an honest man. 

Q Is it good or bad? A Always good with me. 

Q Always good with you? A Yes, sir. 

MR. LEVY: That is all. 

MR. EIDER: No questions. 

A 

J OH N TOBIN, called asawitness, on behalf of the de—

fendant, being first duly sworn, testified as follows:, 

(Address: 1825 Second Avenue, New York City). 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MP. LEVY: 

Q Mr. Tobin, will you do me the favor to talk loud, please 

A All right. 

Where do you live? A 18.25 Second Avenue, 

Q And what is your business? A Well, I am working inthe T 

•Grand Central Depot. 

Q And how long have you worked there? A For the past. 

going on about seven years now. 

Q Qo you know this defendant, David Bleoherman? A I dol 

yes, sir. 

Q How long have you known him? A About nine years. 

Q Are you a neighbor of his? A I live next door to him: 

CVI3 

Ji 
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for about two years, and I have known him since then. That i 

live three or four blocks from him now. 

And now you only live three or four blocks away? A Yesos 

Q. You know his family? A Yes, sir, I do. 

Q You live up in that neighborhood? A I lived next door 

to him for two years. 

(4 How long have you lived up there? A For the past seven-

teen or eighteen years. 

Q Do you know other people that know this man? A Yes, sir, 

plenty. 

Q Well, Tobin, do you know what his reputation in this com-

munity is --, A (Interrupting) He always had an excellent reputa 

tion so far as I knew him. 

For truthfulness and honest? A Yes, sir. 

It was good? A Yes, sir. 

And as a truthful man? A Yes, sir. 

A truthful speaking man? A Yea, sir. 

Was his reputation good? A Yes sir. 

That has been the speech of his neighbors? A Yes, sir. 

vP. LEVY: You may examine. 

CROSS-EXAMINATIOY BY MR. EDER: 

Q You never asked any of his neighbors whether he bought 

stolen goods, did you? A Well, I never knew the man to  buy any. 

Q You never asked them whether he did or not? A No, I never 

asked them, but I never knew that the man stole anything or bought-. 

stolen property. 



Q You never (men asked him? A Do yoU think I would 

n and ask -a man if he had bought stolen property? 

(1 That is what I want to know? A I always knew that 

bore an excellent reputation, as far as I knew about him. 

. the man for the peat nine or ten years; I knew nothing wrong aboll 

him. 

MR. EDER: That is all. 

MR. LEVY: Your Honor, -co-uld you now 

I have a long witness yet. I can finish my case• early in 

tomorrow's session. 

THE COURT: Mr. Levy if you have any witness put him 

on. 

MR. LEVY: It will be .a long one. 

THE COURT: Please put on your witness, 

one. The public welfare Must be considered. 

MR. LEVY: I have arttness. 

THE COURT: Call him. 

WILLIAM KAPLIN, called.asawitness on behalf of 

the defendant, being first duly sworn,, testified as follows: 

(AAdress: 1484 Eastern Parkway, Brooklyn). 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. LEVY: 

Mr. Kaplin, what is your business? A Diamond setter. 

and dealer. 

And dealer? A Yes;- sir. 

Q And you have been engaged in':business for how. 

A Well, eleven years' 
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1Z. Are you in business now for yourself? "41' Now, 

myself,, for the past *four years. 

Q You must do me the favor to try and talk louder, 

have you been in business for yourself?. A ?our years. 

Where is your: place of business? A 24 Eldredge' Street 

Q You are a dealer in diamonds, you say? A To.,- six, a 

How long 

f 
little. 

Q Snd how long have. you dealt in diamonds? A Well, since -

I am in business for myself. 

Q Bought and sold them, have 'you?. A Yes, sir. 

Q With what concern in the course of your career have you 

been connected? A Well, I have worked for Stern Bros. 

Q Where are they? A They are in Maiden Lane, and I have 

worked for Brandalano, and I have worked for an uncle of ,mi.ne. 

Q What is his name? •A Eadvitsky. And then for myself. 

Q You set stones? A Yes, sir. 

Q And you worked at the trade how long?• A Eleven years. 

Q Diamond setting? A Yes, sir. 

Q Do you know this defendant, David Blecherman? A Yes,sir. 

Q How long have you known him? A Well, since I am in bus-

iness for myself; four years. 

Q Have you ever, been to his place of business? A No,sir. 

Q He has been to yours? A Yes, sir. 

Q And you have done certain work for him? A Yes, sir. 

Q And what as the work consisted of? A Well, setting di,a-
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monds for him and occasionally selling him astone and him selling 

Q Has he ever sold you any goods? A' Yes, sir. 

Q And your work for him asf_setter has extended oier what 

period of time? A Four years. 

Q Are you in business for yourself or are you associated 

with any firm? A .Well, I am in with another firm. 

Q And what is the name of that firm? A Theiler and Leven-

thal, engravers. 

Q They are engravers? A Yes, sir. 

Q Jewelers? A Yes, sir. 

Q At wholesale? A Yes, sir, they are engravers; they 

do the engraving and diamond dealing. 

Q In connection with the jewelry business? A Yes) sir. 

Q Do you keep a record of work that you do for eustomers? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q And you regarded this defendant as customer of yours? .A Is. 

• Q For what period of time? A For the past four yeaie I 

working for him. 

Q Does he have an account with you?. A Yes, sir. 

• 
Q Or did he have an account with you? A I have an accoun 

with him. 

Q How long has thataccount extended? A Well, I have an 

=„caount with him since I started with him. 

Q I see. When I speak about the account, I suppoee that 



Look at that please. Have you 
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means he send syou goods to make up and you send him a regular N 

, statement what he has to pay you for the work you do for him? H. A 

At the end of the month. 
•••• 

Q Now, what has been the kind of work you have been doing 

for him for the past few years? IA Everything in the diamond 

line, in the line of diamond settings. 

Q Setting diamonds? A Setting diamonds. 

Q I have to ask you this: When diamonds are set up made 

for different customers, do you furnish the settings? A No sir. 

Q Or are they furnished by the person giving you the work?' 

A They are furnished by the person who gives me- the work. 

Q And that was the rule with regard to this defendant also 

A Yes, sir, he used to get the settings from other people. 

Q From the people that you were connected with he would get 

the settings, and you would do the setting? A Yes, sir. 

Q Now, I have  to direct your attention to the mOnth of March 

or the beginning of April of this year, 1917: do you recall 

any work for this defendant in those months? A Yes, sir. 

• Q . What? A Certainly. 

Q I didn't hear you? A Yes, sir. 

Q Don't loweryour voice. Keep up your voice. A I have. 

Q I direct your attention to a out, a printed cut, of a p 

Exhibit No.2 (showing witness). 

looked at it? A Yes, sir. 

Q Do you recall having placed in your possession for work aly 

pin of that construction OT similar to it? A Yes, sir; Mx. 



Q.- Did Mr., Blechermanbring you  'such a pin? A Yes sir. 

.Q In what condition was the pin when he brought it to Y4,tz 

MR, EDER': I object to that. 

• THE COURT: - I will sustain the objection. 

•Q Describe the pin that the defendant 

MR. EmER I object to that. 

THE cotmT: I will sustain the objection. 

brought him a pin like that on the picture. 

Q Was the pin which he brought you in all reepects like that 

on the picture, Exhibit No.2, orAdid it differ in any way from it? 

THE COURT:  Why,it is absolutely immaterial what' this.man 

did with the pin after he got. it. 

MR. LEVY:,Your Honor, will remember that there was Some_ 

testimony by the offioers and others that he -said he had the. • 
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Pjl broken up, and that he took it to a man to have 

and

 

that .it was made up into various 

THE COURT: That does not affect the questiOn of the 

guilt or innocence of any one who received it. 

MR. LEVY: Of -course ndt, your Honor, but it goes to 

the bona fide of 

THE COURT: A thief can have a pin broken up as well 

as an honest man. 

MR. LEVY: I differ with your Honor. If a pin is broken 

up in the regular bueiness way ---

THE COURT: It is absolutely immaterial what he did with 

the pin. You have your exception. 

MR LEVY: Under no aspect? 

THE COURT: Under no aspect. 

MR. LEVY: I except. 

Q I show you feoplels Exhibits_Nos. 4 and 5, in evidence, 

and ask you whether you have ever seen those before? 

MR. EDER: I object. 

THE REFEREE: I will sustain the objection as to 

whether he ever saw them before or not. 

VP. LEVY: I except. 

THE COURT: It does not make any difference what he 

did with the artkoles after, he .got them. 

MR. LEVY: I except. 

THE COURT: The question is did he receive them with 

knowledge that they vere stolen. 



MP. LEVY: Just one question, in order to perfect 

my record, I must ask you. 

Q The articles, People's Exhibits Nos. 4 and 5, were 

they made up of parts of the pin brought to you by the defend-

and which you have idltified as being similar to the pi 

shotupon People's Exhibit No.2? 

MP. EDER: I object on the ground that there -is no 

dispute. 

THE COURT: I sustain the objection. 

MB. LEVY: I except. 

THE COURT: There is no dispute about that. The 

People have not contradicted it, and the defendant said so 

It is absolutely immaterial what he did with it. 

MR. LEVY: respectfully except. 

THE COURT: If any crime was committed it was when 

he received the article. His subsequent dealings' could 

not throw any light on that. 

MP. LEVY: His subsequent dealings, with all due respect, 

I contend would throw light on it for the enligtenment Of the 

jury, as to what his intentions were, and what his knowledge 

was. 

THE COUPT. The jury will have the true lights. These 

are false lights. I will make the issue vbry plain to ttie. 

You could not gain any information, any legal in-

formation of any value by that. 
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, MR. LEVY: I respectfully except to the false lights, 

THE COURT: They would be false lights, and therefore) 

I exclude same, 

MR. LEVY: Your Honor finds no fault with me for that? 

THE COURT: Of course not I have my rules. 'They are 

absolutely unequivocal.. There is no doubt about my meaning. 

If I am wrong, you have an absolutely good exception, but 

when you attempt to put before the jury your motives, I do. 
not care about them and, therefore, I shut them out. 

the jury to take the law from the Court only. You render 

necessary for me to state the proposition very clearly t 

jury, who, on their oaths, are to take the law from me and 

not from you. The facts they will take from the wttnesses. 
con-

MR. LEVY: I only desire to/serve the defendant's in-

terest, according to my understanding. If we differs in our 

points of view, it lean honest difference. 

THE COURT: You are the attorney for the defendant, 

and of course you are bound to help him to the extent of your: 

ability, there is no fault found with you, Mr. Levy. 

Q When that pin was brought to you, as shown by Exhibit No.2, 

will you state to his 

MR. EDER: 

THE COURT: 

Honor and the jury, in what condition it was 

object to that. 

I sustain the objection. 

MR. LEVY: I except. 

That is all. 
CROSS-EXAMINATIOF BY MP. EDER: 

Q Do you know the value of diamonds? A Yes, sir. 

l• 
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RAOREB BLEcHERMA N, called as a witness on' be-

half of the defendant, first being duly sworn, testikied 

as, follows :4' (Address: 1956 Second Avenue, New York City) 

(The witness testified through William Landua, one of the 

Official Interpreters). 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. LEVY: 

Q This defendant is your husband, is he not? A yes, sir. 

Q And how long have you been married to him? A Fifteen years' 

Q And how many children have you? A Four. 

Q Do you remember the occasion of your husband buying a dia-

mond pin from a man who came with a man of the name of Frank Ritchie 

to your husband's place of business? A Yes, sir. 

Q I show you People's Exhibit No.21 and ask you whether this 

picture of a pin resembles the pin which your husband bought? 

A Yes, sir. 
on 

Q Do you remember/what day of the Week it was that that plIr 

was bought/ A On a Sunday. 

Q Do you remember what time of the morning it-was?AAbout 

dinner time; about twelve o'clock. 

Q Who was in the store at the time the purchase was made? 

Talk to the Interpreter? A. Myself and my husband. 

Q Now, I Want you to tell his Honor and the jury all that you 

remember that happened on that morning; . all that was saidby:your 

husband,- or anything that was said by any of the other peopit_that 

was there and in Yiddish? A Frank Ritc,-,ie came in with the 
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man, and he said this was his cousin and he came from Chicago an 

he is broke; he wants to return to Chicago and he has no money. 

Re wants to sell his wife's pin. •Frank said that. My husband 

asked how 'much do you want for the pin. He answered three hundred 

dollars. My husband answered, I think it is only worth two hundred 

dollars. He said, no, I want to have three hundred dollars My• 

husband answered leave the pin until tomorrow. I will give 

now two hundred dollars. I will examine it. If it is. worth, , 

I will give you tomorrow a hundred: He left the pin. He took two 

'hundred dollars and, he left. The following morning 147 husband 

got. up in the morning and he went down town in o±der to appraise 

the pin, whether it is the. value --

MR. EDER: I object to that. 

THE COURT: You may go on. 

A (continued) He went down to the setter. 

BY THE COURT:. 

Q Did you go with him? 

THE COURT: Well, please only state What you know.. 

BY MR. LEVY: 

Q Anyway the next morning,on Monday morningo'did the'man,Vito, 

come into your place of business again? 'A Frank and the Other man. 

Q -Then what happened then? A The said, "Well, what 40 

you say, Blecherman? ,Has it got the value?" my husband said 

"Yes, it is worth $340.90," and he gave him the hundred dollarS. T 

they went away. 
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Q Was there anything at any of these conversations ever 

said about a watch? °A No, sir. 

Q Did they show any watch? A No, sir. 

Q Did you ever see such a watch, as shown on Exhibit No. 

. in the possession of either Vito Or Frank, or your husband? A No.. 

Q Now, you  the night that your husbandwas arrested7-

A Oh, sure, .(in English). . 

Q Do you think yoU can talk English better than Yiddish? 

THE COURT: 'I do not thinkshe can, but if she wishes 

to and can she may do so. 

MP. LEVY. 

BY THE COURT: 

My purpose is to expedite matters. 

Q How long have you been in this oduntry?- A (in English 

Twelve years. 

Q Which language do.you understand best? A Jewish, 

THE COURT: Well, speak ffewish. 

BY MR. LEVY: -

Q Well, I want you to tell his Honor and .the Judgeand:theap 

twelve gentlemen here, everything that you remember, everything that 

you remember that happened upon the night that your husband wasar7 

rested? Now put that just the way I put it (addressing.the Inter-

preter) A A cousin of mine was getting married that evening. --

I cannot talk any louder -- she has no parenta in this country. The 

ceremony was performed before a Rabbi. My husband invited them to 

my house for an enjoyment. They come in. I bought some corned bee 

and brandy and cake, and we enjoyed ourselves-. About:elevenfololoo 



in the -evening, I told my husband to take in the goods, because 

after you.will take a little whisky you will not know Where yOu: 

are. He started -to take in the goods, and at that time it  was 

'alemost twelve. Then all the guests left. We went over to 

look the door; deteotiVes came 

BY THE COURT: 

Q -How many? -A Two. 

Q Tell us what was said now when they came in? A When they. 

came in, they. said,  "Did you buy a pin and a watch?" He said, 

No.." The detective said, "Yes, you bought them." My husband 

"I didn't buy." H 

idt 

took out the exhibit, the one I_was shown here. 

MR. LEVY: The paper, such as this, she said. 

A in English) Thal; 1),MT (indicating)- 

THE INTERPRETER: They asked him, "Did you buy such -

things"? Re said, "No." They said, "Well, we will call in the 

man" - before they showed me a picture of the man. 

BY MR. LEVY: 

Q Showing People's Exhibit No.3 in picture-- like that? 

Yes, sir. My husband said I don't know himebecause when he came 

In with Ritchie he was dressed well; he had red hair." 

BY THE ,COURT: 

Q Tell us what your husband said, not your reasons? 

BY MR. LEVY: 

Q I beg your pardon, if you please. I only want you to tell 

us what your husband said. They snowed him a picture. Did he know 



yes or no? Did he say he knew the picture? A No. 

Q• Then they Called the man in? A Yes sir. 

„Q Now, what happened when the man was called in? A Whin 

the man came in, he said, He looks something like the man that 

was with Frank." 

Q And then what happened? What was said? AL. The detective 

said, "Is this the man?" He said, "I think he is the man that. 

was here with Ritchie." 

Q Now, then did they ask him whether he bought a pin; what 

he did with the Pin; where it is? Tell me all about that? A 

He said, yes, he reset it it, took out the stones and reset it, 

because the pin was all bent J,n, and three stones in the middle 

were missing.' 

Q Did your husband ever say that he had the watch? A (In, 

English) No. 

Q He did not. Did you go into the back room of the store 

with the Jewish detective -- you remember him taking you into the 

back room? A Yes, sir, the detective took me in by the hand. 

Q And you had a talk with the detective.. What did he say tO 

you? A He asked me how many children I had. I told him four. 

He said, "Do you want your husband to be free?" I answered,"Surer 

He said, "If he bought any, he should tell the truth." He said, 

"Call him in." I called him in. I said, "Dave, what do they 

want about a pin?" "I don't know what," he said; "I don't know 

either." Then he added "May be --

• 



LEVY: "Perhaps.". 

THE INTERPRETER: "May be" is thesame thing 

A .(continued) "Perhaps, it-ie the pin that .Franksold us?" 

husband said, "Oh yes." 

Q Go on. A. Then the detective said, "Come on, open the: 

safe. He opened the safe, and he said, rx have a few 'things; a. 

few articles from thorny and then he gave him a.pair of earrings. 

He gave him also a ring. with several stones. 

Q I show you two exhibits, Nos. 4 and 5, People's 'hibits4' 

are these the articles he gave him? A Yes sir. 

.Q And he gave those to the detective? A Yes r. They 

took .a piece -of paper a:nd they.wrote-something on it, and they 

told him to sign it. 

away. 

Q. And your husband signed it? A Yes, sir. 

Q And then they took him away? A Then they took him 

MR. LEVY: You may examine -- oh, pardon me. 

ly 

• Q Now, you knew tnis Frank Ritchie? A (In English) YesIs 

Q His n'-other was a neighbor of yours for many years. --

2: 

Yiddish,- I mean? A I am living there for nine years; I kno her 

for all the nine years. 

Q •She is dead now? A Yes, sir, three years already. 

Q Now, tilts boy, Frank Ritohie-, did -you try to find him sintaa 

this case has commenced? A Yes, sir. 

Q My office gave you a subpoena, to subpoena him with? A Yes, 
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r 1 have it. 

Q Now, what did you do last night to try to find that young 

man? A I went at nine o'clock in the evening to look after hi 

Q Where to? Ask her where she went to? A In the rooms that  -

I knew he occupied. 

Q Where was this? Tell us where that was? A It is not 

far from me; I don't remember the number. 

Q That was it,-- the next block? A Two blocks. 

Q, Where you knew he used to live? A Yes, sir. 

Q And tell us what you did?' A I went into the hall where 

he was living. I was knocking, knocking. Nobody answered. I. went 

down to the janiteass. She tlild me that he has loved; she did 

not know where to. 

Q And you didn't know where to go to look for him? A No. 

MR. LEVY: You may examine, Mr. Eder. 

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. EDER: 

Q Were you ever in Ritchie's house before? A No sir. 

Q Then how do you know where he lived? A (In English) 

Because I knew --, 

Q -How do you know? A He told me that he was living there., 

Q When did he tell you that he was living there? A About a 

year before he was in the store and he told me. 

Q Did you mark it down anywheres? A I did not. He told me 

in the hall where the butcher store is, on one side, and next door 

the bakery. 
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Q Whom did he live with there? Did he tell you that? A 

With his wife. 

Q Don't you know that his mother lived there, and since his 

mother died none of them lived there? A No. 

Q How many times did he come into your store, as far as you 

know? A I cannot remember. 
ever 

Q What business dealings did you or your husband/have with 

him? A Oneeche bought a marriage ring. Another time he had 

his wife's engagement rings re-set. Then he also gave ue-a Watch 

to repair. That is, all I can tell you. 

• Q You knew-his ficet and his second name? A Yes sir. 

Q Now, were you in the store when he came in that day with 

Vitt)? A Yes, sir. 

man. 

Q You know whom I mean by Vito, don't'you? A The other 

Q They spoke English? A (In English) A little bit. 

Q Did Frank speak English? A. Yes, sir. 

Q And Vito? A Yes, sir. 

Q You understood every word? A pure. 

Q Were you standing together with your husband? A No 

Q Where were you? A I was behind the door; my husband 

was behind the counter. 

Q Was that in the back of the store or in front of the store? 

A In the back of the store, the door that leads to the rooms. 

Q You were in the baOk room when they oame in?  A l' was not 

Cv‘"3 cJ 
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in the back room, but by the door. 

Was it in the room thatyou call the kitchen or in 

the store proper,that you in there at that time? A The kit-

ohen is the third room from the atom. 

Q Was it the first room from Vthe= store that you were 

in? A Yes, sir. 

Q And was your husband with these two Wen in the front 

Part of the store, or in the back part of the store? A 

Towards the front: 

Q And Frank spoke out very loudly, "Thiais my cousin' 

didn't he? A Yes, .sit. 

Q And tell us the exact words that you can remember 

.that Fraak used? Try to speak them in Englishj if you. 

can. (A.n English) Frank said that "thi$ is my couain • 

he,came from Chicago, and he is broke; -he wants to go back 

to Chicago, and ho wants to sell his Wife's,pin. 

Q You remember that those are the exact swords that 

Frank used at that time? A (in English). Yes, sir. 

Q That is right? A I believe I am about poaltive. 

Q Did you evergo over those words with your h 

A No, air. V. 

Q Since then? A No. 

Q Did you talk over this case with your husband since 

the trial? A Ye$,sir, of course.. 

Q Did you speak to him last night about it? A, We 'talked 

about it every day. 
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Q. Did you go over the words that you used now last 

night? A Nosir. 

Q Well, after he used those words, what did your husband 

say? A My husband said, "1 cannot buy it". He said, "What, 

arei you afraid of me? Don't you know me?" 

Q When was that? As soon as this man said that he was 

broke and he wants to go back to Chicago, your husband said 

he don't want to buy it, and then Who said, "Are you afraid of 

me? You 'know me."? A (in/ English) Frank.' 

Q. What did your husband say? A He said, gr am not afraid 

of you; I know you., because I know you." • 

Q Then what ilappened? A (in Engliah):That.I can't 

.remember. 

Q What happened after that you can't remember? A I can't. 

remember every word. 

Q Well, what happened after that?' Was there anything else 

said that you overheard? A Nothing. 

Q Did you come to the front of the store; did you g6 

about your business in the back again after that? A If I see 

somebody in the store, I don't leave the store until the man 

leaves. 

q Well, was there .a price made? A Yes, sir, there was 

one made. 

Q Did you overhear it? A Franksaid he was wanting #300. 

Q When was that, before he asked your husband if he was 

CD cski 
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-afraid, or after that? A After that. 

Q Well, then you heard something else after that. Tell us 

everything you say you heard Frank say that night oi-that dal'? 

A I can't remember. 

Q Well, you remembered when Mr. Levy asked you everything, 

didn't you? .A I don't know what you want me to remember. 

Q Well, after *300 was asked by Frank, whatdid your husband 

say? A My husband said, "I think it is only worth $200," 

Q Did your husband examine it? A He looked at it, but he 

said he will have it examined by a diamond setter. 

Q Did you see your husband look at it? A Yes, sir. 

Q Where did he look at it? A (in English). In the store. 

Q In the back of the store? A In the front of the stare, 

Q Did he use a magnifying glass? A Yes, sir. The glass 

that has been used. 

Q You saw hil/i testother diamonds in the place, didn't you? 

A Yes, sir, he tests. 

Q He bought and he sold diamonds, didn't he? A Yes, sir, 

when he buys diamonds he takes them to a special man who under—

stands. it. 

THE COURT: Strike out the answer. The question is 
0 

you saw him test diamonds on other occasions, didn't you? 

What did she say? 

THE INTERPRETER: "No". 

By THE COURT: 
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Q Is that the only timethat you ever saw him examine 

diamonds? Put that question. A He examines diamonds all 

the time, to understand about that. 

BY MR. EDER: 

Q Now after he examined the diamonds, he said, "1 will 

give you $200 now and $100 tomorrow;" is that right? A No, 

he said he will bring it over to the spoial setter to find 

out whether it is the value. 

And where did he take the$200 from? A From thesafe. 

You saw him go to the safe? A Yes, sir. 

That is, inthe back of the store? A On the other side'. 

But it is in the rear of the store? A Yes sir., 

And yousaw Vito go with him to the back of the 'store? 

A No, sir, nobody followed him;. it was in the store. 

Q And after hehanded him the 200 the Men went out; is 

that right? Did you look at the pin yourself after that?.: 

A Yes, sir, my husband showed it to me. 

Q Then next day you saw Vito come in again fax -the $200? 

A With Frank. 

Q pi7d you hear anything said about the watch? A No. 

Q When, for the first time, did you hear anything said 

about a watch? A When the detectives came. 

Q Now you remember when the detectives oame in that night, 

don't you? A Yes, sir. 

Q When the detectives oame in, you were in the store, and 
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Your hpaband was in the store; is that right? AL Yes, 

Q The store was lit? A -Yes, sir. 

Q And you heard the detective come in and say, "1 am a 

detective"; is that right? A Yes, sir. 

Q And the first thing he asked was, "Did you buy a' bar 

pin?"; didn't he? A Yes, sir: 

Q And your husband said "No"? A Yes, sir. 

Q. And then he showed him this picture, People's Exhibit 

No. 2, in evidence. He showed him this picture of this watch 

and he asked him if he ever bought either or both of these 

articles; is that right? A Yes, sir. 

Q. 

And your husband said no? A My husband said "Nor". 

You were there, too, weren't you? A Yes, sir. 

You saw this picture, too, didn't youT A Yes 'sir. * 

Q Now look at this pin, and tell me whether thisis the 

same as the one brought in by Vito? A It looks to me it 

is the same, but I cannot remember. 

Q You remember when Mr; Levy showed youthis, you said 

without any hesitation, that is the same? A Yes, sir, that 

is the pin -- I can't remember. 

Q Well then they showed the picture of this thief, Vito, 

to yaar husband, People's Exhibit No. 3 in evidence? A Yes. 

Q And they also showed it to you? A Yes, sir. 

Q And at that time they again asked you whether this 

isn't the man that sold your husband the pin and the watch? 

A Yes, air. 



Q And your husband -answered nutve A No. 

Q He examined the picture? A Yes, sir. 

Q You don't know of any bar pins that your husband bought 

before this, do you? A No. 

Q Or any Wrist watches, diamond wrist watches? A Never. 

Q And then it waS that the detective took you into the 

rear; is that right? A yes, sir. 

Q At that time the thief was not in your place yet; was 

he? A No, sir. 

• Q And the police officer asked you whether you have WV 

children; is that right? A Yes, sir; 

Q And whether you don't want your husband arrested? A Yea: 

Q Then they said, if he bought the stuff, he had better 

tell the truth, didn't they? A Yes, Sir. 

*Q And you went over and told that to your husband, didtilt 

you? .A Yes, Sir. 

Q That was also before the thief was brought in  is that 

right? A I believe that he was inside at the time. 
.• 

• Q Isn't it a act that as soon as the thief was brought in, 

your husband admitted that he bought the stuff from him? 

A He said he thought this is the man who was with Frank. 

Q Did you, or your husband mention the name of Frank 

before the thief was broughtin that night? A My husband said 

_Frank Ritchie was with a man. 

When was that, after ,the thief was brought in? A I 

can't remember. 



Q _Now,. listen. Until the thief was brought in, into your 

place your husband-didnit adtitphaving bought any such property 

such as is described in this exhibit? A He said that he bought 

some but of Frank.. 

Q When was that, before the thief was brought in? A When 

the thief came in, he recognized him. He said, "I think that 

the man that was here with Frank Ritchie". 

Q I am 'talking now of before the thief was brought in 

to that illsze into your store. Did you or your husband aAmi*# 

to the detectives of buying apything, any bar pin, or any wrist 

watch; froth anybody?' A No, at the.time when they brought 

the thief. 

Nqw listen to this question When they took you.i.ntO 

the back of your store, the thief wasni't in there yet :fe that 

right? A One detective went out to take him in, to oall him' in. 

That color of hair did this thief have when 'he came to 

sell 'the' stuff; did you .look at it? A (in English) Red.; 

And yaucould see it from wherd you were standing? A. tes. 

Q What Color of hair did he have when he came in with the 

detectives? A' Black. 

Q You are sure of that? A I think so. 

Q Will you swear to that/ that he had black hair when' he 

came in with thedetectives? A _I can almost swear. to it, still 

I don't remember exactly. 

MR. EDER: That is all. 

MR. LEVY: That is all. The defendant rests. 
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THF COURT': If you want to have a witness testify 

as an expert as to the value of any articles shown, 

this defendant, I will allow his bare estimate to go on 

the record. Who was the last witness? Where is he? 

MR. LEVY: Kaplin. 

THE COURT: Where is he? Call him. 

MR. LEVY: I called him to prove, your Honor, as 

indicated,what was done with the articles. 

. THE COURT: That is immaterial what was done with it. 

The defendant denies that he ever received the article 

in controversy. 

MR. LEVY: H4eadmits hetook the pin. 

THE COURT: No he does not admit this is the pin he 

took, He:said.there were three stones misaing, and that 

the pin was bent. I will allow you to ask him whether or 

not -he made any appraisal of that article which was showr. 

to him, and what his Appraisal was. There is one point 

from which this testimony might be admissible. Nothing 

else of his testimony will be of any value. 

WILLIAM KARLIN recalled as a witness. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q He bebught you a pin, you identified it from the picture 

shown to you =- don't you understand English? A Yes, sir. 

Q Now he showed you a pin? A Yes, sir. 

Q You spoke something about three stones being out of 
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A Yes, 

Q You started to say that when stopped you. Now did 

'you form any estimate of the market value of the pin that this 

defendant brought you, as you say? A Yes, sir. 

Q Now what was that? A I told him7 

Q What was it in figures? A $340.00. 

monY 

THE COURT: That is all. Now that much of his testi-

may be admisSible and competent. Nothing else. 

MP. LEVY: Now, if your Honor please, the defendant 

rests. 

REBUTTAL. 

JOSEPH A DALY (Police Officer) recalled. 

DIRECT' EXAMINATION BY MR. EDER: 

Q Officer, at the time you brought Vito into this defend-

ant s place of business that night o4this arrest, what was the 

color of his hair? A Dark red. 

Q Did this defendant ever inform you that there were any 

stones misking out of this bar pin at any time? -A No. 

Q Did anyone -- did his wife or anyone ever inform you 

that there were any s:bones missing out of People's Exhibit 2? 

A No, the first time I ever heard it was here in court. 

Q Was there any demand made bythis 'defendant or his wife 

as to having that pin or that watch until the thief was brought 

Into his store that 

MR. LEVY: 
question. 

night? 

Wait a minute. object to the form of'the' 

(1 

'4; 
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MR. EDER: I withdraw the question. 

rl 2 

Q It has been testified to htme, M. Daly, that before 

the thief was brought into the store,_ this defendant admitted to 

you that he bought such a pin; is that correct? A That is not so. 

0 What is the fact? A The fact is when the thief was 

brought in, difendant 

BY THE COURT: 

4 Did he not admit it before the thief was brought in? 

A I don't understand. 

Q When did he make his admisdon, before or after the thief 

was brought in? A After; when we first brought the thief in he 

denied it. Then the thief said to the defendant, "Sam, you might 

as well tell the truth; the detectives have been following us 

they have been following me, and they know all what I have been 

doing." He said, "Yes, I did buy the pin, and Ibought the watch." 
BY MR. EDER: 

Q Did this defendant ever tell you that he didn't buy 

the watch atter Vito spoke to him? .A Oh, no. 

MR. EDER: That is all. S. 

MR. LEVY: No cross examination. 

MR. EDER: Now, if your Honor pleases, this is a copy 

of an ordinance -- I have not got the original here. I sup-

pose Mr. Levy will concede it is a regular copy and let it 

gb on the reoord. 

MR. LEVY: I object to it as not material, competent 

or relevant. 

MR. EDER: I intend to show that there is aprovision here 

CY, 
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MR. LEVY: Netter mind readpg it. Show 'tto the Coirt,. 

THE COURT: Well, I will admit it, if Mr.- LevY waives 

the technical, formal proof. If not, you will have to 

prove it. 

copy? 

MR. LEVY: The technical proof of its being a correct 

THE COURT: Yes. 

MR. LEVY: I make no point of that. I object that the 

ordinance is neither relevant, competent or material. 

ject to its introduction. 

THE COURT: I will allow it. 

MR. LEVY: I take an exception. 

MR. EDER: I only offer that section relevant to the 

purchase -- Seotibn 40, requiring the 

THE COURT: Requiring the lioense and duty of the li-

oeneee. 

MR..EDER: Yes, sir, Sections 40 and 42. 

MR. LEVY: It is onlyproper for me to say to your Honor 

that I cannot understand under what theory this ca4ybe ad-

missible in evidenoe. Of course have no doubt your Honor 

has given proper consideration to this, but, in my humble 

P, opinion, it has to more connection, has no probative force 

in a case of this kind --. 

THE COURT: t merely shows the circumstances under whibh 

the defendant was doing business. 

MR. LEVY: I differ with your Honor. 

7 



194 

'THE COURT: It has been offered for that. You may dis-

cuss that with the jury It is just one of the facts sub-

mitted. Iffhewas buyingsecond-hand-jewelry without alicense, 

why, he was breaking that ordinance. ,1 

• MR. LEVY: Does that establish any guilt? 

• THE COURT: No, it does not establish guilt in itself., 

MR. LEVY: Suppose he broke the whole code? 

THE COURT: That is solely a circumstance to be taken 

into account by the jury. 

MR. LEVY: On what proposition. 

THE COURT: The circumstances under which hereceived 

this article. They must, determine whether he received it 

'honestly or not. 

MR. LEVY: I respectfully, except. 

THE COURT: It is one of the circumstances. The weight 

to be given to it is entirely in thehands of the jury. It 

may have some weightland it may not. They may absolutely 

disregard it, but I think it is a circumstance which they - 

are entitled to know. 

MR. LEVY: Only guilty knowledge -- how can any al-

leged violation be regarded as bearing on that proposition? It 

is absolutely foreign to my* conception. 

• THE COURT:.. If it allows that this defendant was'carrYitg. 

on his business in • a way that violated, the law, made to guard.. 

agatst the, purchase of such goods, and to protect the publiO 
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generally in that respect, is a circumstance that tiey may 

consider. 

MR. LEVY: If he was a dealer, in second-hand goods, but 

where a party purchases an article that has been worn --

THE COURT: The People claim thedefendant would buy from 

anyone who Came there. 

MR. LEVY: This is purely an illustration. Suppose a 

man met me in the street and Ishould admire hi scarf pin - 

it is worn. He says, "How much will you give mefor that?" 

I dicker with him and buy it. ,Would that constitute me a deal-

er in second-hand goods? 

THE COURT: Mr. Levy, nobody would impute that to you.' 

MR. LEVY: I respectfully ask that the Sections be read 

into the record. 

THE COURT: Mark it, and put it in the record. 

(Section 40 of Cosby's Code of Ordinances, City of New York, 

marked People's Exhibit 8, and is as follows): 

"Sec. 40. Definition; exceptions.-- Any person, copartner-

ship,or corporation dealing in the purchase or sale of secondt 

hand articles of whatever nature, or dealing in thepurchase 

or sale of any secondhand manufactured article, composed wholly 

or in part of gold, silver, platinum or ether metals, or in 

the purchase or sale of old gold, silver or platinum, or any 

person, copartnership or corporation dealing in thepurohase of 

articles or things comprised of gold, silver, or platinum,. 

• 

_ 
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for the purpose of melting or refining, or engaged in *melt-

ing precious metals for the purpose of selling, or in the 

purchase or sale of pawnbr6ker tickets, or other evidenoe of 

pledged articles, or, not being a bawnbroker, who deals in 

the redemption or sale of pledged articles, is hereby de-

fined to be a dealer in secondhand articles. a m m n 

(Section 42 of Cosby's Code of 'Ordinances, City .of New York, 

marked People's Exhibit 91 and is as follows): 

.."Record of purchases and sales.-- Every dealer in second 

hand.articleS shall keep a book in which shall be 'legibly 

written in English, at the time of every purchase or sale; 

a description of every article so purchased or sold the number 

or numbers and any monograms, inscription#1 or other marks 

of identification that may appear on the article, a descrip-

tion of the articles or pieces comprising old gold, silver, 

platinum or other metals, and any monogram, inscription, or 

marks of identification thereon, the name residence and gen-

eral description of the person from whom such purchase was 

made or to whom sold, and the day and hour of the purchase 

or sale, except articles or things purchased or received 

for the purpose of refining or smelting by persons, firms, 

or corporations principally engaged in such business." 

MR. LEVY: I ask your Honor with all due respect to in-

struct the jury to entirely disregard this ordinance, as not 

being oompetent, relevant or material. With all due defer-



197 

ewe I have to comment on it by saying that it has asmuch 

to do with the case, in my very humble opinion, as the flow-

ers that bloom in the Spring. 

THE COURT: I deny your motion. 

MR. LEVY: This ordinance, your Honor, reads about a-

dealert 

• THE COURT: Yes. Well, if they find he was not a dealer 

they will disregard it. 

•MR. LEVY: A dealer in secondhand goods. I except. 

THE COURT: If the jury find he was engaged in the bustnr. 

ess of a Secondhand dealer by selling articles of the value, 

kind and description set forth in-theordinandely then he 

should have had a license, and he should have made the entries:. 

in hisbooks. If this was simply an isolated transaction and 

it was not within the ordinary line of his business, ,Why:then 

disregard it. If he was simply there to sell goods, ox 

repair metals, or not buy Or sell anything Secondhand, U0n. 

he would not be required to have a license under that Ordin-

ance, and it will not be considered by you in any way.  But,. 

ifyou find that he was doingbusiness in the way that the 

ordinance says, then he came_within--its provisions. He Is 

not on trial for violating any ordinances, but you may take 

into account the fact that he was violating the ordinance' 

as one of the circumstances under which property was received 

by him. He admits that he received it. His defense is 
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'that Ile had no guilty knowledge. The law requires the. 

people to prove both of those propositions beyond a reason-. 

able doubt before you can .conviot'him, and the circumstance 

under whi the article was received m,Y always be con-., 

sidered by 'a jury on the question of guilty knowledge only. 

MR. LEVY: Will your Honor say to the• °jury, if you 

please, that the question of violating a City ordinanoe, 

is not, in itself, any proof of any guilty knowledge. 

THE COURT: Exactly. 

Mil. LEVY: In thematter of the receiving of stolen 

goods. 

THE COURT: Butit is a circumstance which may be taken 

into account with all the other facts. You must not say . 

he violated the ordinance and therefore, he is guilty. 

He may be absolutely innocent, and sti,liviolatta the ordin-

ance But you must take into account all of. the circumstan-

ces which have been established to yoursatisfaction by 

credible testimony in determining did he 'ever receive this' 

article, in the first place, and in the second, whether at 

the time that he receive:Alt, he knew that he was dealing 

with a thief, and that the goods handed to him were stolen 

goods. Those two propositions must be proved beyond a 

reasonable doubt bysvidenoe which is competent anct.material 

and which appeals to your reason and consoience, and this 

is merely a circumstance that may be considered by you on 
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the question of guilty knowledge. 

MR. LEVY: Just indulge me a second, please. How does 

a violationof an ordinance bear upon thequestion of guilty 

knowledge? 

THE COURT: Well, you may address yourself to the jury 

on that question. 

MR. LEVY: I .am addressingmyself to.yourHonor's legal 

sense. 

THE COURT: You may address that argUment to tAp jury. 

The weight of evidence I do not pass upon. I hold merely 

whether it is competent or incompetent, and I hold this to 

be competent. 

MR. LEVY: We differ on that, your Honor, with all due 

respect. 

THE COURT: It may nothave the slightest weight With 

the jury, but it must be• taken into account in connection with 

all the other circutstances his way of doing business there. 

MR LEVY: I respectfully except. 

THE COURT: Then the defendant stated that he did not 

imow of that regulation at the time. If they believe that, 

theYwill entirely disregard it. I will chargethem to that 

extent. But, if they beleve he did know5 of the ordinance, 

it is a circumstance, I say, which may be considered by you 

in determining the operation of his mind, what he knew as 

to the character of these goods, whether they were honestlY 

_ 
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obtained or stolen. 

Tim

 

EDER: And why'llf failed to make such an entry 

as the law provides that >ge---4hould have done. 

THE COURT: That is a circumstance • also that may be 

considered by the jury. 

DOMINICK VITO recalled as a witness rebuttal. 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. EDER: 
• 

Q It has been testified to here by the defendant that when 

you brought the pin into this defendant's, there were three dia-

monds in the center missing; is that correct? A No, sir. 

Q WePt all the diamonds in their places? A Yes, sir. 

Q What color of hair did you have when you were placed 'under. 

arrest? A Red. 
4 

MR. EDER: That is all. The People rest, youTHonor. 
4r. 

ML LEVY: I renew the motion mada.by me at the. 4o8e. 

of the People's case, upon the grounds then stated,' your 

Honor. 

THE COURT:' I willdeny the motion. If you have any 

tional evidence tomorrow morning, *0 will hear it. :.5r,cm may 

each take all the time you agree upon for your summation. 

MR. LEVY: Exception. 

THE COURT: _Gentlemen of the jury, we will now take an 

adjournment until half past ten tomorrow morning:. Meanwhile 

temembeii the admonition I have given to you before that you 

must not talk about this case with anyone whatever, and that 

•• 
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f course, includes yourselves as  well as strangers. 

.The time  to diiouss it is at the end of the case, after 

you have heard all the agtmenta of counsel, and after 

the Court has submitted it to you for your decision'. 

When you retire you will discuss the evidence, and then 

come to a decision, and not before that, In the Me0.7 

time, keep an open mind on tiie question of the guilt 

or innocence of the defendant. 

Be in your places tcbmorrow morning at half palst ten, 

(Whereupon the trial was adjourned to Thursday, December 

1917, at 10:30 A.M.) 
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